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PART I

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(in millions)
Interest income:

LLOBIIS. ...ttt sttt sttt sttt b et bbb stk b e e be e ne st ne et b e e b $ 568 $ 539 $ 1,709 $ 1,555
1SS U ] 1= OSSR 234 234 721 657
TradiNG SECUITIES......cviieiie ettt st et e e sb e e 52 75 197 261
ShOrt-terM INVESIMENES ..o b 100 30 268 78
@13 1= TS 12 15 31 44
I r= 0] (=] (=TS A T Todo] 4T 966 893 2,926 2,595
Interest expense:
D= 010 = 122 77 344 177
Short-term DOITOWINGS .....cc.eiieeiee e e 22 13 61 35
LONG-TEM AEDL ... e 213 184 613 524
@13 1= TS 5 2 12 10
TOtal INTEIESt EXPENSE.....cviicteieeei ettt sttt ettt st st s aesa e besesbe e be e ete e 362 276 1,030 746
NEL TNEEIESE INCOME .....ceeieieieeieee ettt 604 617 1,896 1,849
Provision fOr Credit I0SSES........cuieireirieie e 62 47 353 94
Net interest income after provision for credit [0SSES........ccoeveeeveveccecieiceceeeces 542 570 1,543 1,755
Other revenues:
L0 o ] o0 1= =SS 12 11 39 32
Trust and investment Management fEES ... 40 46 118 127
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ........covirririeiree e 215 188 557 560
Trading reVeNUE (EXPENSE) ......ccveeeeeeeeeeeetesesiesrestesiesressestessessessesseseessesessessessessenns 120 (34 185 23
Other SECUNtIES QAINS, NEL......oiviieieeeeeeeeer e 16 11 81 69
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........covovvveninnineinccrecees 50 53 155 162
Residential mortgage banking revenue (EXPENSE)........cocereeereereereeesieeseesrenens (3) 16 24 50
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives........... (88) 165 90 306
Other INCOME (I0SS) ....cuveveeeiiiriieteee ettt b e besa b e b ne s renesrens (42) 75 (174) 69
TOtal OTNET TEVENUES.......cviicterecee et sttt et 320 531 1,075 1,398
Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee DENEFITS.........oceireiree s 235 254 718 767
Support services from HSBC affiliates.........evveereiniirireseeeeeeecees 354 361 1,029 1,098
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL......eveeireeeeeeeiee sttt se e e e s s nnennes 57 57 173 172
(@1 1= o= 1S = 157 114 432 376
Total OPErating EXPENSES......cceiveirieresieseereeeeeeeereeeseere e sresre s e sseseeseseeeeeesessessesrenses 803 786 2,352 2,413
[INCOME DEFOIE INCOME LAX.......cieieeeieeeeeee ettt et 59 315 266 740
[NCOME TAX EXPENSE. ......vieveeerieeeere et sre e e e sr e reenn e sreesneseenne e 26 111 100 285
(I L=] A T ] 1 T $ 33 $ 204 $ 166 $ 455

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
NEL INCOME .. ..evteteececeetct ettt e e ss s s s s s s e e e s s s s enen e $ 33 $ 204 $ 166 $ 455
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:
INVESEMENT SECUMTIES ...ttt sttt (112) 5 374 (236)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges........oceovvevieineinensenece e 9 (32 47) (20
Pension and post-retirement benefit plans...........ccoooveviieneniiccnr — — — 1
Total other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS).......ccveeiuiereeieiieeiecieeeeeeeeeee e (103) (27) 327 (255)
Comprehensive INCOME (I0SS) .......ccoeeeeieieieceeeece ettt ere s $ _(70) 177 $ 493 $ 200

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

(in millions, except share data)

Assets®
(=S p =10 To o (01 A a T 7= 0] LET S $ 903 $ 968
Interest bearing depoSitS With DANKS............ccoiiiiiiieec e 17,139 7,478

Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell (includes $769 million designated

under fair value option at September 30, 2016) 30,714 19,847
QI o [ To oSS (SO 19,586 17,085
SECUNTIES AVAIHlADIETOr-SAIE .....cceeecveeeeeecteeteete ettt ettt e et e et e st e eaeesbeesbeesbeesbeesbesnbeensesnseaneeas 40,800 35,773
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $13.8 billion and $14.2 billion at September 30, 2016 and

December 31, 2015, FESPECHIVEIY) ...cveuiriririeieiririe ettt sttt a b 13,431 14,024
(0= 10RO 77,625 82,917
LesS— alloWanCe fOr CrEdit [OSSES .......c.ciiiririeirieie ettt sttt b e bbb b e e 1,060 912

(0= 10 ST 1 1 RS RR 76,565 82,005
Loans held for sale (includes $649 million and $151 million designated under fair value option at September

30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, reSPECHIVEIY) ....covvviuiririiieiirieiecr e 1,791 2,185
Properties and EQUIPMENT, NEL .......c.coiiieierrieerre ettt b et b et b et e e e b et st ene st benenin 202 230
Intangible assets, net 36 181
GOOOWI] ..t 1,612 1,612
OLNEY BSSELS. ...ttt h bbb E e b bR R R R R R R R R b bR b bbbt renenen s 5,531 6,890
QLI = LI TISTC] £SO $ 208310 $ 188,278
Liabilities™
Debit:

Domestic deposits:
[N g 11 =l o= g T $ 30,096 $ 29,693
Interest bearing (includes $7.5 billion and $6.9 billion designated under fair value option at September
30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, rEPECHIVEIY).....c.cviviereieececreeeeeete ettt eneeaas 86,138 77,259
Foreign deposits:
NONINEENESE DEAMNG ... eeeeeeireet ettt bbbt 770 747
QL= =S o= T oo SRR 14,078 10,880
B0 L= 0 (= 010 L= 1 TR 131,082 118,579
Short-term borrowings (includes $2.7 billion and $2.0 billion designated under fair value option at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, rESPECHVEIY) ......cuvervreeeeeeeceeeecteeec e erae e et 6,062 4,995
Long-term debt (includes $10.0 billion and $9.2 billion designated under fair value option at September
30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively) 39,500 33,509
Total dEDL ... 176,644 157,083
I o [LaTo Lo ] L =SSR 7,537 7,455
Interest, taxes and OthEr [HADITTIES........c.oiciie e e ettt et e e beeteeabesneesaeesreesbeeane 3,152 3,215
TOLAI TADIIITIES. ...t bbbt bbbt bbbt bbbt bbbt bbbttt 187,333 167,753

Shareholders' equity

Preferred stock (no par value; 40,999,000 shares authorized; 1,265 and 21,447,500 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, reSPeCtiVElY)......ccoovreeererercreeienereeese e 1,265 1,265

Common sharehol der's equity:
Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 shares issued and outstanding at both

September 30, 2016 and DecembBer 31, 2015) .....ccuvueuerirerieieririeieiresieeee sttt — —
Additional Pai-iN CAPITAL.......c.coiiereeeierriee bbb e 18,157 18,169
RELAINEA EAIMINGS.......c.eeuiiieictiiees ettt ettt be et et et e s e e s e st e s ebessesesbe s ebesseneebe s enesteseebe e esesteneabaneeseaee 1,635 1,498
Accumulated other COMPIENENSIVE IOSS.......couiuiiiriiie et e (80) (407)

Total commON Shar€NOIAEI'S EOUILY .......oveueririieiiirieie ettt ettt 19,712 19,260
Total shareholders’ equity........cccccceveeeviericiiiieniennns 20,977 20,525

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 208,310 $ 188,278

@ Thefollowing table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated variableinterest entities ("VIEs") at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assetsand liabilities excludeintercompany balancesthat eliminatein consolidation. SeeNote 17, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.
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September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

(in millions)

Assets
$ 248 3% 320
$ 248  $ 320
Liabilities
LONG-EIM AEDL. ... s $ 79 $ 92
Interest, taxes and Other [1aDITITIES .........ceeviiiiiiccece ettt st et sbe e e saesaeennenbe e 55 68
Total liabilities $ 134 % 160

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

2015

(in millions)

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning Of PEMTOM. ...t $ 1,265 $ 1,565
[ S e = o s (0o TS U= o (o< TR 1,265 —

Preferred StOCK rEdEMPLION. ........iiiiieectc ettt st b e st ae st e e eb e b e e et e saesesbeseabeneneee (1,265) (300)
2T e T = 0T o o oo [OOSR 1,265 1,265

Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PEITO ..........ceiriieire et — —

Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOG. ...ttt bbbt et bens 18,169 14,170

Capital CONtribULION FrOM PAIENT .......cceuiieeeiee ettt e e sb et st e e et b et e be e et sbeseeneseenenbe — 4,000

EMPIOyee DENEFIT PIANS ...ttt s et e e e e enenn (12) 3

2 F = aTercT A= g o o) 1= o o SRS 18,157 18,173

Retained earnings

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOG. ...ttt et 1,498 1,233

[N T o OO USSR 166 455

Cash dividends declared 0N Preferred SEOCK ..o (29) (50)
2 F = aTercT A= g o o) 1= o o SRS 1,635 1,638

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOG. ...ttt (407) D
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 327 (255)
2 T =0T [ 0 4 oo ST (80) (256)
Total common ShAreNOIAEI'S QUILY .......cccoveveieirireeieiire ettt ettt e se et e e aese e e neees 19,712 19,555

Total SNArENOIAEIS” EUUITY ....c.eieteiiiiree ettt et $ 20,977 $ 20,820

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
INEL INCOME. ... ettt t ettt ettt et et ete st e st ebestesesteaeebesbeseebeseesesbessebeseesesbeseebesseseabaseeseesesesbassesebeseabesesesbansesensaseas $ 166 $ 455
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization (29) 122

Provision for credit losses............. 353 94

Net realized gains on securities available-for-sale (81) (69)

Net change in other assets and [HaDIlITIES .........coiiiiiii e 1,010 (463)

Net changein loans held for sale:

Originations and purchases of 10aNS Neld fOr SAIE ... s (1,733) (1,823)
Sales and collections of [0ANS eI fOr SAIE ........cceiiiiciicece et et be e 2,051 1,974

Net changein trading assetS and [HahiliTIES...........cciviriciiiiicec e (2,419) 3,612

Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for SAle..........ccecevieiieeccccce s 82 15

Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives.............ocevvieceniccensee e, (90) (306)
Net cash provided by (used in) OPErating 8CHIVITIES .........ccvveerreireiir e (690) 3,611
Cash flows from investing activities
Net change in interest bearing deposits With DaNKS............cccoueiiiriiiiiciiiccs e (9,661) 8,507
Net changein federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto resell ...........ccoovveennneiennceccnenns (10,866) (19,010)
Securities available-for-sale:

Purchases of securities availabl€-fOr-Sal@ ...........corrieririreeesee e es (18,364) (17,435)

Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale..... 13,697 9,882

Proceeds from maturities of securities available-for-sale 1,315 1,596
Securities held-to-maturity:

Purchases of SeCUritieS helO-tO-MEEUMILY .......cccciiieiieici e a et st e e nesneneas (1,311) (2,890)

Proceeds from maturities of securities Neld-T10-MELUIILY ...........ccc e 1,871 1,856
Changeinloans:

Originations, NEL OF COHBCLIONS ........cuiiieireiiiri ettt nen e et 3,697 (7,229)

[0 r= g 1R o] Lo (o { g1l o o 7= (1= SO STURSTSTRSTN 1,458 —
Net cash used for acquisitions of properties and EQUIPMENT ...........ccvveiiiiieiieeee e aene a7 (29)
[0 0 = TSROSO (60) (384)
Net cash USE iN INVESLING @CHIVITIES. .....c..oueueierieieerieiecresree ettt s tese e st e se e sessese e sesteneeens (18,241) (25,136)
Cash flows from financing activities
INEL CHANGE TN JEPOSIES. ...ttt r ettt b st e Rt e e b et s R Rt s et b et neer b et s e b e na 12,285 15,358
Debt:

Net change in Short-terM DOMTOWINGS. ......c.coiiieieiieiieriei ettt b et eseebe s esesbe e esensenens 1,069 (3,851)

1SSUANCE OF [ONG-TEMM AEE ...ttt ettt se b s b s b e e e sesbeseebe st eseebeneesesseneas 7,675 15,775

Repayment Of 10NG-TEIMN AEDE........ououeerreee ettt ettt ae et e s e e e s e s e e e eeene s (2,122) (9,387)
Preferred StOCK iSSUBNCE ........cccvverereiererieeee e 1,265 —
Preferred stock redemption (1,265) (300)
Capital CONLIIDULTION FrOM PAIENT .......coviveiiiieeiecer ettt bbbt b ekt ne b b e et es — 4,000
Other increases (decreases) in Capital SUMPIUS........ccviiiiiriciericie ettt se st neebe e enas (12) 3
DAY/ (<010 =Y o 7= Lo OSSOSO STSRPRTTN (29) (50)
Net cash provided by financing activities 18,866 21,548
Net changein cash and dUE fromM DANKS............coueiirreeierreer et e st e (65) 23
Cash and due from banks at beginning Of PEFTOM............ceiiireiiere s 968 891
Cash and due from banks at eNd OF PEFIOU............cciieiiirieierieie ettt besae e be e enas $ 903 $ 914

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financia statements.
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1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, isaNew York State based bank holding company and
anindirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North AmericaHoldingsInc. ("HSBC North America'), whichisanindirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying
unaudited interim consolidated financia statements of HSBC USA and its subsidiaries (collectively "HUSI") have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial
information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, aswell asin accordance with predominant
practices within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all norma and recurring
adjustments considered necessary for afair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim
periods have been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statements as "we", "us' or
"our". These unaudited i nterim consolidated financial statements should bereadin conjunctionwith our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for theyear ended December 31, 2015 (the"2015 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been madeto prior period amounts
to conform to the current period presentation.

For the three months ended September 30, 2016, our income tax expense reflects animmaterial out of period adjustment to reverse
atax benefit of approximately $7 million recorded in the second quarter of 2016 relating to a non-deductible expense.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of resultsin future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30,
2016

December 31,
2015

Trading assets:

L TSI I = U Y
U.S. Government agency iSsUed OF QUAIANTERM..........coirereriiriirierie e e
U.S. Government Sponsored ENtENPIISES™...........c.uuvueceeeeeeeieceeeeseieseeeesesessesssessssssseessssssesssssssnnes
Obligations of U.S. states and political SUBAIVISIONS ..........ccccvvevierierierecieeeeee e
A SSEL-DACKEA SECUITIES. .....cveeeiee ettt et be b b sae st b seen
Corporate and fOreign DONS .........coeeiiiriiere e b e e s eb e
(@11 S ol ) = TSP P ST SPSTTRTN
PIECIOUS MELAIS.......c. ettt b bbbt e e se et e e e e ae et e aeebeebe s b sbe b e seeseennan
(DL A2 Y= S 0= RO
QIO R o [ g To =535 = S

Trading liabilities:

Securities sold, NOL YEL PUICNESED..........ciiriiriierie et ebe e
Payables for PreCioUS MELAIS .......cvevviierereceeeeeeeese s e resae e e tesrenrenean
DENTVELIVES, NMEL ...ttt ettt b e e b e bt e st n s r et bt r et r et r e
Total trading [HADHTTIES. ... bbb

(in millions)

$ 4374 $ 3,088
11 13

169 154

— 559

374 424

8,300 6,899

15 18

2,669 780

3,674 5,150

$ 19586 $ 17,085
$ 1,030 $ 399
49 650

6,458 6,406

$ 7537 $ 7,455

@ Consists of mortgage backed securities of $142 million and $154 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, and $27 millionissued or guaranteed by the Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC")

at September 30, 2016.

At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets is net of $4,463 million
and $4,652 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master

netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, thefair value of derivativesincluded in trading liabilitiesis net of $1,305 million
and $1,530 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting

agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 10, "Derivative Financia Instruments,” for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
September 30, 2016 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. TFEASUIY .ot $21482 $ 385 $  (220) $ 21,647
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .........ccveriiiiiicicic e, 3,318 40 ) 3,357
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccoereienenesieneeieseeeeeeeeeeins 2,244 8 ) 2,245
Direct agency Obligations.........ccveeererierisiesieseseseseeseesee e eesesesnens 4,335 159 (20) 4,474
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .........ccveriiiiiicicic e, 6,385 57 4 6,438
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccoeveienenerieneese e 1,443 20 ) 1,461
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:
ComMMErCial MOMGAgES ....eveeereeieeeeeeeere ettt e e ene 4 — — 4
HOME BOUIY ... 74 — 9 65
ONEN ...ttt bbbt 517 — (23) 494
FOreign debt SECUMTIESD ... 458 — (1) 457
EQUITY SECUNTIES. ......cvieeieeeeeeeeeeee ettt 159 — 1) 158
Total available-for-sale SECUNMTIES. ......c.viiiieeee sttt s snareas $ 40,419 $ 669 $ (288) $ 40,800
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES ........cieiiriieiisiere et $ 2607 $ 77 $ — $ 2,684
Collateralized mortgage obligations..........ccceevvieienienievenerereereeeseeeeeens 1,625 84 — 1,709
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES .......coiiviririeee e 2,753 69 — 2,822
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........c.ceererenenesieneere e 6,424 102 3 6,523
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions...........cccceevveveeierieriennnns 16 1 — 17
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages 6 1 — 7
Total held-to-maturity SECUMTIES..........cveveveeeeeeeetceeeece ettt $ 13431 $ 334 $ (3) $ 13,762
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Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2015 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TTEASUMNY ..veveeieteteesesteteesestetesesessssesesesessste e e ssesesasesassssasesessssesessssnsesens $17026 $ 142 $ (270) $ 16,898
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES.........ccvviciniii s 1,451 2 (12 1,441

Collateralized mortgage obligations...........cccoerererenensenneneee e 159 — (5) 154

Direct agency obligationS..........ccoceverereiesese e e snens 4,136 133 (26) 4,243
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES.........ccvviciniii s 10,645 9 (145) 10,509

Collateralized mortgage obligations............ceovveverenenenereeeceeeeese e 1,293 11 (4 1,300
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........ccccceeevvveieniennnnens 340 8 — 348
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:

CommeErcial MOMGAgES. ....veiereeeeeeeeeetes e sre e e e re e sae e e e e e resresresnens 9 — — 9

HOME EQUILY ....cvieeeeieeteeet et 83 — (8 75

@ 13T T 110 — (22) 89
Foreign debt SECUMIESD)............oeeeeeeee e e 548 — 2 546
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt s 161 3 3 161

Total available-for-sale SECUMTIES........cciiieciceece e $3591 $ 308 $ (496) $ 35,773

Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:®

Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES........o.ceirrree s $ 2945 $ 20 $ (9 $ 2956
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ccccvvreicnnicecnneeeree 1,755 73 (5) 1,823

U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUMTIES...........ccivreieii s 3,269 19 (12) 3,277
Collateralized mortgage obligations............cccovvrrieiinniceinreeesesee 6,029 63 (12) 6,081
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........c.cccccverreiienenns 19 1 — 20
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 7 1 — 8
Total held-to-mMaturity SECUMLIES.......cccviviirire e $14024 $ 177 $ (36) $ 14,165

@ Includes securities at amortized cost of $3,076 million and $1,577 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively, and $2,486 million and $33 million issued or guaranteed by FHLMC at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

@ Foreign debt securities represent public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.
®  Includes securities at amortized cost of $2,913 million and $3,182 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively, and $1,319 million and $1,518 million issued and guaranteed by FHLMC at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Net unrealized gains increased within the avail able-for-sale portfolio in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily
to decreasing yields on U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities.
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The following table summarizes gross unrealized losses and related fair values at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015
classified asto the length of time the losses have existed:

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
September 30, 2016 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TrEaSUIY .....cceveeieeerecie e 15 $ (28) $ 3,110 28 $ (192) % 3,573
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 13 4) 1,683 22 (24) 818
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUAraNtEEd ..........coovverrrre e 4 — 316 5 (6) 91
Asset-backed securities........oooveveevececeenene. 1 — 4 8 (32) 159
Foreign debt securities...........ccccococccecrcnnee 1 — 27 1 (1) 182
Equity SECUNTIeS.........coviieccicicce 1 1) 158 — — —
Securities available-for-sale..........cccoovnerecennes 3B $ (33) $ 5,298 64 $ (255) $ 4,823
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 14 $ — $ 20 46 $ — 3 21
U.S. Government agency issued or
(o (U= =101 (== 0 S 114 (2) 1,251 512 1) 71
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUbdiVISIONS........ccceviecece e, — — — 3 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ...........cocvvverererenen. 128 $ 2 $ 1,271 561 $ 1) $ 92
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
December 31, 2015 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment
(dollars are in millions)
Securities available-for-sa e;
U.S. TTEESUNY ...ccvveeieieeesiee et 52 $ (227) $ 11,046 5 8 43) $ 924
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 164 (30) 1,451 19 (23) 282
U.S. Government agency issued or
(o (U= =101 (== 0 S 62 (141) 9,725 3 (8) 101
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUBdIVISIONS.......ccccevieieceece e, 4 — 16 3 — 45
Asset-backed Securities.........ooveeveererecnee. 1 — 9 8 (29) 164
Foreign debt securities..........cccooieieiiiiens 3 2 351 — — —
Equity SECUNTIES......cocvvereciicciee, 1 (3) 156 — — —
Securities available-for-sale..........cccceeveuvenennee. 287 $ (403) $ 22,754 38 % (93 $ 1,516
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 312 $ (14 $ 1,143 49 $ — $ —
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUArANEEEd ..o 145 (22) 3,303 657 — 20
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUbdiViSIONS.........ccoeeeiiciecececeee e, 1 — — 3 — 1
Securities held-to-maturity ...........cocccveerniecenee 458 $ (36) $ 4,446 709 $ — $ 21

Although the fair value of aparticular security isbelow its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in acredit loss and hence
an other-than-temporary impairment. The decline in fair value may be caused by, among other things, theilliquidity of the market.
We have reviewed the securities for which thereisan unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance with our
accounting policies, discussed further below. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we do not consider any of our debt
securitiesto be other-than-temporarily impaired aswe expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor expect
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to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to holding securities until their individual maturities.
However, other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periodsif the credit quality of the securities deteriorates.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On aquarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
events or economic circumstancesto indicate that asecurity with an unrealized | oss has suffered other-than-temporary impairment.
A debt security is considered impaired if itsfair value is less than its amortized cost at the reporting date. If impaired, we assess
whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. Animpairment isalso considered other-than-temporary if acredit lossexists(i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flowsisless than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit |oss exists, the credit 1oss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit lossis recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (l10ss).

For al securities held in the avail able-for-sale or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized losses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a compl ete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 4, "Securities,”" in our 2015 Form 10-K. There have been no material changesin our process
for assessing impairment during 2016.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, none of our debt securities were determined to have either
initial other-than-temporary impairment or changes to previous other-than-temporary impairment estimates relating to the credit
component, as such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized related to credit loss.

Certain asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio have an embedded financial guarantee provided by monoline
insurers. Because thefinancial guaranteeis not a separate and distinct contract from the asset-backed security, they are considered
asingle unit of account for fair value measurement and impairment assessment purposes. In evaluating the degree of reliance to
be placed on the financial guarantee of a monoline insurer when estimating the cash flows to be collected for the purpose of
recognizing and measuring impairment loss, consideration is given to our assessment of the creditworthiness of the monoline and
other market factors. Based on the information available, including any actions undertaken by the regulatory agencies over the
monoline insurers and their published financial results, we perform both a credit as well as aliquidity analysis on the monoline
insurers each quarter. Our analysis also includes a review of market-based credit default spreads, when available, to assess the
appropriateness of our assessment of the monolineinsurer’s creditworthiness. A credit downgrade to non-investment grade iskey
but not the only factor in determining the monolineinsurer’sability to fulfill itscontractual obligation under thefinancial guarantee.
Although amonoline may have been downgraded by the credit rating agenciesor ordered to commuteitsoperationsby theinsurance
commissioners, it may retain the ability and the obligation to continue to pay claimsin the near term.

At September 30, 2016, we held 12 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $159 million of
the total aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $563 million at September 30, 2016. The gross unrealized losses on
these monoline wrapped securities were $32 million at September 30, 2016. We did not take into consideration the value of the
monoline wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers at September 30, 2016 and, therefore, we only considered the
financial guaranteeof investment grade monolineinsurersfor purposesof eval uating other-than-temporary impairment on securities
with afair value of $65 million.

At December 31, 2015, we held 12 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $164 million of
thetotal aggregatefair value of asset-backed securities of $173 million at December 31, 2015. The gross unrealized losses on these
monoline wrapped securitieswere $29 million at December 31, 2015. We did not take into consideration the val ue of the monoline
wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers at December 31, 2015 and, therefore, we only considered the financial
guarantee of investment grade monoline insurers for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary impairment on securities with
afair value of $75 million.
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Other securities gains (losses), net Thefollowing table summarizesrealized gainsand | osses on investment securitiestransactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
GroSS r€aliZEA QAINS......cvcveeirereere et $ 25 $ 13 $ 112 $ 86
Gross realized 10SSES........cociiiiiiii 9) 2 (31) 17
NEL rEAlIZE GAINS ......veeeereeiereer et $ 16 $ 11 $ 81 $ 69

Contractual Maturities and Yields The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
sale and securities held-to-maturity at September 30, 2016 by contractual maturity. Expected maturities differ from contractual
maturitiesbecauseborrowershavetheright to prepay obligationswithout prepayment penaltiesin certain cases. Securitiesavail able-
for-sale amounts exclude equity securities as they do not have stated maturities. The table below also reflects the distribution of
maturities of debt securities held at September 30, 2016, together with the approximate taxable equivalent yield of the portfolio.
Theyields shown are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization
of premiums, by the amortized cost of securities outstanding at September 30, 2016. Yields on tax-exempt obligations have been
computed on ataxable equivalent basis using applicable statutory tax rates.

After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years
Taxable Equivalent Basis Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. TreasUIY .....ccoveeeeerereeieeresinieenenens $ — —% $ 5733 1.20% $ 10427 212% $ 5322 2.56%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENLEIPIISES ..o 198 3.26 3281 283 1331 235 5,087 213
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed...........coveeeereereenerniereenenns — — 3 421 27 381 7,798 237
Asset-backed Securities ... 400 1.67 — — — — 195 324
Foreign debt securities..........ccocvveevennene. 197 121 261 .87 — — — —
Total amortized COSt.......covevevevererereeereen $ 795 195% $ 9278 177% $ 11,785 2.15% $ 18,402 2.37%
Total fair VAUR .. $ 799 $ 9488 $ 12,025 '$ 18,330

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

ENLENPrISES ..o.veveeeeesieesiee e $ — —% $ 213 205% $ 484 270% $ 3535 2.88%
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUArANtEEd ......eeeeeeeee e — — 8 156 36 324 9133 232
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUbAIVISIONS ......ccocvveeiieiecec e 3 371 4 351 5 373 4 561
Asset-backed SecUrities ........ccoevveeuneene. — — — — — — 6 641
Total amortized COSt.......covevevrvrereeereririenns $ 3 371% $ 225 206% $ 525 275% $ 12,678 2.48%
Total fair Value.......c.ccccveeeeeeciieeecese e $ 3 $ 229 $ 550 $ 12,980

Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of $383 million and $632 million, respectively,
were included in other assets at September 30, 2016. Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank
stock of $323 million and $632 million, respectively, were included in other assets at December 31, 2015.
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4, Loans

L oans consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESEALE........ccccvviie e $ 10,958 $ 10,000
Business and corporate Danking .............c.cciiiiicee s 17,665 19,116
GIOBE DANKING™ ...ttt ee st s e eeees e se e es e seeesseeees 26,414 29,969
Other COMIMETCIA ......ocueeieceece ettt e e et e e e s be e e e sae e tesaeesbesaeesbesaeesbesseentenns 2,995 3,368
TOtal COMMENCIAL.......ocoiiiiiicic e 58,032 62,453
Consumer loans:
RESIAENtIAI MOMGAGES ......eeevieetirieieriet ettt bbbt et es 17,091 17,758
HOME EQUILY MOIGAJES .......coeuiieeeieieie st 1,454 1,600
(@=L =0 OSSR 668 699
(@107 ol 1S U 0 R 380 407
TOLE CONSUIMES .....oviiiiiieieie ettt 19,593 20,464
TOAl JOBNS.....ccei ettt et e st e e st e e e s heetesheesbesbeenbesteentesbeanteeaeaseeaeesreensesaeenresannn $ 77625 $ 82917

@ Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on aglobal basis. Also includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $4,463 million and $4,815 million at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions,” for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination fees totaled $54 million and $62 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. At
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had a net unamortized premium on our loans of $2 million and $16 million,
respectively.
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Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans Thefollowing table summarizesthe past due status of our loans, excluding loans held for sale,
at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. The aging of past due amountsis determined based on the contractual delinquency
status of payments under theloan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been
made in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices
such asre-age, which results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due
Total Past Due
At September 30, 2016 30-89 Days 90+ Days 30 Days or More Current®  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate..........cccovveveveeereeveesesnens $ 19 $ 2 $ 21 $ 10,937 $ 10,958
Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeereenenienenennn. 29 11 40 17,625 17,665
Global banKing.........ccoovvereiievereereeeee e — 76 76 26,338 26,414
Other COMMEICIA ......ceeeeieie e s — 7 7 2,988 2,995
Total COMMEICIA ........ccoeieeiteceeeeece e 48 96 144 57,888 58,032
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages®.........o.owomveeeereeereeeresseeseseeereesenan 370 311 681 16,410 17,091
Home equity MOrgages. .......c.cuvereereeiereeieeeresesiesie e 11 44 55 1,399 1,454
(O o ] o o S 9 9 18 650 668
Other CONSUMES ........cueeiiieiieieceeee e sreens 6 7 13 367 380
TOtal CONSUMES......viictee ittt ettt sreesare e 396 371 767 18,826 19,593
TOtal OGNS .....ciciceieececece et e $ 444 $ 467 $ 911 $ 76,714 $ 77,625
Past Due

Total Past Due
At December 31, 2015 30-89 Days 90+ Days 30 Days or More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real estate...........cooeveeeeevereveeeeenne. $ 31 $ 33 % 64 $ 9936 $ 10,000
Business and corporate banking ..........cccoceeeeeeieeerencnennn. 36 25 61 19,055 19,116
Global banKing..........cccceveveiieveeeeee e — — —_ 29,969 29,969
Other COMMEICIAl ....cveeevviereeeeecee e — 6 6 3,362 3,368
Total COMMEICIAl ......ccueeivieeeeecie e 67 64 131 62,322 62,453
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages.......coveeveveereriereeeeeseee e 397 781 1,178 16,580 17,758
Home equity MOrgages..........ccoveerrriccenerscee s 15 50 65 1,535 1,600
Credit Cards.... ..o 10 9 19 680 699
Other CONSUMET .......cccvieetieeteeereeeteeeee et sre e e ereseereeeseeennes 7 7 14 393 407
TOtal CONSUMES........cuiuimriieiiriieeeie e 429 847 1,276 19,188 20,464
L0 = I (= O $ 496 $ 911 $ 1,407 $ 81510 $ 82,917

@ Loanslessthan 30 days past due are presented as current.

@ The decrease in past due loans at September 30, 2016 reflects the impact of transfers of certain residential mortgage loans to held for sale during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016. See Note 6, "Loans Held for Sale" for additiona details.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and OthEr rEAl ESLALE.........cvuvurerererirerrs s se e en $ 24 $ 53
Business and corporate banking ..........cceeveeeieieeeeiesiese s e seeste e ste s e se e e e s e s e sresresaesresteseesrens 202 167
GlODEI DANKING ...t e et e ettt sb e b e et s b b e e neas 621 44
Other COMMEICIAl ......cccoiereereeeee e 1 1
Commercia nonaccrual loans held for sale — 26
TOLAl COMMIBICIAL ...ttt ettt b et bbb e e b b e e et e e et et ebeebesaeebesbeseeseenean 848 291
Consumer:
Residential Mortgages @M@ et 389 814
HOME eqUity MOMGAgEST@ ...t en s 73 71
Consumer nonaccrual 10ans held for SAIE™...........o..ovvuveceeeeeeeeeee e 416 3
TOLAl CONSUIMIEN ...ttt ettt st st st se et se e bt st e s e st e st s b e et et et e e et e neebeseebeseebeseesensenens 878 888
Total nonaccruing loans 1,726 1,179
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and COrporate DANKING ..........coeoeeririererere sttt e e e b e e sbe b seens 1 1
QI oo 0= o S 1 1
Consumer:
(@11 o ] o= o ST PO PRPT 9 9
(@107 ol 1S U 0 R 7 7
TOtA CONSUMET ...ttt et s seenens 16 16
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more 17 17
Total NONPEITOIMING JOANS.........iiiieeeee ettt ettt aeebeeteeaeebeebesaeenennan $ 1,743 $ 1,196

@ At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, nonaccrual consumer mortgageloansheld for investment include $318 million and $768 million, respectively,
of loansthat are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.
Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our consumer loan portfolio.

@

The trend in nonaccrual loans reflects the impact of transfers of certain residential mortgage loans to held for sale during the nine months ended September
30, 2016.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual oans had been

current in accordance with contractual terms during the period..........cccccoeevevrenee. $ 23 $ 21 $ 67 $ 65

Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual loans and included in interest

income during the PEITOU.........ccvriierereee e e 5 5 14 17
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the origina contractual terms have been modified to provide
for termsthat are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower’s financia condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial |oans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, achangeininterest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal, accrued interest or other loan covenants. A substantial amount of our modifications involve interest rate reductions
which lower the amount of interest income we are contractually entitled to receivein future periods. Through lowering the interest
rate and other loan term changes, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately be collected from
theloan, given the borrower’sfinancial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for either based on the present value of expected future
cash flows discounted at theloans' original effectiveinterest rateswhich generally resultsin ahigher reserve requirement for these
loansor inthe case of certain secured loans, the estimated fair val ue of the underlying collateral. Once aconsumer loanisclassified
asaTDR Loan, it continuesto bereported assuch until it ispaid off or charged-off. For commercial loans, if subsequent performance
isin accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be
reported as a TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016
and 2015 there were no commercial loans that met this criteria and were removed from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about loans which were modified during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015 and as aresult of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and Other real ESLALE..............cccvvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ — % — % — 3 4
Business and corporate banking..........cc.ceeeeerererenene e — 87 304 137
Global DANKING......coveiieiiii s — — — 13
TOtal COMMEICIAL........cceiie et re e re e s — 87 304 154
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMGAgES........coveerieirieirieeriesie sttt 12 47 55 117
HOME EUILY MOIMQAOES ......cueeueeeerecteetee ettt s e e resresne st nes 2 1 7 2
(= [} Ao o RSP 1 1 3 3
TOtAl CONSUMEY .....ooitieieiteeie ettt ettt ettt et st eetesae e sbesaeesbeeaaesbeeasesbeensesaeensesanesresnnas 15 49 65 122
1 1R $ 15 $ 136 $ 369 $ 276

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer |oans which became classified as TDR L oans during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.41 percent and 1.61 percent, respectively, compared with 1.62 percent and 1.76
percent during thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. Thewel ghted-average contractual rate reduction
for commercial loans was not significant in either the number of loans or rate.
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The following table presents information about our TDR Loans and the related allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Unpaid Unpaid
Carrying  Principal Carrying  Principal
Value Balance Value Balance
(in millions)
TDR Loans?®:
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real etate...........cooveceeieecie e $ 45 $ 47  $ 94 $ 106
Business and corporate Danking ............ccceeeererenenenene e 404 437 227 240
Global DANKING. .....cecvieie e 72 73 44 44
TOtal COMMECIAI® ...t se e 521 557 365 390
Consumer loans:
Residential Mortgages™®®............cooovieeieeeeeeeresse e 701 785 1,060 1,233
Home equity MOMGAgES™ ...........coeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseesees s sse s 27 58 23 50
L= [ o= o S 5 5 5 5
TOtAl CONSUMEY........eiiieeieiteete ettt et et e st esre s e besaeesbeeaaesbeeaaesbeenrenreenns 733 848 1,088 1,288
TOtAl TDR LOGNSD.....oeeeeeeeeeeee ettt et ene e s s s ee e e eeeeseaneaneees $ 1,254 $ 1405 $ 1453 $ 1,678

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans'”:

Commercia loans:

Construction and other real etate..........ccoeeceeieecieiicececeeeeeeee e $ — $ —
Business and corporate Danking ..........c.ccceeeerenenenenenie e 59 24
Global DANKING. .....cccveieeiie e — —
TOtal COMMEICIAL ... e et 59 24
Consumer loans:

Residential MOMQAQES.......coivieeieriererere et sae et te e entesnaens 10 33
HOME EQUILY MOMGBOES ....c.eeveeetereete sttt ettt 1 1
Credit CAIOS. ...c.eiee ettt e et ebe b sae s 1 1
LI o0 1S 1 1= 12 35

Total alowance for credit [0ssesfor TDR LOANS......ccvivieeeiiieiecceec et $ 71 $ 59

@ TDRLoansareconsidered to beimpaired |oans. For consumer loans, all such loansare considered impaired loansregardlessof accrual status. For commercial
loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $614 million and $88 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, respectively.

@ The carrying value of TDR Loans includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated
loans, partia charge-offs and premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

®  Additional commitmentsto lend to commercial borrowerswhose loans have been modified in TDRs totaled $205 million and $112 million at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

@ At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the carrying value of consumer mortgage TDR L oans held for investment includes $662 million and $881
million, respectively, of loans that are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

®  The decrease in TDR Loans at September 30, 2016 reflects the impact of transfers of certain residential mortgage loans to held for sale during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016. There is no allowance for credit |osses associated with loans classified as held for sale as they are carried at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value less cost to sell.

© At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the carrying value of TDR Loans includes $610 million and $676 million, respectively, of loanswhich are
classified as nonaccrual.

™

Included in the alowance for credit losses.
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The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real EStALe...........ccccveveveeeeeeeceeeeeceee e $ 63 $ 112 $ 78 $ 147
Business and corporate Danking...........cocoverrerrineeneeese e 427 106 343 70
Global banKiNG .......cceieiieesee e e 69 17 60 12
Total COMMEICIAL......c.cceeeiee et s teeneens 559 235 481 229
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMtgagES.........covreirieirerierieese et 917 1,037 966 1,004
HOME EQUILY MOIMQAOES .....coeeuerierienienierie sttt sae e e 27 22 25 20
Credit CAIOS ....eeveceecte e ettt re e ee s aeebesaeebeereens 5 6 5 6
LI o0 015 U011 N 949 1,065 996 1,030
Total average balance of TDR LOANS........ccceuiiiercierereeeie et sesssese e esesssenas $ 1508 $ 1,300 $ 1,477 $ 1,259

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Construction and other real ESLALE ..........ccccvuvvveeieeririieeeeeeeeeeee e $ 2 $ 14 3 % 3
Business and corporate banking ..o 3 1 7 2
TOtal COMMENTIAL.....ceeiireeeieee bbb 5 2 10 5
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMGagES.........cureirieirierierierie e 10 9 29 27
HOME EQUILY MOMQBOES ....cveververeieierieesie ettt sttt sbe e — — 1 1
TOLAI CONSUMES ...ttt sttt se e e e e se s sbesbesaesnen 10 9 30 28
Total interest income recognized 0N TDR LOBNS......c.cuvurerererermererrenenreeenrerenessesesnsnenens $ 15 % 11 $ 40 $ 33

The following table presents loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which for commercial
loans became 90 days or greater contractually delinquent or for consumer loansbecame 60 daysor greater contractually delinquent
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real ESLALE..............ccovvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ — % — 3% — 3 2

Business and corporate DanKing...........ccoeeerernerieneeneneeseee e — 7 4 10

Total COMMEICIAL......ccueiieeiectiete ettt r e e ae e resaeesreeneas — 7 4 12
Consumer loans:

Residential MOMgagES.......civeieiierieeese e ene s 6 6 21 23

HOME EQUILY MOMGBOES ....cveveverereeeerieiestee sttt sttt sne e ere e — 1 — 1

LI 1= o0 1S U0 1= 6 7 21 24
10 1 IR R $ 6 $ 14 3 25 $ 36
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Impaired commercial loans Thefollowing table presentsinformation about impaired commercial loansand therelated impairment
reserve for impaired commercial loans:

Amount Amount
with without Total Impaired Unpaid
Impairment  Impairment Commercial Impairment Principal
Reserves® Reserves® Loans®® Reserve Balance
(in millions)

At September 30, 2016
Construction and other real estate.........c.cccoeveeveveveveeevnenee. $ 6 $ 53 $ 5 $ 2 $ 62
Business and corporate banking...........ccccceeveereneneneseenens 204 243 447 68 482
Global banKing ........ccooeveveiereecce s 550 72 622 271 636
Other COMMEXCial ........ccoveeeeiceceeee s 1 6 7 1 8
Total COMMENCIAl......ccceveevivececee e 3$ 761 $ 374 $ 1,135 $ 342 $ 1,188
At December 31, 2015 -
Construction and other real estate.......c.coovveeeveeervcveeeveenen. $ 2 $ 108 $ 110 $ 1 % 125
Business and corporate banking..........cccccveeeveeeeneseennene 168 124 292 52 342
Globa banking .........ccoov e — 44 44 — 44
Other CoOMMErCial ........ccoveeeeeeiiieee e 1 6 7 1 8
Total COMMECIAl......ccoeeieeeeeeeee e $ 171 $ 282 $ 453 % 54 $ 519
&)

Reflectsthe carrying value of impaired commercial loans and includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs, unamortized deferred fees
and costs on originated loans and any premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

@ Includesimpaired commercial loansthat areal so considered TDR L oanswhichtotal ed $521 million and $365 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, respectively.

The following table presents information about average impaired commercia loans and interest income recognized on impaired
commercia loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Construction and Other real BSALE..........ccuerereerererreie s $ 79 $ 124 $ 93 $ 161
Business and corporate banking..........ccoceeeeereriereerene e 474 139 398 116
Global DANKING ......coveiieiie s 633 17 390 12
Other COMMENTIA .......covvereiirerrereeer s 8 7 7 7
Total average balance of impaired commercial [0ans...........cccoceeeeeeeeceeeenns $ 1194 $ 287 $ 888 $ 296
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -
Construction and Other real BSALE..........ccuerereerererreie s $ 2 $ 19 3 % 3
Business and corporate banking..........ccoceeeeerererienene e 3 2 8 3
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercia loans..........ccccoceveverenes $ 5 % 3% 11 % 6
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan

portfolio:

Criticized loans Ciriticized loan classifications presented in the table bel ow are determined by the assignment of various criticized
facility grades based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. The following facility grades are deemed to be criticized:

«  Special Mention — generally includes loans that are protected by collateral and/or the credit worthiness of the customer, but
are potentially weak based upon economic or market circumstances which, if not checked or corrected, could weaken our

credit position at some future date.

» Substandard —includes loans that are inadequately protected by the underlying collateral and/or general credit worthiness of
the customer. These loans present a distinct possibility that we will sustain some lossif the deficiencies are not corrected.

»  Doubtful —includes loans that have all the weaknesses exhibited by substandard loans, with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full of the recorded loan highly improbable. However, although the possibility
of lossis extremely high, certain factors exist which may strengthen the credit at some future date, and therefore the decision
to charge off the loan is deferred. Loans graded as doubtful are required to be placed in nonaccruing status.

The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention  Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2016

Construction and other real estate.........c.c.cceveeeeeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 445 $ 159 $ 5 % 609
Business and corporate banking............coceoerereneneneneneneeeeeeenee 803 839 53 1,695
Global banKing........ccccveieieieeceec e 1,040 2,427 445 3,912
Other COMMENCIal.........ccouiiieecee e — 6 1 7
Total COMMENCIAl .......coevieeeeeeeeeee e $ 2288 $ 3431 $ 504 $ 6,223
At December 31, 2015 - -
Construction and other real estate.........ccceveeeeeeerceeeeeeeeeeee e $ 239 % 187 $ — $ 426
Business and corporate banking..........ccccoceveernienneneeneeeeee 941 690 52 1,683
Global banKing.......ccccoeveeiererecece e 1,069 2,300 12 3,381
Other COMMENCIal.........ccoiieeeeee et 1 37 1 39
Total COMMENCIAl .......cvevieeeeeeeee et $ 2250 $ 3214 $ 65 $ 5529

Theincrease in criticized commercial loans at September 30, 2016 was driven by downgrades, predominantly emerging markets

related.

Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2016

Construction and other real estate........ccoceveveeeeeceeecrieceeieene $ 10,934 $ 24 $ — $ 10,958
Business and corporate banking .........ccccceveeeeievesesesesesnennns 17,462 202 1 17,665
Global BanKing ........ccccoeevreiiiricese e 25,793 621 — 26,414
Other COMMEICIAl .......cceeviiiiiecese e 2,994 1 — 2,995
Total COMMECIAl .......ocoeeereeeeeeecee e $ 57,183 $ 848 $ 1 $ 58,032
At December 31, 2015

Construction and other real estate..........coceeevveeeecieevieee e $ 0947 $ 53 $ — $ 10,000
Business and corporate banking .........ccceeeveeeererienesesesnnenens 18,948 167 1 19,116
Global BanKing ........cccveiieireeesee e 29,925 44 — 29,969
Other COMMEICIAl .......cocveiverr e s 3,367 1 — 3,368
Total COMMEICIAl.......coeiivieeeeee e $ 62,187 $ 265 $ 1 % 62,453
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercia loan portfolio:

Non-
|nvestm%nt Investment
Grade( ) Grade Total

(in millions)

At September 30, 2016

Construction and Other rEal ESLALE ...........cceveeereeecree st aes $ 8273 $ 268 $ 10,958
Business and corporate DanKIiNg ..........cccoeeeereireereese e 8,561 9,104 17,665
GlObEl BANKING ... e e eneas 17,904 8,510 26,414
Other COMMEICIAL .....oocvieeiiectee ettt et e e e s be e s ar e ete e saeeebeesaeeebeeenneenreesans 1,965 1,030 2,995
TOtal COMMEICIAL ......ccoviiieeii ettt st st e s aee st e e st e sbeenseebeenneereennes $ 36,703 $ 21,329 $ 58,032
At December 31, 2015 -
Construction and other real EStALE .........cecviiiece e e $ 8487 $ 1513 $ 10,000
Business and corporate DanKing ..........coeeererereriereeeeeereee e e 10,373 8,743 19,116
Global BANKING ......eveeeicececee et es 23,111 6,858 29,969
Other COMMEICIAL .....ecveeceeeciee ettt srte e ae e sar e e beeeaee e beeenneenreesans 1,883 1,485 3,368
TOtal COMMENCIEL ... $ 43854 $ 18599 $ 62,453

@ Investment grade includes commercial loans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total
loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio
(dollars are in millions)
Residential Mortgages™®@ ... $ 774 428% $ 858 4.83%
Home equity Mortgages™@ ..., 47 3.22 56 3.50
Credit CaIUS... ..ottt st st seebe e 13 1.95 13 1.86
(@107 ol 1S U 0= SR 10 2.20 11 2.26
QL0100 01141 SRR $ 844 4.09% $ 938 4.56%

@ At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $699 million and $793 million, respectively, of loans that
are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell, including $391 million and $3 million, respectively, relating to loans
held for sale.

At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consumer mortgage loans and loans held for sale include $495 million and $567 million, respectively, of
loans that were in the process of foreclosure.

@
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2016

Residential MOrtgages™ ..........o.veeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeseesee s $ 16,702 $ 389 $ — $ 17,001
Home equity MOMgageS ........ceoereereerieieeneeeeeree s 1,381 73 — 1,454
(O o ] oo 659 — 9 668
Other CONSUMES ......c.veiuieieciee e s st sreens 373 — 7 380
TOtal CONSUMEY ......ovvcieeeeeeieteeeec ettt s $ 19,115 $ 462 $ 16 $ 19,593
At December 31, 2015 - -
Residential MOrtgages........covveereerieerieerieese e $ 16944 $ 814 $ — $ 17,758
Home equity MOIMGagES .......ccereriereeieieree e 1,529 71 — 1,600
Credit CardS .....coveieecieceeecee e e 690 — 9 699
(@101 e 010151 0= SR 400 — 7 407
TOtal CONSUMES ...t sne e neas $ 19563 $ 885 $ 16 $ 20464

@ The decrease in nonaccrual loans at September 30, 2016 reflects the impact of transfers of certain residential mortgage loans to held for sale during the

nine months ended September 30, 2016.
Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our loan portfoliosincluded interest-only residential
mortgage loans totaling $3,623 million and $3,645 million, respectively. An interest-only residential mortgage loan alows a
customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period of time which resultsin lower payments during the
initial loan period. However, subsequent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect the ability of customers to
repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of thisloan type.
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5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changesin the allowance for credit losses by product and the related |oan balance by product
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages  Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2016
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
PENIOU..coooiiieriii s $ 92 $ 358 $ 488 $ 15 $ 50 $ 19 $ 33 $ 8 $ 1,063
Provision charged (credited) to income™...... ®) 7 44 &) 11 1 7 1 62
Charge-offs™® ..o, — (26) ) — (34) 4 ) @) (79)
RECOVENTES......oouieieieireee e 3 — — 3 1 1 — 14
Net (charge-offs) recoveries...........ccocuneunne. (23) (7 — (31) (3) (6) 1) (65)
Allowance for credit losses—end of period.. $ 0 $ 342 $ 525 $ 14 $ 30 $ 17 $ 34 § 8 $ 1,060
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
PENO. . $ 89 $ 260 $ 130 $ 18 $ 83 $ 27 $ 33 % 8 $ 648
Provision charged (credited) to income........ 3) 32 16 1) 3 2 7 1 47
Charge-offS.....cvreerreeererere e — (12) — — (3) 1) (8) 1) (24)
RECOVENES......ocuieieieireeree s 1 2 — — 2 1 1 — 7
Net (charge-offs) recoveries..........cocuernenees 1 9) — — 1) — 7) (1) 17
Allowance for credit losses—end of period.. $ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 3 79 % 25 $ 33 $ 8 $ 678
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of
(915 ([v1o F $ 86 $ 434 $ 240 $ 19 $ 68 $ 24 $ 32 % 9 $ 0912
Provision charged (credited) to income® ..... v (35) 377 (5) (5) ) 21 4 353
Charge-offs™@ __.......ccerirrrrrrereeeeereeeennnnns — (65) (92) — (43) (9) (23) (6) (238)
Recoveries......... 8 — — 10 4 4 1 33
Net (charge-offs) recoveries...........covvunieennns (57) (92) — (33) (5) (19) ) (205)
Allowance for credit losses—end of period.. $ 0 $ 342 $ 525 % 14 $ 30 3% 17 $ 34 % 8 $ 1,060
Ending balance: collectively evaluated for -
IMPAIrMENt.......ooevirerirere s $ 88 $ 274 $ 254 $ 13 % 20 $ 16 $ 33 % 8 $ 706
Ending balance: individually evaluated for
IMPAITMENt......oceeiiceriee s 2 68 271 1 10 1 1 — 354
Total allowance for credit losses................... $ 90 $ 342 $ 525 % 14 3% 30 $ 17 $ 34 § 8 $ 1,060
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment® ...... $ 10899 $ 17,218 $25792 $ 2988 $ 16,121 $ 1378 $ 663 $ 380 $75439
Individually evaluated for impairment ...... 59 447 622 7 62 4 5 — 1,206
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost or
fair valuelesscost to sall.......coeevricunnene — — — — 908 72 — — 980
Total 10aNS.....ccieeeieieieieeeeie e $26,414 $ 2995 $ 17,091 $ 1454 $ 668 $ 380 $77,625

310856

$ 17,665
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Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages  Mortgages Card Consumer Total
(in millions)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning of

1< oo R $ 89 $ 2715 $ 107 % 21 $ 107 $ 32 $ 39 3 10 $ 680
Provision charged (credited) to income........ (4) 54 39 3) 9 (4) 14 7 9%

Charge-offs. 2 (55) — @ 27) (6) (24) (12) (226)
RECOVENES......cocevvvcreicieee e 4 9 — — 8 3 4 2 30

Net (charge-offs) recoveries..........cocuveunennes 2 (46) — (1) (29) (3) (20) 9) (96)
Allowance for credit losses —end of period.. ¢ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 $ 79 $ 25 $ 33 % 8 $ 678
Ending balance: collectively evaluated for

IMPAITMENE..o.iviiieisins $ 86 $ 269 $ 146 $ 17 $ 41 $ 24 $ 32 3 8 $ 623
Ending balance: individually evaluated for

IMPAITMENt......c.ccveeeeeeeeeeeeee e 1 14 — — 38 1 1 — 55
Total allowance for credit losses................... $ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 3 79 % 25 $ 33 3% 8 $ 678
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment® ...... $ 11980 $ 19,325 $29,787 $ 3328 $ 15801 $ 1561 $ 677 $ 409 $82,868
Individually evaluated for impairment ...... 116 189 21 6 214 5 5 — 556
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost or

fair valuelesscost to Sell......coevvveevennneee. — — — — 1,445 73 — — 1,518
Total 10aNS.....coiiies $ 12096 $ 19514 $29808 $ 3334 $ 17460 $ 1639 $ 682 $ 409 $84,942

(6]

(O]

The provision for credit losses and charge-offs for residential mortgage loans during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 includes
$11 million related to the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment attributable to credit factors for loans transferred to held for sale. See Note 6,
"Loans Held for Sale," for additional information.

For collateral dependent loansthat are transferred to held for sale, the existing allowance for credit losses at the time of transfer are recognized as acharge-
off. We transferred to held for sale certain residential mortgage loans during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and, accordingly, we
recognized the existing allowance for credit losses on these loans as additiona charge-off totaling $20 million and $22 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016, respectively.

Global Banking includes loans to HSBC affiliates totaling $4,463 million and $5,447 million at September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, for which we
do not carry an associated allowance for credit losses.

For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Eachloanisindividually identified asaTDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loanswith similar characteristics. Thediscounted
cash flow analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR loans that are carried at the
lower of amortized cost or fair valueof thecollateral lesscost to sell which totaled $662 million and $858 million at September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and OLEY Al ESLALE.........cccevuiiiceiee e e s s s eee e s sbe e s sbaessanes $ — % 1,895
GlODA DANKING ...ttt bbb 741 200
TOLAl COMMIBICIAL.......eiueeeieieeieet ettt b et b e bt e b b e e e et e e et ebeeb e s bt ebesbeseeseeneas 741 2,095
Consumer loans:
RESIENI Al MOITGAGES ... eve ettt ettt s e ettt be bt ebesbesaesaesbesbeseens 971 11
HOME EQUILY MOMJBOES ...c.eeveeeteieieriei ettt ettt ettt sttt 4 —
(@107 ol g 1S U 0= r TSP PO 75 79
TOLAl CONSUIMIET ...ttt ettt ettt b e e b e ekt e bbb et b et e b et e b e st ebe s et e seebeseebeneeneas 1,050 90
Total 10aNS hElA FOr SA@......eieiee bbb s se s $ 1,791 $ 2,185

Commercial Loans During the second quarter of 2016, we sold $1,161 million of commercial rea estate loansto athird party and
recognized a loss on sale of approximately $3 million, including transaction costs. Upon completion of the sale, the remaining
loans that were not sold, which had a carrying value of $612 million at June 30, 2016, were transferred back to held for investment
as we now intend to hold these loans for the foreseeable future.

Global banking loans held for sale includes commercial loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number
of syndicated credit facilitieswiththeintent of selling themto unaffiliated third partiesaswell ascommercial loansthat we purchase
from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain total return swaps. The fair value of these loans,
which we have elected to designate under the fair value option, totaled $649 million and $151 million at September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively. See Note 11, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Global banking loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment and transferred to
held for sale which totaled $92 million and $49 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

We recorded lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments associated with the write-down of commercial loans held for sale
of $7 million and $37 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with $2 million
and $16 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, as acomponent of other income (loss)
in the consolidated statement of income. The $7 million lower of amortized cost or fair val ue adjustment recorded during the three
months ended September 30, 2016 reflects an immaterial out of period adjustment related to certain commercia real estate loans
which were transferred back to held for investment in the second quarter of 2016 as discussed above.

Consumer Loans As previously disclosed, we continue to evaluate our overall operations as we seek to optimize our risk profile
and cost efficiencies, as well as our liquidity, capital and funding requirements. As part of this on-going evaluation, as well as
continued market demand for non-performing residential mortgage loans, during thefirst quarter of 2016 we decided we no longer
have the intent to hold for investment certain residential mortgage loans and adopted a formal program to initiate sale activities
for these residential mortgage loans when aloan meeting pre-determined criteriais written down to the lower of amortized cost
or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell (generally 180 days past due) in accordance with our existing charge-off policies.
These loans were largely originated by us prior to the implementation of our Premier strategy.

Under this program, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we transferred residential mortgage loans to
held for sale with a total unpaid principal balance of approximately $25 million and $549 million, respectively, at the time of
transfer. The carrying value of these loans prior to transfer, after considering the fair value of the property less costs to sell, was
approximately $23 million and $456 million, respectively, including related escrow advances. During the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016, we recorded an initial lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment of $4 million and $42 million,
respectively, associated with newly transferred loans, all of which was attributed to non-credit factors and recorded as acomponent
of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we
recorded $2 million and $8 million, respectively, of additional lower of amortized cost or fair val ue adjustment on these loans held
for sale as a component of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income as a result of a change in the estimated
pricing on specific pools of loans. Aswe plan to sell these loansto third party investors, fair value represents the price we believe
athird party investor would pay to acquire the loan portfolios.
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In addition to the residential mortgage sales program discussed above, during the third quarter of 2016, we decided we no longer
have the intent to hold for investment a portfolio of residential mortgage loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance
Corporation ("HSBC Finance"), along with any home equity mortgage balances associated with these loans. As a result of this
decision, during the third quarter of 2016, we transferred residential mortgage and home equity mortgage loans to held for sale
with atotal unpaid principal balance of approximately $648 million at the time of transfer. The carrying value of theseloans prior
totransfer, after considering thefair value of the property lesscoststo sell, asapplicable, was approximately $628 million, including
accrued interest. During the third quarter of 2016, we recorded an initial lower of cost or fair value adjustment of $11 million
associated with the newly transferred loans, all of which was attributed to credit factors and recorded as a component of the
provisionfor credit lossesin the consolidated statement of income. Aswe plan to sell theseloansto third party investors, fair value
represents the price we believe athird party investor would pay to acquire the loans.

Wealso continueto sell al our agency eligible residential mortgage loan originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage
Corporation ("PHH Mortgage"). Gains and losses from the sale of these residential mortgage loans are reflected as a component
of residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. Residential mortgage
loans held for sale also includes subprime residential mortgage loans with afair value of $3 million at both September 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015 which were previously acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance with the intent
of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. PHH Mortgage is obligated to purchase agency eligible loans
from us as of the earlier of when the customer locks the mortgage |oan pricing or when the mortgage |oan application is approved.
As such, we retain none of the risk of market changes in mortgage rates for these |oans purchased by PHH Mortgage.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Valuation Allowances Excluding the commercial |oans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for saleare
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. The
va uation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $60 million and $13 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $54 million and $21 million at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2016

2015
(in millions)

Y KoTaior=o (SRS =AY o T aTo J (o] £ $ — 3 140

Purchased credit card relationNShiPS. ........coveoerereeeeeeee et s s se e 36 41

Total INtANGIDIE ASSELS.......e i e r e re e nae e en $ 36 $ 181

Mortgage Servicing Rights (""MSRs") A servicing asset is a contract under which estimated future revenues from contractually
specified cash flows, such as servicing fees and other ancillary revenues, are expected to exceed the obligation to service the
financial assets. Prior to our agreement with PHH Mortgage, we recognized the right to service residential mortgage loans as a
separate and distinct asset at the time they were acquired or when originated loans were sold.

In March 2016, we initiated an active program to sell our remaining M SRs portfolio and reclassified them to held for sale within
other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. See Note 9, "Other Assets Held for Sale," for additional information on our MSRs
portfolio at September 30, 2016 and during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.

The following table summarizes the critical assumptions used to calculate the fair value of MSRs at December 31, 2015:

December 31,

2015

ANnualized CONSLANT PrEPAYMENT FAEE. .......cerieeirieirieirieer ettt sttt se et s e bt be e e beseebeseebeseebeseebesaeseseeneneas 13.8%
(00101 T o (1 o0 U | B = (OSSR 12.6%
Weighted aVerage lifE (IN YEAIS) .....uiiiiie e sese ettt ettt st e e e e e e e eseesesaestesbesaeseesteseeseensenseneennenens 45
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The following table summarizes M SRs activity during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015:

Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2015 September 30, 2015

(in millions)
Fair value of MSRs:
Beginning DAlANCE.......c.crururieiririeiririeieeisie ettt $ 158 § 159
Changes in fair value due to changes in valuation inputs or assumptions................. (21) (13)
Reductions related to CUStOMEr PAYMENLS.........cooirirerirererie e @) (16)
ENAING DAIANCE. ....c.ceieiieiiiecce e $ 130 $ 130

The outstanding principal balance of serviced for others mortgages, which are not included in the consolidated balance sheet,
totaled $18,930 million at December 31, 2015. Servicing fees collected are included in residential mortgage banking revenue
(expense) and totaled $13 million and $43 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively.

PHH Mortgage provides us with mortgage origination processing services as well as the sub-servicing of our portfolio of owned
and serviced for others mortgages with an outstanding principal balance of $35,164 million and $37,544 million at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Although we continueto own both the mortgages on our balance sheet and the mortgage
servicing rights associated with the serviced loans at the time of conversion, we sell our agency eligible originations to PHH
Mortgage on a servicing released basis which results in no new mortgage servicing rights being recognized.

Purchased credit card relationships 1n 2012, we purchased from HSBC Finance the account rel ationships associated with $746
million of credit card receivables which were not included in the sale to Capital One Financial Corporation at afair value of $108
million. Approximately $43 million of thisvaluewasassociated with the credit card receivablessold to First NiagaraBank, National
Association and was written off at the time of sale. The remaining $65 million was included in intangible assets and is being
amortized over the estimated useful life of the credit card relationships which isten years.

8. Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,612 million at both September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. Included in goodwill for these periods were
accumulated impairment losses of $670 million.

During the third quarter of 2016, we completed our annual impairment test of goodwill and determined that the fair value of all
of our reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts.

9. Other Assets Held for Sale

In March 2016, our Retail Banking and Wealth Management business initiated an active program to sell its remaining MSRs
portfolio which has been in run-off for several years. As a result, we now consider the MSRs portfolio and related servicing
advancesto be held for sale at September 30, 2016 and reported them in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. In August
2016, we entered into an agreement to sell the remaining M SRs portfolio to athird party and expect the sale to be completed during
thefourth quarter of 2016. Asthe M SRs continueto be carried at fair value and we expect to transfer the rel ated servicing advances
to the buyer at near cost, the resulting gain or loss on sale, including transaction costs, is hot expected to be significant.

The disposal group held for sale reported in other assets consisted of the following at September 30, 2016:

Location on Consolidated Balance
Sheet Prior to Reclassification to ~ September 30,

Held for Sale 2016
(in millions)
Mortgage SErVICING FIONES......coveuiieeirieiereeesie ettt b e Intangible assets, net $ 95
SENVICING AOVANCES ....cveiveieieseeeee ettt ne e s e e sresresnesnenes Other assets 208
Total BSSEtS held FOF SAE........oourerreeeeseveeeeseesseeeee s $ 303

MSRs are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in these
economic variables. Interest rate risk is mitigated through an economic hedging program that uses securities and derivatives to
offset changesin thefair value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involvestrading activity, risk is quantified and managed using
anumber of risk assessment techniques.
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MSRs areinitially measured at fair value at the time that the related loans are sold and remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date. Changes in fair value of MSRs are reflected in residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) in the period in which the
changes occur. At September 30, 2016, fair value is determined based upon the sales price formulaas defined in the executed sales
agreement. Previoudly, fair value was determined based upon the application of valuation models and other inputs. The valuation
models incorporated assumptions market participants would use in estimating future cash flows. The reasonableness of these
valuation models was periodically validated by reference to externa independent broker valuations and industry surveys.

The following table summarizes M SRs activity during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016:

Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2016 September 30, 2016

(in millions)
Fair value of MSRs:
Beginning balanCe.........cc.ccuiiiiiiiicecesseee e $ 104 $ 140
Changesin fair value due to changes in valuation inputs or assumptions................. 4) (28)
Reductions related to CUSLOMEr PAYMENES......covvviririirenresee s (5) @an
ENdiNg DalanCe.........cocuiiiicicee et $ 95 $ 95

The outstanding principal balance of serviced for others mortgages, which are not included in the consolidated balance sheet,
totaled $16,476 million at September 30, 2016. Servicing fees collected are included in residential mortgage banking revenue
(expense) and totaled $11 million and $36 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively.

10. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments entered into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, derivative instruments are designated in one of the following categories: (a) financial
instruments held for trading, (b) hedging instruments designated as qualifying hedges under derivative and hedge accounting
principles or (c) non-qualifying economic hedges. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting agreements with
counterparties, the master netting agreements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

Thefollowing table presentsthefair value of derivative contracts by major product type on agrossbasis. Grossfair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting aswell as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, aswell as
cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable master netting agreements that do not meet the criteria for
netting. Derivative assetsand liabilitieswhich are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to anetting
agreement where an appropriatelegal opinion to determine such agreementsare enforceabl e has not been either sought or obtained,
have not been netted in the table bel ow. Wherewe havereceived or posted collateral under netting agreementswhere an appropriate
legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained, the related collateral also has
not been netted in the table below.
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September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
assets liabilities assets liabilities

(in millions)

Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges®
OTC-CIEAEAD ........oooooeeeeeeeeeeee oo eesesees e eesesees e eeseeee s $ 52 $ 1,021 $ 2 3 240
BIIGLEral OTC) ....ooooooooeoesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnes — 342 — 292
INTErEST AL CONTIACES .......cucveiiiecietcieiet ettt 52 1,363 42 532
Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges®
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® .............ooivoeeveeeeeeeseeeceseeeeeseeeesseseseeseesnees — 4 17 —
OTC-cleared@........ccooomvveeciemeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnn 6 24 6 16
Bilateral OTC? — 221 — 137
INTErESt At CONTIACES .......cuoviieiecieictetet ettt 6 245 6 153
Total derivatives accounted fOr s NEAGES...........ccvvevveeeievreeeee et 58 1,612 65 685
Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
EXChBNGELIA0EAP ..ot s s e ee s s s see s ees e s ses s eeseesees s ses s 56 61 27 27
OTC-CIEAEID ..o eeeeeeesees e seeeesssens e eesesesseeseeessensseeneseses 25,111 23,293 15,717 14,723
21,624 23,861 18,716 19,906
INTErESt At CONTIACES .......cooviuirieecieteietet ettt 46,791 47,215 34,460 34,656
EXCHANGEIA0EUP ..o e e ee e ee e eees e eee e ee e ees e eeeneeeesee — 6 — 15
BilGeral OTCP . .......oooooeceeveeeeeeeeeeseeseeeee s sseeeess s ees s sssss e ss s ss s 19,473 17,656 24,160 22,324
Foreign eXChange CONTIACTS ...........c.cocvvcieiiiciceces et b e a e s 19,473 17,662 24,160 22,339
Equity contracts - DIilateral OTC@ ..........oooveovcreeeeseeeeeseeeeeeeeesesseseeseesseseeseesessessessesseesees 1,439 1,435 1,344 1,340
EXChANGELIA0EUP ..ot e s e e e e ee s et es e e snseee s eesseeeeresee s 38 21 38 39
BIIGLEral OTC ....oooooovoeoesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnes 740 653 891 552
Precious metals contracts. 778 674 929 591
OTC-CEAEAD ... 213 258 899 1,212
BilGEral OTCP .........ooooeeceeeeeeeeeeeeee et eeeeeees oo seeeeess e ees s seeeees s ees s sesenens s 1,431 1,262 2,913 2,565
CrEOIT CONTIACTS ...ttt bbbttt ettt bbbt 1,644 1,520 3,812 3,777
Other derivatives not accounted for as hedgest®)
OTC-CIEAEID ... 5 64 — —
BIIGLEral OTCP .....oooooovvevesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnsssssssssssssssssnnes 1,045 117 761 120
Interest rate CONtracts...........cccceveveeveeenierennnns 1,050 181 761 120
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® ...........o.coooivoeeveceeeeeeseeeceseeeeesseeesseseesseseesnees — 38 — 97
Equity contracts - DIilateral OTC@ ..........ooovovevecreeeeseeeeseeeeesesesesseseessesseseessesessessessesseenees 542 272 462 422
Credit contracts - bilateral OTC® ..............ooovwoiooooeeeeeeees oo 36 4 73 6
LI U [=T =t 71,811 70,613 66,066 64,033
Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting
AGFEEMENES ) e 62,411 62,411 55,510 55,510
Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master
netting agreements®C) e 5,473 1,305 4,942 1,530
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ..................... 3,927 6,897 5,614 6,993

Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to

N

enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance
SPIBEL ..o eeeseeeeseeeseeesemees s e s e e e es e se e e e s et et s e st et nee s nee s eee e eereen 895 4,736 1114 3,674

$ 3,032 $ 2161 $ 4500 $ 3,319

et amounts of derivative assets / liabilities

@

@]

®
(O]

Derivative assets/ liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded
in other assets/ interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through master netting agreements and obtaining collateral.
OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central clearing
counterparty becomes the counterparty to both of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized exchange
that provides pre-trade price transparency. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining
required by central clearing counterparties.

Trading related derivative assets/liabilities are recorded in trading assets/ trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.
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®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

©®  Nettingisperformed at acounterparty level in caseswhere enforceable master netting agreementsarein place, regardless of thetype of derivativeinstrument.
Therefore, we have not attempted to allocate netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged A ssets and Repurchase Agreements,” for further information on offsetting rel ated
to resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires usto identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities aswell as forecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using aregression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument ishighly effectivein offsetting
changesin the fair value or the cash flows attributabl e to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the rel ationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate (U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar denominated) assets and liabilities
fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and
futures contracts and foreign currency swaps to minimize the effect on earnings caused by interest rate and foreign currency
volatility. The changesin the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is terminated and the hedged item continuesto
exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value hedges which decreased the carrying amount of our debt by $26 million and
increased by $70 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with increases of
$25 million and $13 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. We amortized $2 million
and $5 million of basis adjustments related to terminated and/or re-designated fair value hedge relationships of our debt during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with $2 million and $5 million during the three and
ninemonthsended September 30, 2015, respectively. Thetotal accumul ated unamortized basi sadjustmentsamounted to anincrease
in the carrying amount of our debt of $59 million at September 30, 2016, compared with adecrease of $6 million at December 31,
2015.

Basisadjustmentsfor activefair valuehedgesof available-for-sale (" AFS") securitiesdecreased the carrying amount of the securities
by $93 million and increased by $861 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared
with increases of $412 million and $234 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. The
total accumul ated unamortized basi sadjustmentsfor activefair val ue hedgesof AFS securitiesamountedtoincreasesinthecarrying
amount of the securities of $1,278 million and $439 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their location on the consolidated statement of
income:

Net Ineffective

Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) on Derivative Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized
Interest Income  Other Income  Interest Income  Other Income Other Income
(Expense) (Loss) (Expense) (Loss) (Loss)
(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (38) $ 26 $ 92 $ 37 $ (11)
Interest rate contracts/long-term debt ................ 8 (27) (34) 26 (D)
TOtAl ..oeece e $ (30) $ 1 $ 58 $ (11) $ (12)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (1) $ (434) $ 2 3 414 $ (20)
Interest rate contracts/long-term debt ................ 7 27 (22 (25) 2
TO@ o s $ 44 % (407) $ 70 % 389 $ (18)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (133) $ (1,027) $ 281 $ 95 $ (62)
Interest rate contracts/long-term debt ................ 23 71 (95) (70) 1
L PSSO O OO O O $ (110) $ (956) $ 186 $ 895 $ (61)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (154) $ (229) $ 273 $ 217 $ (12)
Interest rate contracts/long-term debt ............... 16 15 (55) (13) 2
L PSSO OS OO $ (138) $ (214) $ 218 $ 204 $ (10)

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. Asapart of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changesin fair value of aderivative instrument associated
with the effective portion of a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss). When
the cash flows being hedged materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss from the hedging
derivative previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCI") is reclassified into earnings in the same
accounting periodinwhich thedesignated forecasted transaction or hedged item affectsearnings. | f acash flow hedge of aforecasted
transaction is de-designated becauseit is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship isterminated, the cumulative gain
or loss on the hedging derivative to that date will continue to be reported in AOCI unlessit is probable that the hedged forecasted
transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is released into earnings.

At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, active cash flow hedge relationshi ps extend or mature through July 2036. During
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, $5 million and $14 million of losses related to terminated and/
or re-designated cash flow hedge relationships were amortized to earnings from AOCI, compared with losses of $3 million and
$8 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. During the next twelve months, we expect
to amortize $13 million of remaining losses to earnings resulting from these terminated and/or re-designated cash flow hedges.
Theinterest accrual related to the hedging instruments is recognized in interest income.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instrumentsin cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from all terminated cash flow hedges) and their [ocations
on the consolidated statement of income:

( ) ( ) Gain (Lossd)
Gain (Loss Gain (Loss . . Recognize
Recognized Reclassed Location of Gain in Ingcome
in AOCI on . . From AOCI (Loss) Recognized on the
Derivative Location of Gain into Income in Income Derivative
(Effective (Loss) Reclassified (Effective on the Derivative (Ineffective
Portion) from AOCI Portion) (Ineffective Portion and Portion)
—_— into Income _ Amount Excluded from  ——
2016 2015 (Effective Portion) 2016 2015 Effectiveness Testing) 2016 2015
(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30,
Interest income
Foreign exchange contracts.... $ — $ (2 (expense) $ — $ — Otherincome(loss) $ — $ —
Interest income
Interest rate contracts.............. 11 (51 (expense) (5) (3) Other income (loss) — —
Tota ..o, $ 11 $ (53) $ B % (3 $ — $ —
Nine Months Ended September 30,
Interest income
Foreign exchangecontracts.... $ — $ (1) (expense) $ — $ — Otherincome(loss) $ — $ —
Interest income )
Interest rate contracts.............. (89) (36) (expense) (14) (8 Other income (loss) — —
L. D $ (89) $ (37) $ (14) $ (9 $ — $ —

Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities 1nadditionto risk management, weenter into derivativeinstruments,
including buy- and sell-protection credit derivatives, for trading and market making purposes, to repackage risks and structure
tradesto facilitate clients’ needs for various risk taking and risk modification purposes. We manage our risk exposure by entering
into offsetting derivatives with other financial institutions to mitigate the market risks, in part or in full, arising from our trading
activitieswith our clients. In addition, we al so enter into buy-protection credit derivativeswith other market participantsto manage
our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter into derivatives for trading purposes, realized and unrealized gains and
lossesarerecognizedintrading revenue or residential mortgage banking revenue (expense). Credit | osses arising from counterparty
risk on over-the-counter derivative instruments and offsetting buy protection credit derivative positions are recognized as an
adjustment to the fair value of the derivatives and are recorded in trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging activities include:
» Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured

notes and structured deposits, for which we have elected fair val ue option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-
qualifying hedges but are considered economic hedges.

e Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfolio. In the
event of animpairment |ossoccurring inaloan that iseconomically hedged, theimpairment lossisrecognized asprovision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income.

»  Forward purchase or sale of to-be-announced ("TBA") securities designated to economically hedge mortgage servicing
rights. Changesin thefair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, are recorded in residential mortgage
banking revenue (expense).

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profit andloss. Realized and unrealized gainsand | osses on economi ¢ hedges arerecognizedin gain (10ss) oninstrumentsdesignated
at fair value and related derivatives, other income (10ss) or residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) while the derivative
asset or liability positions are reflected as other assets or other liabilities.
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Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gainsand losses on derivativeinstrumentsheld for trading purposes and their locations

on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

Location of Gain (Loss) September 30, September 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Interest rate CoNtractS.......c.vvvvererererererererenes Trading revenue (expense) $ 97 $ 260 $ (413) $ 801
Interest rate CONtracts............coveeveiieicenens Residential mortgage banking revenue

(expense) (3) 28 40 34
Foreign exchange contracts..........c..coeene.. Trading revenue (expense) (243) (372 (15) (521)
Equity CONtracts.........ccoovccinniniciicieins Trading revenue (expense) 2 (3) 5 —
Precious metals contracts............c.coovueunnen Trading revenue (expense) 35 25 64 44
Credit CoNtracts........oooeveereereiereeeeeeeeen Trading revenue (expense) (40) (23) (102) (40)
TOEl .o $ (152) (85) $ (421) $ 318

Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging activities
and their locations on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income on

Derivatives
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
Location of Gain (Loss) September 30, September 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Interest rate CONtractS........oveveerrereereernrnenee Gain (loss) on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives $ 6 $ 164 $ 319 $ 131
Interest rate CoNtractS........ooovveveereerereerennne Residential mortgage banking revenue
(expense) — ) — —
Foreign exchange contracts............co.o..... Gain (loss) on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives 6 (18) 26 (13)
Equity CONLractS.........ccveerveiereninennen Gain (loss) on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives 194 (533) 226 (401)
Precious metals contracts.................cooee. Gain (loss) on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives — (1) — —
Credit CONractsS........ocvveeerreeeeeerreeens Gain (loss)on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives — — — ©)]
Credit CONtractS........cvveerreeerneerreeineeinenes Other income (l0ss) (23) 92 (64) 69
TOtEl ..o $ 171 $ (297) $ 507 $ (217)

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features We enter into total return swap, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap and credit
default swap contracts, amongst others, which contain provisions that require us to maintain a specific credit rating from each of
the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part of broader structured product
transactions. If HSBC Bank USA, National Association's ("HSBC Bank USA") credit ratingswereto fall below the current ratings,
the counterpartiesto our derivative instruments could demand usto post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral
reguired to be posted will depend on whether HSBC Bank USA is downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value
of al derivative instruments with credit-risk related contingent features that werein aliability position at September 30, 2016 was
$7,949 million, for which we had posted collateral of $7,575 million. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with
credit-risk-related contingent featuresthat werein aliability position at December 31, 2015 was $7,139 million, for which we had
posted collateral of $6,283 million. Substantially all of the collateral posted isin the form of cash or securities available-for-sale.
See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements,” for further details.
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Thefollowing tablessummarize our obligationto post additional collateral (fromthecurrent collateral level) in certain hypothetical
commercially reasonabledowngradescenariosof our longtermratings. It isnot appropriateto accumul ateor extrapol ateinformation
presented in the tables below to determine our total obligation because the information presented to determine the obligation in
hypothetical rating scenarios is not mutually exclusive.

Single-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
Moody’s Al A2
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted Upon downgrade ............cooveereieneieneieneic e $ 50 $ 65
Single-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
Standard & Poor's (""'S&P") A+ A
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade...........covverereereereeceeereese e $ 50 $ 65

Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

September 30,2016 ~ December 31, 2015
(in millions)

Interest rate:

FULUIrES aNd fOIWAITS. ....c.cuveiicecicseceee e $ 421519 $ 149,413
SWVBIIS ...vveteiesteseete e te e et s et e se et st et sa et sa st e st e et e e R et E et R e naeEene et e naeRenaeRenReneeteneete e ereeas 2,245,350 2,453,526
(07 0]1T0) 0153 Y] 110 o 91,443 65,747
(O] 0]110) 1Y 0 0o 7= < = o [ 110,002 80,092
2,868,314 2,748,778
Foreign exchange:

Swaps, FULUreS and fFOrWArdS ..........coceeeerirere e 1,055,428 980,811
(0701103 Y 1 1= o TSRS 72,066 81,132
OPLiONS PUICNESEA ...ttt ettt st b et ebe e 73,007 82,004
S o0 OSSPSR 27,429 42,724
1,227,930 1,186,671

Commaodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, FULUreS and fFOrWArdS ..........coceeeirirece e 73,915 35,546
(0701103 Y 1 1= o TSRS 17,466 19,601
OPLiONS PUICNESEA ...ttt ettt st b et ebe e 29,929 33,374
121,310 88,521
Credit AENVALIVES ...ttt ettt e et s s nans 143,515 188,070
10, PSR S $ 4,361,069 $ 4,212,040
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11. Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("1FRSs") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("1ASB") and asendorsed by the European Union ("EU"). Wetypically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVO") accounting
toselected financial instrumentsto align the measurement attributesof thoseinstrumentsunder U.S. GAAPand the Group Reporting
Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financial instruments. We elected to apply FV O accounting to certain
commercia loans held for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate long-term debt issuances
and hybrid instruments which include all structured notes and structured deposits. Changes in fair value for these assets and
liahilities are reported as gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivativesin the consolidated statement
of income.

Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swapsand include theseloans asloans held for salein the consolidated balance sheet. The el ection allows usto account
for theseloans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Where available, fair value
is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market
prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not available, fair value is determined
based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default rates and loss severity discounted at
management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We al so consider loan specific risk mitigating
factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate. Interest from these loans is recorded as interest
income in the consolidated statement of income. Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the fair value option are
floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk factors. The
components of gain (loss) related to loans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. As of September 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015, no loansfor which the fair value option has been elected were 90 days or more past due or in nonaccrual
status.

Resale and Repurchase Agreements We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale
and repurchase agreementswhich aretrading in nature. Theelection allowsusto account for theseresal eand repurchase agreements
at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which theinstruments are managed. Thefair value of the resale and repurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities. I nterest on theseresal eand repurchase agreementsi srecorded asinterest incomeor expensein the consolidated statement
of income. The components of gain (loss) related to these resal e and repurchase agreements designated at fair value are summarized
in the table below.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FVO accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows usto achieve asimilar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt i ssuancesel ected under FVV O aretraded in secondary
markets and, as such, thefair valueis determined based on observed pricesfor the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (10ss)
related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVV O accounting to all of our hybrid instrumentsissued, including structured notes and
structured deposits. The valuation of the hybrid instrumentsis predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within
the instruments and own credit risk. Cash flows of the hybrid instruments in their entirety, including the embedded derivatives,
are discounted at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit
spreads applied to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and
secondary markets, internal funding rates, and structured noteratesin recent executionswhilethe credit spreadsapplied to structured
deposits are determined using market rates currently offered on comparable deposits with similar characteristics and maturities.
Interest on thisdebt isrecorded asinterest expensein the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related
to hybrid instruments designated at fair value which reflect the instruments described above are summarized in the table bel ow.
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The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Fair Value
over (under)

Unpaid Unpaid
Principal Principal
Fair Value Balance Balance

(in millions)

At September 30, 2016

Commercial 10ans held fOr SAle..........ccoiiici s $ 649 $ 666 $ ()]
Securities purchased under resale agreements............occcceviiiiiincccnsceee 769 767 2
Securities sold under repurchase agreemMents ..........covveeeerereeesereseeesesese s 2,675 2,670 5
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt...........ccoeiiiiiri e 2,097 1,750 347
Hybrid instruments:
SErUCTUrEd AEPOSITS.....cveeiieie et 7,472 7,361 111
SEUCLUIEA NOLES......vecvietecteete ettt sttt et e e e be e e e ebeeresneennas 7,902 7,796 106
At December 31, 2015
Commercial [0ans held fOr SAle..........ccoiiici s $ 151 $ 159 $ (8)
Securities sold under repurchase agreemMents ..........cccveeeveeerernrenseseeeseeeseeenees 1,976 1,970 6
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt.........coooreeeee e 2,007 1,750 257
Hybrid instruments:
SUCTUrEH AEPOSITS.......c.eeeeer e 6,919 7,016 (97)
SITUCEUFEA NOLES.......oviieieieteie ettt 7,164 7,323 (159)

Components of Gain (Loss) on Instruments at Fair Value and Related Derivatives Gain (l0ss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives includes the changes in fair value related to interest, credit and other risks as well as the mark-to-
market adjustment ontherelated derivativesand thenet realized gainsor | osseson these derivatives. Thefollowing table summarizes
the components of gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives related to the changes in fair value
of the financial instrument accounted for under FVO:
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Securities
Purchased Securities
Under Sold Under
Resale Repurchase Long-Term Hybrid

Loans Agreements Agreements Debt Instruments Total
(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016

Interest rate and other components™........... $ — 3 4) $ 1% 5) $ (220) (228)

Credit risk component®® ___.....ccooooireeeaee. 6 — — 5 (65) (54)
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments

designated at fair value........cccccceucucucucucecnnens 6 4 1 — (285) (282)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives....... — — — (10) 188 178
Net realized gain on the related long-term

debt derivatives ........ccoveeenrneecerrseees — — — 16 — 16
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair

value and related derivatives..........ccoeuenee. $ 6 $ 4 $ 13 6 $ (97) (88)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Interest rate and other components™®............ $ — 3 — 3 (2 $ (100) $ 499 397

Credit risk component®® ... 1) — — 9% 61 156
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments

designated at fair value...........cococevcveiiininnen (1) — 2 4 560 553
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives....... — — — 98 (503) (405)
Net realized gain on the related long-term

debt derivatives ..., — — — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair

value and related derivatives.............cou..... $ L $ — % 2 3 111 % 57 165
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

Interest rate and other components™®............. $ — 3 1% 2 $ (202 $ (382) (581)

Credit risk component®® ____....cooooireeean.. 6 — — 113 (19) 100
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments

designated at fair value.........ccccceecueeeicucecnnnas 6 1 2 (89) (401) (481)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives....... — — — 184 339 523
Net realized gain on the related long-term

debt derivatives ........ccoveeernneeienneees — — — 48 — 48
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair

value and related derivatives............ccevvvennes $ 6 $ 13 2 $ 143 % (62) 90
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

Interest rate and other components™........... $ — % — % 4 $ (50) $ 423 369

Credit risk component®® ... ) — — 214 18 223
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments

designated at fair value..........ccocoovvvvriiininnnen. 9 — 4 164 441 592
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives....... — — — 41 (378) (337)
Net realized gain on the related long-term

debt derivatiVes ......ccooveeeneneccceeeee, — — — 51 — 51
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair

value and related derivatives........................ $ 9 $ — % 4 3% 256 $ 63 306

(6]
]

(©)]

Asit relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the gains in the credit risk component for long-term debt were attributable to the

widening of our own credit spreads.

During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the loss in the credit risk component for hybrid instruments was attributable primarily to the tightening
of our own credit spreads related to structured notes. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the loss in the credit risk component for hybrid
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instruments was attributable to the tightening of credit spreads on structured deposits, partially offset by the widening of our own credits spreads related to
structured notes. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the gainsin the credit risk component for hybridinstruments were attributable
primarily to the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits and, in the three month period, the widening of our own credit spreads related to structured
notes. These gains were partially offset in the year-to-date period by aloss due to changes in estimates associated with the valuation techniques used to
measure the fair value of certain structured notes and deposits.

12.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensivel ossincludescertainitemsthat arereported directly within aseparate component of shareholders’
equity. The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss balances:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at beginning Of PEITOU. ..ot $ 252 % (83)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(65) million and $2 million, respectively ..........ccccevnierrereneeennes (108) 7
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(6) million and $(4) million, respectively® .............. (10) 7
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $4 million and $3 Million, FESPECHVEIYZ) ............oveeeeveeeereeeeeess e seses s sesesessesseessssessesssssesseseeees 6 5
Total other comprehensive inComMe (10SS) FOF PEITOU. ..o (112) 5
Balance at €nd Of PENTO. ... s 140 (78)
Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at DEgINNING OF PEITOM..... ..ottt b bbb e e s e b e b e s S e b et e e s b e b e e e A b e e b e b e ae s £ e b e b et et e b et s sbebe e et enan (226) (144)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $5 million and $(19) million, respectively .........cccoceevvveierirninnne 6 (34)
Recl assification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $2 million and $1 million, respectively®..................... 3 2
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period... 9 (32
Balance @t €0 OF PEIIOU.........iuiuiiiiiii bbb bbb (217) (176)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at beginning and end Of PEIIOQ ..........c.euiuiiriiiiic s 3) @)
Total accumulated other comprehensive 10ss at end Of PEFiOd...........cvcriiciiii s $ (80) $ (256)
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at Deginning Of PEITOM............ci i bbb bbb bbb $ (234) $ 158
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $243 million and $(126) million, respectively ...........ccccovrerunne. 407 (210)
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(30) million and $(26) million, respectively® ........... (51) (43)
Amortization of net unrealized |osses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $11 million and $10 Million, rESPECHVEIY® ............ccovvvvveereeeeeeee e 18 17
Total other comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) fOF PEITOM. ........couruiuiiirieiirieie ettt ettt e e b et ns b enrenas 374 (236)
Balance at €Nd OF PEMTOU...........cuuiiiiiii e 140 (78)
Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEITOU...........ouriiiicic bbb (170) (156)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(33) million and $(12) million, respectively ..........ccocervrerecnne (56) (25)
Recl assification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $5 million and $3 million, respectively®.................... 9 5
Total other comprenensiVe 0SS Or PEIIOM.............cuieiiiice et (47) (20)
Balance at €nd OF PEMTO...........cou it (217) (176)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at beginning Of PEIIOQ. ...t bbbt 3) ©))
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liahility, net of tax of lessthan $1 Million..........cccveirrrrrenseeeae — 1
Total other comprenensive INCOME FOF PEITOM. ... . oottt bbbt e bbbt b b aese b et ns bt neenas — 1
Balance at €A OF PEMTOU...........c.u it 3) )
Total accumulated other comprehensive 10ss at end Of PEFIOQ..........cvuiiiiririiiriii e $ (80) $ (256)

@ Amount reclassified to net incomeisincluded in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income.

@ Amount amortized to netincomeisincludedininterestincomein our consolidated statement of income. During 2014, wetransferred securitiesfrom available-
for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses of $234 million related to the transferred securities which
will be amortized over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in amanner consistent with the amortization of any premium
or discount.

®  Amount reclassified to net incomeisincluded in interest income (expense) in our consolidated statement of income.

13. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The components of pension expense for the defined benefit pension plan recorded in our
consolidated statement of income and shown in the table below reflect the portion of pension expense of the combined HSBC
North America Pension Plan (either the "HSBC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan™) which has been alocated to us.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation.............cccveiiiccci e $ 18 $ 18 $ 53 $ 51
Expected return 0N Plan GSSELS........cocwerienenenenene sttt (21) (22) (63) (68)
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS.........cccceeiiiieie e e 13 10 32 29
Administrative costs. 1 2 4 5
Pension expense......... 11 % 8 $ 26 % 17

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, pension expense was impacted by an immaterial out of period
adjustment which increased pension expense by $6 million in order to properly reflect changes in participant census data which
should have been included in pension valuationsin prior periods.

42



HSBC USA Inc.

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions The components of net periodic benefit cost for our postretirement plans other than
pension are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation.............cccceeeeeeecececee e $ 1 % 189 2 % 2
Net periodic postretirement BENEFit COSE........ovrvrrirririririreneriene e $ 1 % 189 2 $ 2

14. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. HSBC policy requires that these
transactions occur at prevailing market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivative transactions, servicing
arrangements, information technology support, centralized support services, banking and other miscellaneous services and where
applicable, these transactions are compliant with United States banking regulations. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit
exposures of) HSBC Bank USA to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insured
banks) are legally required to be secured by €ligible collateral. The following tables and discussions below present the more
significant related party balances and the income (expense) generated by related party transactions:

September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash and dUE FrOM DANKS...........ceieeieececeeeeeteeee ettt ee ettt se st n et teanan s $ 133 % 169
Interest bearing depositsS With DENKS...........ccociiiiiinee e 26 244
Securities purchased under agreements to reSEl™ ..o 4,000 4,000
TIAOING BSSELSD ... en s es e en e 17,305 18,632
070 OO ERRRRSU PRI 4,463 4,815
OB oo 203 458
TOBl BSSELS....eveveuiictetetee st e ettt ettt st a et e b se st e b e e bbb e Ae e st eReee e b e b e e et et ene e nebete e reeras $ 26130 $ 28318
Liabilities:
DIEPOSITS ...ttt ettt ettt sttt sttt e e ee et et e st s et et e b e e et et et e aeee bt eae e et b eseaeee et et ens et bebenn s e et ennnnns $ 20130 $ 13486
TIAOING HADHTESD .......oooeeeeeeee et en e 18,391 19,496
S aTo a1 0 00 (0111 SR 2,134 2,004
(o0l (= 0 10 (= o 5,832 1,827
OB oo 277 346
TOtAl HADITTIES....c.evcveveececetee ettt ettt ettt st et st se bt e st et ne s s bebe s et $ 46,764 $ 37,159

@ Reflects overnight purchases of U.S. Treasury securities which HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI") has agreed to repurchase.

@ Trading assetsand trading liabilitiesdo not reflect theimpact of netting which allowsthe offsetting of amountsrelating to certain contractsif certain conditions
are met. Trading assets and liabilities primarily consist of derivatives contracts.

®  Other assets and other liabilities primarily consist of derivative balances associated with hedging activities and other miscellaneous account receivables and
payables.
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Income/(Expense):

110 (== ] (oo 0 1T $ 30 $ 28 $ 0 $ 86

[NEEIESt BXPENSE. ...ttt s (38) (19) (102) (41)
Net interest iNCoMe (EXPENSE).........ccuiiiiiiiii e 8) 9 (12) 45
Trading reVeNUE (EXPENSE) .......eiueirirreriereereeeeeeeesessessessestessessessesseseessesssssessssessessessenses (661) 72 138 441
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:

[ IS = T O 2701 o 22 23 70 60

HSBC FiNance COrPOration ........cccceeeereresieserieseeseseeseeseeseesesseesesese e ssessessesseseas 8 11 29 40

HSBC Markets (USA) INC. ("HMUS") ..o 5 6 15 19

Other HSBC affili@ES......veuerereeieieeririetee ettt 15 13 41 43
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.......cccovvvevevvcieceeceecececese e, 50 53 155 162
Gain (loss) on instruments designed at fair value and related derivatives................... 193 (535) 228 (405)
Support services from HSBC affiliates:

HMUS L.ttt ettt b e s se bt ne e (42) (66) (150) (199)

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU")...cocviiiiiciincncces (252) (250) (734) (754)

Other HSBC affili@ES.....veueieeeieeeriieiee sttt (60) (45) (145) (145)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ocovvvciiiniccinncccceses (354) (361) (1,029) (1,098)
Stock based compensation expense With HSBC™M..........ccovveeurereeesnnereeeesssneeeee %) (12) (24) (40)

@ Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits
in our consolidated statement of income. Employees also may participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement plans sponsored by
HSBC North Americawhich are discussed in Note 13, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits.”

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

We use HSBC affiliates to fund a portion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
long-term debt with affiliates reflected $5.9 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively, of floating rate borrowings from HSBC North
America. The outstanding balances include:

e $1.0hillion of senior debt which was issued during the second quarter of 2015 and matures in December 2016;

*  $2.0billion of senior debt which was issued during the third quarter of 2016 and maturesin August 2021;

»  $0.9 billion of subordinated debt which was issued during the second quarter of 2015 and matures in May 2025; and
*  $2.0billion of senior debt which was issued during the third quarter of 2016 and maturesin August 2026.

We have a $150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North America Inc. although there was no outstanding balance at
either September 30, 2016 or December 31, 2015.

We have a so incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreementswith HS.
In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.
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Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we have the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015
(in millions)
HSBC FiNaNCE COMPOIAHON .........cccueuerieteteeeeeteteeeeeeteteteeesee e tese et teseessessesesssessebesssssesesessesssesesesssnane $ 3013 $ 3,014
HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") and SUDSIdIANES ........coeiverieieirereneeeere e 473 978
L IS ST O 1Y (o 1 S 975 725
Regency ASSets Limited ("REGENCY™ )Y ...t ee e ee s ee e eee s ese e — 58
Other short-term affiliate |eNiNg........ccoereeeee e e 2 40
B I = I [ 7= = $ 4463 $ 4,815

@ An asset-backed commercial paper conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate.

HSBC Finance Corporation We have extended a $5.0 billion, 364-day uncommitted unsecured revolving credit agreement to
HSBC Finance which expires during the fourth quarter of 2017. The credit agreement allows for borrowings with maturities of
up to 5 years. At both September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, $3.0 billion was outstanding under this credit agreement with
$0.5 billion maturing in September 2017, $1.5 billion maturing in January 2018 and $1.0 billion maturing in September 2018. At
December 31, 2015, we aso had extended a committed revolving credit facility to HSBC Finance of $1.0 billion which did not
have any outstanding balance. During the third quarter of 2016, this credit facility was terminated.

HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $8.9 billion and $10.7 billion at both September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, of which $473 million
and $978 million, respectively, was outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding balances range from overnight to three months.
Each borrowing is re-evaluated prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature.

HSBC Mexico S.A. We have extended an uncommitted line of credit to HSBC Mexico S.A. in the amount of $1.2 billion at both
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, of which $975 million and $725 million was outstanding at September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively. The outstanding balances mature at various stages between 2017 and 2018.

Regency During the third quarter of 2016, Regency was restructured and the liquidity facilities we previously provided to them
wereterminated. See Note 17, "Variable Interest Entities," for additional discussion. Prior to the third quarter of 2016, HUSI was
committed to provide liquidity facilities to backstop the liquidity risk in Regency in relation to assets originated in the United
States. Thenotional amount of theliquidity facilitiesprovided by HUSI to Regency wasapproximately $3.4 billion at December 31,
2015 which was less than half of Regency's total liquidity facilities. At December 31, 2015, $58 million was outstanding under
these facilities.

We have extended lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliatestotaling $3.1 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Other short-term affiliate lending In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were $2
million and $40 million, respectively, of these loans outstanding.

As part of aglobal HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with certain securities, debt issues and
derivative contractswith unaffiliated third parties, weroutinely enter into derivative transactionswith HSBC Finance, HSBC Bank
plc and other HSBC affiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $979.1
billion and $1,004.1 billion at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the
net fair value of derivative assets and liabilities, including any collateral received) related to the contracts was approximately $6
million and $216 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Our Global Banking and Markets business
accounts for these transactions on amark to market basis, with the changein value of contractswith HSBC affiliates substantially
offset by the change in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.
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Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide servicesto and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. Thefollowing
summarizes these activities:

* Servicing activities for residential mortgage loans across North America are performed both by us and HSBC Finance. Asa
result, we receive servicing fees from HSBC Finance for services performed on their behalf and pay servicing feesto HSBC
Finance for services performed on our behalf. The fees we receive from HSBC Finance are reported in servicing and other
feesfrom HSBC affiliates. Feeswe pay to HSBC Finance are reported in support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates. Thisincludes
feespaid for the servicing of residential mortgage loans (with acarrying amount of $586 million and $696 million at September
30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively) that we purchased from HSBC Finance in 2003 and 2004. During the third
quarter of 2016, wetransferred theseresidential mortgageloansto held for sale. SeeNote 7, "LoansHeldfor Sale,” for additional
information.

« HSBC North America's technology and certain centralized support servicesincluding human resources, corporate affairs, risk
management, legal, compliance, tax, finance and other shared servicesthat are centralized within HTSU. HTSU also provides
certain item processing and statement processing activities to us. The fees we pay HTSU for the centralized support services
and processing activitiesareincluded in support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates. We also receive feesfrom HTSU for providing
certain administrative services to them. The fees we receive from HTSU areincluded in servicing and other feesfrom HSBC
affiliates. In certain cases, for facilities used by HTSU, we may guarantee their performance under the lease agreements.

* We use HSBC Global Services Limited, an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States, to provide various support
services to our operations including among other areas, customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions. The
expenses related to these services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates.

«  We tilize HSI, asubsidiary of HMUS, for broker dealer, debt underwriting, customer referrals, loan syndication and other
treasury and traded markets related services, pursuant to service level agreements. Debt underwriting fees charged by HSI are
deferred as areduction of long-term debt and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt. Fees charged by
HSI for the other services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates.

* Wereceive fees from other subsidiaries of HSBC, including HSBC Bank plc and HSI, for providing them with banking and
other miscellaneous services aswell as support for certain administrative and global business activities. Thesefeesare reported
in servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

Wereceived revenuefromour affiliatesfor rent on certain office space, which hasbeen recorded asacomponent of support services
from HSBC affiliates. Rental revenue from our affiliates totaled $16 million and $47 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with $15 million and $44 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015, respectively.

During the second quarter of 2016, HSBC USA issued $1,265 million of 6.0 percent Non-Cumulative Series| Preferred Stock to
HSBC North America. See Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” for additional details.

15. Business Segments

We have four distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB").

We previously announced that with effect from January 1, 2016, a portion of our Business Banking client group, generally
representing those small business customerswith $3 million or lessin annual revenue (now referred to as Retail Business Banking),
would be better managed as part of RBWM rather than CMB given the similarities in their banking activities with the RBWM
customer base. Therefore, to coincidewith the changein our management reporting effective beginning in thefirst quarter of 2016,
we have included the results of Retail Business Banking in the RBWM segment for all periods presented. As aresult, loss before
tax for the RBWM segment increased $9 million and $25 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively. There have been no other changes in the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared
with the presentation in our 2015 Form 10-K.

During thefirst half of 2016, we determined that a portion of our Large Corporate client group, generally representing those large
business customers with more complex banking activities which require the levels of support routinely provided by relationship
managersin GB& M, would be better managed as part of GB& M rather than CMB, effective October 1, 2016. Therefore, beginning
inthefourth quarter of 2016, wewill includetheresults of the transferred client relationshipsin the GB& M segment for al periods
presented. We currently expect thistransfer will result in anincreaseto loansand depositsfor the GB& M segment of approximately
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$3.4 billion and $2.4 billion, respectively. The profit before tax associated with these rel ationships was approximately $83 million
and $54 million during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRSsasissued
by the |ASB and asendorsed by the EU, and, asaresult, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information
prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. However, we continue to monitor capital adeguacy and
report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP basis.

We continue to review the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and content of the financial
data, including the U.S. GAAPfinancial data, being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changes
to this reporting in the future, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are presented in Note
22, "Business Segments,” in our 2015 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since December 31, 2015 in the
differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.

The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basisto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Group Repor_ting
Adjustments/ Reporting Basis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2016
Net interest income® ......... $ 204 $ 205 $ 156 $ 53 $ (10) $ — $ 608 $ (18) $ 14 3 604
Other operating income...... 72 66 188 22 9 — 357 27) (10) 320
Total operating income...... 276 271 344 75 1) — 965 (45) 4 924
Loan impairment charges... 27 (19) 33 1 — — 42 16 4 62
249 290 311 74 (1) — 923 (61) — 862
Operating expenses? ......... 283 167 241 56 67 — 814 (11) — 803
Profit (loss) before income
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net interest income® ......... $ 197 $ 209 $ 142 $ 49 $ (5 $ W $ 591 $ 19 $ 45 3 617
Other operating income...... 85 82 287 26 109 1 590 (11) (48) 531
Total operating income...... 282 291 429 75 104 — 1,181 (30) 3) 1,148
Loan impairment charges... 15 23 5 1) — — 42 4 1 47
267 268 424 76 104 — 1,139 (34) @ 1,101
Operating expenses® ........ 280 171 247 62 37 — 797 ©) @) 786
Profit (loss) before income
tax expense..........ooceenee. $ (3 $ 97 $ 177 $ 14 $ 67 $ — $ 342 3 27 $ — $ 315
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Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Group Repor_ting
Adjustments/ Reporting Basis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments®  fications® Totals
(in millions)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016
Net interest income® ........ $ 609 $ 623 $ 522 $ 153 $ (20) $ 2) $ 188 $ 59) $ 70 $ 1,896
Other operating income...... 229 206 585 67 167 2 1,256 (112) (70) 1,075
Total operating income...... 838 829 1,107 220 147 — 3,141 (170) — 2,971
Loan impairment charges... 52 12 387 — — — 451 (72) (26) 353
786 817 720 220 147 — 2,690 (98) 26 2,618
Operating expenses®......... 810 495 714 173 156 — 2,348 (22) 26 2,352
Profit (loss) before income
taX eXpense......c.coveeeene $ (24 $ 322 % 6 $ 47 $ 9 $ — $ 342 % (76) $ — 3 266
Balances at end of -
period:
Total aSSets......oonvvereniennens $20,719 $28,832 $195803 $8,149 $ 471 $ — $253974 $ (45,673) $ 9 $ 208310
Totd loans, net................... 17,727 27,740 21,730 6,433 — — 73,630 (447) 3,382 76,565
GOOAWIll ..o 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Tota deposits........cccevneee 31,702 24,926 30,151 13,216 — — 99,995 (4,919) 36,006 131,082
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net interest income® ........ $ 597 $ 613 $ 392 $ 148 $ (16) $ 9 $ 175 $ (51) $ 175 $ 1,849
Other operating income...... 260 228 772 7 266 9 1,612 (36) 278) 1,398
Total operating income...... 857 841 1,164 225 250 — 3,337 (87) ?3) 3,247
Loan impairment charges... 52 37 17 2 — — 104 9) (1) 94
805 804 1,147 227 250 — 3,233 (78) 2 3,153
Operating expenses®......... 887 499 770 178 114 — 2,448 (33) 2 2,413
Profit (loss) before income
taX eXPense......c.coevvreene $ (B) $ 305 $ 377 $ 49 $ 136 $ — $ 78 $ (45) $ — $ 740
Balances at end of -
period:
Total aSSetS.....oevnvenrenienens $20,177 $32,143 $196535 $8491 $ 787 $ — $258133 $ (54,496) $ 729 $ 204,366
Totd loans, net................... 17,217 30,905 25,025 6,711 — — 79,858 286 4,120 84,264
GOOAWIll .o 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits........cccevennee 31,260 22,580 31,621 13,137 — — 98,598 (5,167) 38,019 131,450

@ Netinterestincome of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjjusted
for afunding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer |oans) and receive afunding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer
deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these charges/credits isto transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit
in Balance Sheet Management and more appropriately reflect the profitability of segments.

@ Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.
®  Represents adjustments associated with differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.
@ Represents differencesin financial statement presentation between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.

16. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are one of the sources of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs. Any
non-contractual dividend from HSBC Bank USA would require the approval of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency
("the OCC"). Approval isalso required if thetotal of al dividends HSBC Bank USA declaresin any year exceeds the cumulative
net profits for that year, combined with the profits for the two preceding years reduced by dividends attributable to those years.
Under a separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on hand, after
deducting actual losses and bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for a period of six months unless well secured, as
defined, and in the process of collection.
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The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance
with banking regulations in effect at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio” Ratio Amount Ratio Ratio

(dollars are in millions)
Common equity Tier 1 ratio:

HSBC USA ..o $ 17,939 45% @  135% $ 17,766 45% @  12.0%

HSBC Bank USA.........ccccoou...... 19,980 6.5 15.6 19,796 6.5 13.8
Tier 1 capitd ratio:

HSBCUSA ... 19,003 6.0 14.3 18,764 6.0 12.6

HSBC Bank USA.........ccccouu...... 22,334 8.0 17.4 22,109 8.0 15.4
Total capital ratio:

HSBCUSA.....c.coeeeeeereiee 23,951 10.0 18.0 24,425 10.0 16.5

HSBC Bank USA..........cucu..e. 26,715 10.0 20.8 26,670 10.0 18.6
Tier 1 leverageratio:

HSBC USA ..o 19,003 40 @ 91 18,764 40 @ 95

HSBC Bank USA..........ccccoou..... 22,334 5.0 11.0 22,109 5.0 11.6
Risk weighted assets:

HSBCUSA ... 132,885 148,421

HSBC Bank USA..........coc..... 128,290 143,393

@ HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized," as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized aswell-capitalized under
regulatory guidelines, abanking institution must have theratiosreflected in the above table, and must not be subject to adirective, order, or written agreement
to meet and maintain specific capital levels.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of awell-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown are
the regulatory minimum ratios.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulatorsissued afinal rule implementing the Basel 111 capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basel 111 final

rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, took effect in 2014 with certain

provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. As aresult, the capital ratios in the table above are reported

in accordance with the Basel 111 transition rules within the final rule. In addition, risk weighted assets in the table above are

calculated using the Basel 111 Standardized A pproach.

As previoudly reported, as a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel 111
regulatory capital and liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee, together with the impact of similar implementation by United
Kingdom banking regulators, we continue to review the composition of our capital structure. During the second quarter of 2016,
HSBC USA redeemed all of its remaining externally issued preferred stock, including its Floating Rate Non-Cumul ative Series F
Preferred Stock, Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series G Preferred Stock and 6.50 percent Non-Cumulative Series H Preferred
Stock, at their stated values of $25 per share, $1,000 per share and $1,000 per share, respectively, resulting in atotal cash payment
of $1,265 million. In connection with these redemptions, HSBC USA issued 1,265 shares of 6.0 percent Non-Cumulative Series
| Preferred Stock to HSBC North America in exchange for cash consideration of $1,265 million. Dividends on the 6.0 percent
Non-Cumulative Series | Preferred Stock are non-cumulative and will be payable when and if declared by our Board of Directors
semi-annually on the first business day of June and December of each year at the stated rate of 6.0 percent. The Series | Preferred
Stock may be redeemed at our option, in whole or in part, on or after May 31, 2021 or at any time after we receive notice from
the Federal Reserve Board ("FRB") that the Series | Preferred Stock may no longer be included in the calculation of regulatory
capital as aresult of any subsequent changes in applicable laws, rules or regulations, at a redemption price equal to $1,000,000
per share, plus an amount equal to any declared and unpaid dividends, but only after receipt of written approval from the FRB.
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17. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPES") primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPES based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE isa VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rightsto direct the activitiesof theentity that most significantly impactstheentity'seconomic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of aVIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or inthe aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation asthe primary beneficiary and hencerequire
usto consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be potentially
significant where we, among other things, (i) provide liquidity put options or other liquidity facilities to support the VIE's debt
obligations; (ii) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from the assets held by the VIE;
(iii) provide a financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilities issued by a VIE; (iv) sponsor the VIE in that we design,
organize and structure the transaction; and (v) retain afinancial or servicing interest in the VIE.

We are reguired to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In aimost all
cases, aqualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder isrequired to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs Thefollowing table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs at September 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that
eliminate in consolidation.

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Consolidated ~ Consolidated  Consolidated ~ Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Low income housing limited liability partnership:
OthEr BSSELS ...ttt ettt en s $ 248 % — 3 320 $ —
LoNg-termM debt.......cooveeeeeeeeeee e — 79 — 92
Interest, taxes and other liabilities.........ccoeiereienereiee — 55 — 68
TOA e e e re e peereens $ 248 $ 134 % 320 $ 160

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, al low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at afuture date. The LL P was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as a result, consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to thethird party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLPin other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
investments held by the LLP represent equity investmentsin the underlying low income housing partnerships. The LL P does not
consolidate the underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnerships that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the partnerships.

As apractical expedient, we amortize our low income housing investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the
proportional amortization method and present the associated tax benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense.
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Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIES that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by usand our maximum exposuretolossarising from our involvementsinthese VI Es, at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015:

Variable Interests Variable Interests Total Assets in Maximum
Held Classified Held Classified Unconsolidated Exposure
as Assets as Liabilities VIEs to Loss
(in millions)
At September 30, 2016
Structured note VENICIES........c.cooveeceeceeceecee e, $ 2884 $ 7 % 5903 $ 5,895
Limited partnership investments...........ccccovevvveeeencnennas 275 197 1,115 275
RefiNanCing SPE ..o 477 — 1,206 477
JL 10 = $ 3,636 $ 204 $ 8224 $ 6,647
At December 31, 2015
Asset-backed commercial paper conduit.............c.......... $ 58 $ — % 15,183 $ 3,362
Structured note VEhIiCIES.........c.occvviveceieeee e, 2,870 8 5,888 5,879
Limited partnership investments.............ccccevrcieicnenas 138 121 302 138
RefiNANCING SPEW ... 1,181 — 1,252 1,181
TOAl. .. e s $ 4247 $ 129 $ 22625 $ 10,560

@ During 2016, we revised the above table to include arefinancing SPE which was an unconsolidated VIE at December 31, 2015 as discussed further below.
Thisrevision did not have any impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Information on the types of variable interest entities with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable
interests held in those entities is presented bel ow.

Asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") conduit Prior to thethird quarter of 2016, we provided liquidity facilitiesto Regency,
a multi-seller ABCP conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. Customers sold financial assets, such as trade receivables, to
Regency, which funded the purchases by issuing short-term highly-rated commercial paper collateralized by the assets acquired.
We, along with other financial institutions, provided liquidity facilities to Regency in the form of lines of credit or asset purchase
commitments. These liquidity facilities supported transactions associated with a specific seller of assets to the conduit and we
were only required to provide support in the event of certain triggers associated with those transactions and assets. Our obligations
were generally pari passu with those of other institutions that also provided liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same
transactions. We did not provide any program-wide credit enhancements to Regency. Each seller of assets to an ABCP conduit
typically provides credit enhancementsin the form of asset overcollateralization and, therefore, bearsthe risk of first loss related
tothe specific assetstransferred. We did not transfer our own assetsto Regency. We a so did not providethe magjority of theliquidity
facilities to Regency. We had no ownership interests in, performed no administrative duties for, and did not service any of the
assets held by Regency. We were not the primary beneficiary and did not consolidate Regency. Credit risk related to the liquidity
facilities provided was managed by subjecting these facilities to our normal underwriting and risk management processes. The
$3,362 million maximum exposure to loss at December 31, 2015 presented in the table above represented the maximum amount
of loans and asset purchases we could have been required to fund under the liquidity facilities. The maximum loss exposure was
estimated assuming the facilities were fully drawn and the underlying collateralized assets were in default with zero recovery
value.

During the third quarter of 2016, Regency was restructured and these liquidity facilities were terminated. In lieu of providing the
liquidity facilities, we entered into risk participation agreements with Regency under which we purchased the specific underlying
third party customer receivables from Regency and committed to provide funding to the specific third party customers on an
ongoing basis as they draw or repay. Following the restructure, Regency will no longer issue commercial paper against these
specific receivables as they will be fully-funded from our balance sheet. As a result of terminating the liquidity facilities and
entering into the risk participation agreements, we no longer have avariable interest in Regency and we reported $2,224 million
and $1,566 million of third party loans and unfunded commitments, respectively, at September 30, 2016.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehicles in the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
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we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to 10ss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to zero and, at the same time, the
counterparty of the back-end swap defaultswith zero recovery. In certain instances, wehold credit default swapswith the structured
note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange for the payment of a premium.
Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets which are then passed on to the
holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the credit default swapswe hold are
not considered variable interests. We record al investments in, and derivative contracts with, unconsolidated structured note
vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Limited partnership investments Weinvest asalimited partner in partnershipsthat operate qualified affordable housing, renewable
energy and community development projects. The returns of these investments are generated primarily from the tax benefits,
including federal tax creditsand tax deductionsfrom operating lossesin the project companies. In addition, some of theinvestments
also help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. Certain limited partnership structures are considered to be VIES
because either (a) they do not have sufficient equity investment at risk or (b) the limited partners with equity at risk do not have
substantive kick-out rights through voting rights or substantive participating rights over the general partner. As alimited partner,
we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do not consolidate them. Our investments in these partnerships are recorded
in other assets on the consolidated bal ance sheet. The maximum exposure to loss shown in the tabl e above represents our recorded
investments.

Refinancing SPE We organized and provided loans to a SPE to purchase a senior secured financing facility from the originator
designed to finance a third party borrower's acquisition of a portfolio of commercial rea estate loans in Mexico. Interest and
principal repayments of the prepayable financing facility are dependent on and are secured by the rental cash flows generated from
the underlying commercial real estate properties. The financing facility contains additional credit enhancements, including a 15
percent equity subordinationintheborrower'scapital structure and afinancial guarantee over 25 percent of the outstanding balance
provided by the borrower's parent.

The SPE is arefinancing vehicle designed to secure term financing from external investors to repay our loans. The loans issued
to the SPE are supported by the financing facility and the security interests in the commercial real estate loans and the credit
enhancements. The refinancing vehicleis aVIE because it does not have sufficient equity investment at risk to permit the entity
to finance the activities without additional subordination provided by any parties. We have avariable interest in the VIE through
our ownership of the loans. In view of the purpose and design of the SPE, the overall funding structure, the additional credit
enhancements and the risks inherent in the VVIE, we concluded the investors absorb an insignificant amount of expected loss and/
or benefit in the VIE. Rather, the borrower and its parent take on the risks and benefitsin the VI E through the credit enhancements
provided to the holder of the financing facility. In addition, the investors do not have the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and, therefore, we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The
maximum exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our investment in the loans without consideration of any recovery
benefits from the credit enhancements.

Third-party sponsored securitization entities We invest in asset-backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization
entitieswhich may be considered VIESs. Theinvestments are transacted at arm's-length and decisionsto invest are based on acredit
analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to
direct the activities of theseissuers. As such, we do not consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other
involvementsin servicing or managing the collateral assetsor providefinancial or liquidity support to theseissuerswhich potentially
giverisetorisk of lossexposure. Theseinvestmentsareanintegral part of thedisclosurein Note 2, "Trading Assetsand Liabilities,”
Note 3, "Securities," and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements,” and, therefore, are not disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.

18. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements

Guarantee Arrangements Aspart of our normal operations, weenter into credit derivativesand various off-bal ance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principaly in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.
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The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. Following the table is a description of the
various arrangements.

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss
(in millions)
Credit deriVativVEST® ...t $ (682) $ 68248 $ (2621) $ 91,435
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations®® ..................... — 5,539 — 5,842
Performance standby |etters of credit, net of participations®® .................. — 2,887 — 3,008
Liquidity asset purchase agreements™ ...........cooocooovoeeveeeeeeeseeeeeeeseeesse. — — — 3,362
TOMAl ..ot $ (682 $ 76,674 $ (2,621) $ 103,647

@ Includes$38,642 million and $44,130 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliatesat September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
@ Includes $1,204 million and $910 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

®  For standby letters of credit and liquidity asset purchase agreements, maximum |oss represents |osses to be recognized assuming the letter of credit and
liquidity facilities have been fully drawn and the obligors have defaulted with zero recovery.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse
arrangements.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivativesarefinancia instrumentsthat transfer the credit risk of areference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
the form of credit default swaps, with variousinstitutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protectionto acounterparty that holdsthe reference obligation, the arrangement iseffectively afinancial guarantee onthereference
obligation. Under acredit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimbursethe credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of acredit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when a credit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.

We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net sell protection position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions at September
30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional
(in millions)
Sell-protection credit derivative poSitions...........ccoeeecerierienienieneneen, $ (682) $ 68,248 $ (2,621) $ 91,435
Buy-protection credit derivative poSitions............cccveererenenenennenens 889 75,267 2,789 96,635
NEE POSIIOND ...t enene $ 207 $ 7019 $ 168 $ 52200

@ positionsare presented net in thetabl e aboveto provide acomplete analysisof our risk exposure and depict theway we manage our credit derivative portfolio.
The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.
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Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit isissued to athird party for the benefit of a customer and is a guarantee that
the customer will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to
the third party beneficiary if the customer fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of
credit: performance and financial. A performance standby letter of credit isissued where the customer isrequired to perform some
non-financial contractual obligation, such asthe performance of aspecific act, whereasafinancial standby letter of credit isissued
wherethe customer'scontractual obligationisof afinancial nature, such asthe repayment of aloan or debt instrument. At September
30, 2016, thetotal amount of outstanding financia standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net
of participations) were $5,539 million and $2,887 million, respectively. At December 31, 2015, the total amount of outstanding
financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net of participations) were $5,842 million
and $3,008 million, respectively.

Theissuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other
liahilities are deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $49 million and $54 million at September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters
of credit of $38 million and $19 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financial standby letters of credit at September 30, 2016 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors or the Transactions

Average
Life Investment Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives”

Single name credit default swaps ("CDS")....ccceeeveerercreneenn. 23 $ 35310 $ 18,357 $ 53,667

SIrUCtUred CDS........o e 0.8 3,719 491 4,210

Index credit derivVatiVES ........ccvcceeeeee e 33 4,077 3,107 7,184

Total FELUrN SWaPS.....ccveeiereeieeriesieseeseeieee et 2.6 2,837 351 3,188
ST oo - ST 45,943 22,306 68,249
Standby Letters of Credit® ..o 1.0 5,597 2,829 8,426
LI = S $ 51540 $ 25135 $ 76,675

@ The credit ratingsin the table represent external credit ratings for classification asinvestment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our internal credit ratings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based
on ascalewhich rankstherisk of default of acustomer. The credit grades are assigned and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the customer's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performancetoindustry peersand perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratingsto outside
externa rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.

A non-investment grade rating of areferenced abligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Liquidity asset purchase agreements Prior to the third quarter of 2016, we provided liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller
ABCPconduit consolidated by an HSBC &ffiliate. Regency financed the purchase of individual assets by issuing commercial paper
to third party investors. Each liquidity facility was transaction specific and had a maximum limit. Pursuant to the liquidity
agreements, we were obligated, subject to certain limitations, to advance funds in an amount not to exceed the face value of the
commercia paper in the event Regency was unable or unwilling to refinance its commercial paper. A liquidity asset purchase
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agreement is economically a conditional written put option issued to the conduit where the exercise price is the face value of the
commercial paper. At December 31, 2015 wehad i ssued $3,362 million of liquidity facilitiesto provideliquidity support to Regency.
During the third quarter of 2016, Regency was restructured and these liquidity facilities were terminated. See Note 17, "Variable
Interest Entities," for further discussion.

Clearinghouses and exchanges We are a member of various exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or
derivativescontracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, membersof aclearinghouse
may be required to contribute to aguaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearinghouse. As a member, we may be
required to pay aproportionate share of thefinancial obligations of another member who defaultsonits obligationsto the exchange
or the clearinghouse. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had exhausted its resources.
Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Securitization Activity In addition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate HSI's
wholeloan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loansto HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters" in Note
27,"Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2015 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our Form
10-Qfor thethree month period ended March 31, 2016 for additional discussion of related exposure. There have been no significant
changes with regardsto this exposure since March 31, 2016. The outstanding principal balance on these |oans was approximately
$4.8 billion and $5.2 hillion at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations Historically, we originated and sold mortgage |oans, primarily to government sponsored
entities, and provided various representations and warrantiesrelated to, among other things, the ownership of theloans, thevalidity
of the liens, the loan selection and origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the agencies.
In the event of abreach of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects
or to indemnify the buyers. Our contractual obligation arises only when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered
and repurchase is demanded. As aresult of settlements with FNMA and FHLMC during 2013 and 2014, the repurchase exposure
associated with these sales has been substantially resolved. In addition, with the conversion of our mortgage processing and
servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013, new agency eligible originations are sold directly to PHH Mortgage and PHH
Mortgage is responsible for origination representations and warranties for all loans purchased.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses aswell asthe
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $9 million and $5 million at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Thefollowing table summarizesthe changein our estimated repurchase liability during thethree and nine months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Balance at beginning Of PEMOU ..o $ 13 $ 21 §$ 17 $ 27
Decrease in liability recorded through €arnings.............cccooeeennnnnnnnneeeeenenee — 2 3) (7
REEIIZE IOSSES ...ttt bbbttt Q) — ) (1)
Balance at end Of PEIIOU ......ccovviieeiirrece et $ 12 $ 19 % 12 $ 19

Our remaining repurchase liability of $12 million at September 30, 2016 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been
incurred, including interest, arising from breaches of representations and warranties associated with mortgage |oans sold. Because
the level of mortgage loan repurchase |osses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external
risk factors such as housing market trends that may change, the level of the liability for mortgage loan repurchase | osses requires
significant judgment. We continue to evaluate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As
these estimates are influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably
possible that they could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between
zero and $25 million at September 30, 2016. This estimated range of reasonably possible losses was determined based upon
modifying the assumptions utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible
adverse assumptions.
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Pledged Assets
Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2016

2015
(in millions)
Interest bearing deposits With BaNKS...........coeieieicccec e s $ 1274 $ 676
TIAOING BSSELSY ...t en e es s een e een e 3,323 3,802
Securities avail@ble-fOr-SAED ..o eeesee st s st es et 10,417 11,092
SECUNtIES NEIA-TO-MELUNITY ..ottt st be b e 3,718 3,293
LOANS ...ttt ettt ettt e et ee et et ee e er et en e eeeen 18,135 17,880
OUNEE BSSEES™ ... e e e ee e se e s ee s ee e eeeee s seeeeseeeseeeeeeneenes 644 1,765
02 TR oo TR $ 37511 $ 38508

@ Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.

@ Securities available-for-sale are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings,
as well as providing capacity for potential secured borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") and the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.

@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to be reported on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that could be sold or repledged was $658 million and $1,000 million
at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that could be sold or repledged was
$3,323 million and $3,797 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Thefair value of collateral we accepted under security resale agreements but not reported on the consolidated balance sheet was
$32,118 million and $25,058 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, discussed further below. Of
this collateral, $26,478 million and $19,558 million could be sold or repledged at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively, of which $1,409 million and $3,400 million, respectively, had been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase
agreements or to cover short sales.

Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resal e and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
itisour policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreementsisregularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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Thefollowing table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset at September 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet™® Balance Sheet Instruments @ Pledged Net Amount ©
(in millions)
At September 30, 2016:
Assets:
Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 32118 $ 1,404 % 30,714 % 30,680 $ — 3 34
Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 5390 $ 1,404 $ 3,986 $ 3,986 $ — $ —
At December 31, 2015:
Assets:
Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 25058 $ 5211 $ 19,847 $ 19845 $ — $ 2
Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 8,197 $ 5211 $ 2986 $ 2954 $ — 3 32

@ Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the
applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.
Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.

@)
(©)]

Thefollowingtableprovidestheclassof collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreementsaccounted
for as secured borrowings at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

Overnight Greater
and Up to 30 31to 90 91 Days to Than One
Continuous Days Days One Year Year Total
(in millions)
At September 30, 2016:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency and
sponsored entity SECUFtieS........cccoereeeeerrerenienne, $ 1404 $ 311 % — % 368 $ 3307 $ 5,39
At December 31, 2015:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency and
sponsored entity SECUMtIES. .......oeveveerereeeeeeererenns $ 1764 $ 3457 $ — $ — $ 2976 $ 8197
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19. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework™). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have
aternativeuse and, assuch, thefair value of financia instruments should be determined using an “in-exchange” valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
agroup of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of agroup of assets or liabilitiesif certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to agroup of derivativeinstrumentswith offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not available, val uation techniques that incorporate rel evant transaction dataand market
parametersreflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration areapplied. Whereapplicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the marketsin which the transactions occur.
Thefair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financia liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the partiesto the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to afinancial liability isrecorded toreflect the default risk of HUSI. See"Valuation Techniques - Derivatives'
below for additional details.

Liquidity risk adjustment - Theliquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such away that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of agroup of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustmentsrelate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Wherefair value measurements are determined using aninternal valuation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different val uation techniques are avail abl e, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.

We apply stress scenariosin determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustmentsfor Level 3fair valuesby reviewing
thehistorical datafor unobservableinputs(e.g., correlation, vol atility). Somestressscenariosinvolveat | east a95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). We also utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued using
internally developed models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Valuation of uncollateralized derivatives - During 2014, we adopted a funding fair value adjustment ("FFVA") to reflect the
estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure
at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate. See"Valuation Techniques- Derivatives' below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy asfollows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputsinclude quoted pricesfor similar assets or liabilitiesin active
markets, quoted pricesfor identical or similar assetsor liabilitiesin marketsthat are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation model swhereall significant inputsare observable, such asinterest ratesand yield curvesthat are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.
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Level 3valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservableinputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
inputs.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levelsin each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at
the end of each reporting period.

Valuation Control Framework We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by afunction independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination
of fair values rests with Finance. Finance has established an independent price validation process to ensure that the assets and
liabilities measured at fair value are properly stated.

A valuation committee, chaired by the Head of Product Control, meets monthly to review, monitor and discuss significant valuation
matters arising from credit and market risks. The committee is responsible for reviewing and approving valuation policies and
proceduresincluding any val uation adjustments pertai ning to, among other things, independent price verification, market liquidity,
unobservableinputs, model uncertainty and counterparty credit risk. All valuation models arereviewed by the val uation committee
intermsof model devel opment, enhancementsand performance. All model sareindependently reviewed by theM arketsIndependent
Model Review function and applicable valuation model recommendations are reported to and discussed with the valuation
committee. Significant valuation risksidentified in business activities are corroborated and addressed by the committee members
and, where applicable, are escalated to the Chief Financial Officer of HUSI and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotationsfrom at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:

= dimilarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;

= collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark
indices;

= consistency among different pricing sources,

= thevaluation approach and the methodol ogies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;

= the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;

= the source of the fair value information; and

= whether the security istraded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from dealers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustmentsto fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and thefair value measurement becomes|esstransparent, Finance will apply moredetailed proceduresto understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop afair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurementsaredetermined usinginternal valuation models, Financewill validatethefair valuemeasurement by either devel oping
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date. Any significant valuation adjustments are reported to and discussed
with the valuation committee.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value estimates, methods and assumptions set forth below for our financial
instruments, including those financial instruments carried at cost, are made solely to comply with disclosuresrequired by generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
included in this report.
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The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments at September 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015:

Carrying Fair

September 30, 2016 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term finanCial 8SSELS ......cvvvvevrveecrre e, $ 18,062 $ 18,062 $ 903 $ 17,139 $ 20
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
1= | R 29,945 29,945 — 29,945 —
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto
resell designated under fair value option ..........ccccceeveeieeiencnnene 769 769 — 769 —
Non-derivative trading aSSetS........ccovvvveveniesie e 15,912 15,912 4,374 8,463 3,075
DENVALIVES. ....c.eevireeiirieiisieiisieestees ettt ssenes 3,927 3,927 5 3,904 18
SECUNTIES ..ttt st 54,231 54,562 26,435 28,127 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses................... 57,061 58,676 — — 58,676
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOF SAIE....eieie e 649 649 — 649 —
Commercial loansheld for Sal€........ccveieeeceeviiceecee e 92 92 — 92 _
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10Sses ... 19,504 18,753 — — 18,753
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential mortgages and home equity mortgages................. 971 972 — 18 954
Other CONSUMIE ..ottt e 75 75 — — 75
Financia liabilities:
Short-term financia liabilities........cccocvvvvrvvv s, $ 3407 $ 3469 $ — $ 3449 $ 20
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities.........cccceevveeererrerseees e 112,211 112,211 — 112,211 —
FiXed MatUMtiES......cocoeirereee e 11,399 11,434 — 11,434 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ..........ccoeeeecerienccnnns 7,472 7,472 — 6,068 1,404
Non-derivative trading liabilities.........cc.ccoovvievievvnierercreeceeeeens 1,079 1,079 1,030 49 —
DENVALIVES. ....c.eevireeiirieiisieiisieestees ettt ssenes 6,897 6,897 8 6,877 12
Short-term borrowings designated under fair value option........... 2,675 2,675 — 2,675 —
LONg-tErM debt .....ccveceeecee e 29,501 30,442 — 30,442 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ..................... 9,999 9,999 — 9,486 513
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Carrying Fair
December 31, 2015 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term finanCial aSSELS ........ceovrvrereivrerreee e $ 8494 $ 8494 $ 968 $ 7478 $ 48
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
FESELL ... 19,847 19,847 — 19,847 —
Non-derivative trading @SSetS .........ccerereieirere e 11,935 11,935 3,088 5,756 3,091
DEMNVALIVES. ..ottt ettt ennens 5,614 5,614 5 5,579 30
SECUMTIES ..ttt 49,797 49,938 21,924 28,014 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses................... 61,674 62,417 — — 62,417
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOr SBIE.....ee e e e 151 151 — 151 —
Commercial loansheld for sale........ccoevvevveininre e 1,944 1,958 — 55 1,903
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10sses..........ccoeeee. 20,331 19,185 — — 19,185
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages.......ccovvereriererene e 11 11 — 7 4
Other CONSUMET .......ccveeeeeeeeeeeeeeiere e e e e enenes 79 79 — — 79
Financia liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities..........ccceveeeieeeeeeeeeeee e, $ 3082 $ 3124 $ — $ 3076 $ 48
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities.........coeereireinereses e 101,146 101,146 — 101,146 —
FiXed MaIUMTTIES ......cviveirieecees e 10,514 10,508 — 10,508 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ...........cocveveerrrereenn. 6,919 6,919 — 5,052 1,867
Non-derivative trading liabilities............coeieieneiiiieenee 1,049 1,049 363 686 —
DENVALIVES.....c.ccviieriieiisieti ettt renesnenes 6,993 6,993 9 6,957 27
Short-term borrowings designated under fair value option........... 1,976 1,976 — 1,976 —
LONG-term debt ........ooveiveiieirerese s 24,338 24,874 — 24,874 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ............cccc...... 9,171 9,171 — 8,425 746

Loan values presented in the table above were determined using the Fair Value Framework for measuring fair value, which is
based on our best estimate of the amount within a range of value we believe would be received in a sale as of the balance sheet
date (i.e. exit price). The secondary market demand and estimated value for our residential mortgage loans has been heavily
influenced by economic conditions, including house price depreciation, elevated unemployment, changes in consumer behavior,
changes in discount rates and the lack of financing options available to support the purchase of loans. For certain consumer loans
which weretransferred to held for sale during the third quarter of 2016, investorsincorporate numerous assumptionsin predicting
cash flows, such as future interest rates, higher charge-off levels, slower voluntary prepayment speeds, different default and loss
curves and estimated collateral values than we, as the servicer of these loans, believe will ultimately be the case. The investor's
valuation process reflects this difference in overall cost of capital assumptions aswell asthe potential volatility in the underlying
cash flow assumptions, the combination of which may yield asignificant pricing discount from our intrinsic value. The estimated
fair values at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 reflect these market conditions. The increase in the relative fair value
of our residential mortgage loans since December 31, 2015 reflects the conditions in the housing industry which have continued
to show improvement in 2016 due to improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased
investor demand for these types of loans.

61



HSBC USA Inc.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and indicates the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value:

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
September 30, 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Securities purchased under agreementsto resell® ..........oooocoveveoreeeoneeron. $ — 3 769 $ — 3 769 $ — 3 769
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 4,374 180 — 4,554 — 4,554
Collateralized debt obligations............cccccvrieiiirineiinreee e — — 191 191 — 191
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOMtQagesS ........ccrvreeuereririeerenieeeres et — 99 — 99 — 99
SHUENE LOBNS.......ouieiiriiiiiciircicnc e — 84 — 84 — 84
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUMtIES........cccovrvrerirereierrieiieee — — 2,884 2,884 — 2,884
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities.........ccccoveenrrcicnneccncniceene — 5,416 — 5,416 — 5,416
EQUILY SECUMEIES ...ttt — 15 — 15 — 15
Precious MetalStrading ..........coeeerreernieere e — 2,669 — 2,669 — 2,669
Derivatives®:
INEErest rate COMIACES..........cvvvreeiririireres s 55 47,841 3 47,899 — 47,899
Foreign exchange CONLractS.........ccoveerrieiree et — 19,459 14 19,473 — 19,473
EQUILY CONETACLS.....c.cieeieiirieieireeie ettt — 1,883 98 1,981 — 1,981
Precious Metals CONIaCES ........ccciveieiicireereereere e 38 740 — 778 — 778
Credit CONLIACS........coeveiierieieiie s — 1,460 220 1,680 — 1,680
DENVAIVES NELING ...cecvrvcieeiieieiieeceee s — — — — (67,884) (67,884)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. ...t 93 71,383 335 71,811 (67,884) 3,927
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 26,435 13,187 — 39,622 — 39,622
Asset-backed securities:
COmMMErCial MOMGAgES.......veveueereeieeririee sttt see e es — 4 — 4 — 4
HOME EOUILY ...ttt — 65 — 65 — 65
OLNEY ...ttt — 494 — 494 — 494
Debt Securitiesissued by foreign entities..........ccoveevrreienneccncsineene — 457 — 457 — 457
EQUILY SECUMEIES ...ttt s — 158 — 158 — 158
L0BNS oot eessssss e — 649 — 649 — 649
Mortgage SErVICing FIGhES®..........o.ovverereeeeesese s sesssesseeees — 95 — 95 — 95
TOtAl @SSEES .. ueeererietee e $ 30902 $ 95724 $ 3410 $ 130,036 $ (67,884) $ 62,152
Liabilities: -
DOMESHC AEPOSIESP......oooveeeeereee s eeseeeseee s ssnenen $ — $ 6068 $ 1404 $ 7472 $ — $ 7472
Trading ligbilities, excluding derivatives............cocoeenreenneneienreienesieiens 1,030 49 — 1,079 — 1,079
Derivatives®:
INEErest rat COMIACES..........cvvvreeireririreris s 60 48,942 2 49,004 — 49,004
Foreign exchange CoNLractS.........ccoveirreinriee e 6 17,684 14 17,704 — 17,704
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.cieveiirieieiseeie et — 1,614 93 1,707 — 1,707
Precious Metals CONIaCES ........ccciveieiicireereereere e 21 653 — 674 — 674
Credit CONLIACS........cveveriereieieriee s — 1,511 13 1,524 — 1,524
DENVAIVES NELING ...cvevviveecieieicieeceee s — — — — (63,716) (63,716)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. ...t 87 70,404 122 70,613 (63,716) 6,897
ShOrt-terM DOMFOWINGS? ......oeveereeeereeseeseeeseeesesese s ssesseenes — 2,675 — 2,675 — 2,675
LONG-LEM AEBED ... ssnenen — 9,486 513 9,999 — 9,999
Total [HabIlItIES. ..o $ 1117 $ 88682 $ 2,039 $ 91838 $ (63,716) $ 28,122
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 3,088 $ 167 $ — $ 3255 % — $ 3255
Obligations of U. S. States and political subdiviSions...........cccccevevvrnneee — 559 — 559 — 559
Collateralized debt obligations — — 221 221 — 221
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOrtgages ..........coueuriieiiiiiiciiceeieieeeeeeeeneeeeneees — 114 — 114 — 114
Student 10aNS ......ccevevereeirreeerenes — 89 — 89 — 89
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUNtIES........ccvovvveeeireeeenreeiene — — 2,870 2,870 — 2,870
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
Corporate................. — 55 — 55 — 55
Government-backed — 3,974 — 3,974 — 3,974
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt — 18 — 18 — 18
Precious metals trading — 780 — 780 — 780
Derivatives®:
INtErest rate CONEIACES.......cveiiiieiiiciieee e s 26 35,241 2 35,269 — 35,269
Foreign exchange contracts.. — 24,161 16 24,177 — 24,177
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.eeeieeiieeiecree ettt — 1,687 119 1,806 — 1,806
Precious MetalS CONIaCtS ........occueerireeeriririre st 38 891 — 929 — 929
Credit contracts... — 3,676 209 3,885 — 3,885
DeriVatiVES NEHING ....cccveuiveiiiiiiiiiiiciericericeeie e — — — — (60,452) (60,452)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. ....c.ceveeeieireeeie e es 64 65,656 346 66,066 (60,452) 5,614
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 21,924 12,621 — 34,545 — 34,545
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions............cccccvvvevennneee. — 348 — 348 — 348
Asset-backed securities:
— 9 — 9 — 9
— 75 — 75 — 75
— 89 — 89 — 89
— 546 — 546 — 546
— 161 — 161 — 161
— 151 — 151 — 151
Mortgage Servicing HONES® ... — — 140 140 — 140
TOtAl BSSELS ... $ 25076 $ 85412 $ 3577 $ 114065 $ (60452) $ 53,613
Liabilities: -
DOMESHC ABPOSIESD.......ooeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeseeesesssseeeesssseeesesseesssseeesesssneees $ — $ 5052 $ 187 $ 6919 $ — $ 6919
Trading lighilities, excluding derivatives............ococeoenreerireneienreenesnens 363 686 — 1,049 — 1,049
Derivatives®:
INtErest rate CONLIACES.......cueieiieciieiicie e e s 28 35,432 1 35,461 — 35,461
Foreign exchange CONraCES.........coueveeeririrerireee et 15 22,405 16 22,436 — 22,436
Equity contracts............. — 1,560 202 1,762 — 1,762
Precious MetalS CONLIaCtS ........occueerireeeriririceseeie et 39 552 — 501 — 591
Credit CONIACES..... .ottt s ene s — 3,753 30 3,783 — 3,783
Derivatives netting . — — — — (57,040) (57,040)
TOtAl AENVALIVES. ..ot 82 63,702 249 64,033 (57,040) 6,993
SHOrt-termM BOMFOWINGS? ........vvveoeveeeeeeeeseee e sensseean — 1,976 — 1,976 — 1,976
Long-term debt® .. — 8,425 746 9,171 — 9,171
Total labilitieS......cooveeveeeiee s $ 445 $ 79841 $ 2862 $ 83148 $ (57,0400 $ 26,108

@ Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.
@ SeeNote 11, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

®  Includes trading derivative assets of $3,674 million and $5,150 million and trading derivative liabilities of $6,458 million and $6,406 million at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, as well as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives.
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@ Includes certain commercial loans held for sale which we have elected to apply the fair value option. See Note 6, "L oans Held for Sale," for further
information.

®  SeeNote 7, "Intangible Assets,” and Note 9, "Other Assets Held for Sale," for additional information.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assetsand liabilitiesduring the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. Asarisk management
practice, we may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that
areclassifiedasLeve 1or Level 2 measurementswithinthefair valuehierarchy. SincethoseLevel 1 and Level 2 risk management
positionsare not included in the table bel ow, theinformation provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities
related to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jul. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2016 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2016 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations........cccveuenee $ 201 $ 4 $ — 3 — % — $ @@ s — 3 — $ 191 $ 2
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities 2,879 1 — 4 — — — — 2,884 1
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts........ 1 — — — — — — — 1 -
Foreign exchange
CONLIaCES....ccovreeeeererenens — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts (15) 20 — — — ) 1) 3 5 —
Credit contracts................. 188 11 — — — 8 — — 207 3)
Mortgage servicing rights® . 104 — (4) — — (5) — (95) — @)
Total assets......ccervereeverrenee $ 3358 $ 36 $ 4 3 4 3% — $ (13) $ 1 $ 92) $ 3283 $ 4)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™............ $(1,677) $ — 3 G $ — $ (42 % 300 $ (39 $ 57 $ (1,404) $ (26)
Long-term debt™ ................ (573) — (31) — (86) 110 — 67 (513) (42)
Total liabilities.........cccerenee. $(2,250) $ — $ 34) $ — $ (128) $ 410 $ 39 $ 124 $ (1,917) $ (68)
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2016 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2016 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations............cc....... $ 221 % 4 $ — 3% — 3% — % (26) 3 — — $ 191 $ )
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities 2,870 — — 14 — —_ —_ —_ 2,884 —_
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... 1 — — — — — — — 1 _
Foreign exchange
contracts — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts (83) 75 — — — 10 — 3 5 50
Credit contracts.................. 179 27 — — — 1 — — 207 18
Mortgage servicing rights®.. 140 — (28) — — 17) — (95) — (28)
Total 8SSEtS...ceovvereerrrerreenne $ 3328 $ 98 $ (28) $ 14 3 — $ (32) $ — $ (92) $ 3283 $ 31
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits®.............. $(1,867) $ — $  (@$ — $ (2060 $ 59 $ (54 $ 198 $ (1,404) $ (46)
Long-term debt® .............. (746) — (23) — (216) 259 — 213 (513) (23)
Total liabilities.......ocevrereneene $(2,613) $ — $ 97) $ — $ (422) $ 858 § (54) $ 411 $ (1,917) $ (69)
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jul. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
obligations........ccccuuveeee $ 240 $ 3 % — $ — $ — 3% (1 3 — % — $ 233 % —
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities 2,855 — — 7 — — — — 2,862 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts........ 1 — 1) — — — — — — (@)
Foreign exchange
CONTaCES....coovvnieerrereneas — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts................. (10) (70) — — — 17 — 2 (95) (79)
Credit contracts................. 179 8 — — — — — — 171 @]
Mortgage servicing rights® . 158 — (21) — — ) — — 130 (21)
Total assets......cccervereererrenees $ 3423 $ (75) $ (22) $ 7 $ — $ (34 $ — $ 2 $ 3301 $ (108)
Liabilities: -
Domestic deposits™ ............ $(1,817) $ — % 9 % — $ () $ 130 $ (4 $ 54 $ (L,754) $ 15
Long-term debt® ... . (662) — 73 — (186) 13 @ 18 (745) 71
Total liabilities........c.cconenn. $(2,479) $ — $ 82 $ — $ (2720 $ 143 $ (45) $ 72 $ (2499 $ 86
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Total Gains and

(Losses) Included in® Current
Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations.........cceeeee. $ 253 % 15 $ — % — % — % (35 3 — $ — $ 233 % 7
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities 2,840 — — 22 — — — — 2,862 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... — — — — — — — — — —
Foreign exchange
CONEIaCLS...cevrereecrerenee — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts................. 42 (74) — — — (65) — 2 (95 (101)
Credit contracts 210 (30) — — — 9) — — 171 (60)
Mortgage servicing rights®.. 159 — (13) — — (16) — — 130 (13)
Total 8SSEtS...cveerverecrerrerinnns $3504 $ (89 $ (13) $ 2 $ — $ (125) $ — $ 2 $ 3301 $ (167)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™.............. $(1,968) $ — 3 4 $ — $ (2700 $ 313 $ 66) $ 233 $ (1,754) $ 21
Long-term debt® ................. (647) — 79 — (423) 197 @ 50 (745) 81
Total liabilities.........cccerurueuene $(2,615) $ — $ 83 $ — $ (693) $ 510 $ 67) $ 283 $ (2499 $ 102

(6]
@

Includes realized and unrealized gains and |osses.
Level 3 net derivativesincluded derivative assets of $335 million and derivative liabilities of $122 million at September 30, 2016 and derivative assets of

$304 million and derivative liabilities of $228 million at September 30, 2015.
@  SeeNote 7, "Intangible Assets," and Note 9, "Other Assets Held for Sale," for additional information.
@ SeeNote 11, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assetsand liabilities classified asLevel 3fair value measurements at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, 2016

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 191 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 2% - 5%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 6% - 7%
L oss severity rates 90% - 95%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,884  Discounted cash flows Spread volétility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNTIES .
Correlation between insurance clam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. 1 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 38% - 100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 15% - 21%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... 5 Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 10% - 50%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 58%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% - 15%
Credit derivative contracts...........ccovueee. 207  Option pricing model Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Domestic deposits (1,404) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 15% - 21%
(structured deposits)@..........ccoovvererneen. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 10% - 50%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 58%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)™@ ..... (513) Option adjusted discounted cash ~ Implied volatility of currency pairs 15% - 21%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 10% - 50%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 58%
correlation
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December 31, 2015

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ 221 Broker quotes or consensuspricing  Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
and, where applicable, discounted
cash flows
Conditional default rates 3%- 7%
Loss severity rates 90% - 99%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,870 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNEIES ..o
Correlation between insuranceclam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. 1 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 18% - 100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ . —  Option pricing model Implied volétility of currency pairs 18% - 22%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... (83) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 14% - 72%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 59%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% - 18%
Credit derivative contracts.........c.coeevenene. 179 Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of aportfolio  44% - 47%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights.........ccccoeeuennee 140 Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 11% - 50%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 14%
Estimated annualized costs to service  $87 - $329 per
account
Domestic deposits (1,867) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 18% - 22%
(structured deposits)@.........ccoooooeeneen. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 14% - 72%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 59%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)@ ... (746) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 18% - 22%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 14% - 72%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 59%
correlation

@

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of
counterparty credit risks, wearemarket neutral . Thecorrespondingintra-group derivativesare presented asequity derivativesandforeign exchangederivatives
inthetable.

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations ("CDQOs")

Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the mortgage loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by anumber
of factorsincluding the location of the mortgage collateral, the interest rate type of the mortgage |oans, borrowers credit and
sensitivity to interest rate movement. The prepayment rate of our CDOs portfolio istilted towards the low end of the range.

Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The default rate of our portfolio is close to the mid-
point of the range.

Loss severity rate - Included in our Level 3 CDOs portfolio are collateralized loan obligations (CLOs) and trust preferred
securities which are about equally distributed. The loss severity rate for trust preferred securities at September 30, 2016 is
about 1.8 timesthat of CLOs.

Derivatives

Correlation of default - The default correlation of agroup of credit exposures measuresthelikelihood that the credit references
within agroup will default together. The default correlation isasignificant input to structured credit products such as nth-to-
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default swaps. In addition, the correlation between the currency and the default risk of the reference creditsisacritical input
to aforeign currency denominated credit default swap where the correlation is not observable.

= Implied volatility - Theimplied volatility isasignificant pricing input for freestanding or embedded options including equity,
foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility isafunction of the nature of the underlying risk, the level of
strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine the implied
volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied volatilities are
derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairsis between 15 percent and
21 percent while the implied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 10 percent and 50 percent,
respectively, at September 30, 2016. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be widely
distributed at the portfolio level, the deviation of implied volatility on atrade-by-trade basisisnarrower. The average deviation
of implied volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 4 percent and 5 percent, respectively, at
September 30, 2016.

= Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the rel ative change in values among two or more
variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlationisakey input
indetermining thefair value of aderivativereferenced to abasket of variablessuch asequitiesor foreign currencies. A mgjority
of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation between equity/equity and
equity/equity index was between 47 percent and 58 percent at September 30, 2016.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized debt obligations- Probability of default, prepayment speed and | oss severity rate are significant unobservableinputs.
Significant increase (decrease) in these inputs will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of a collateralized debt
obligation. A change in assumption for default probability is often accompanied by adirectionally similar change in loss severity,
and a directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurements of certain corporate debt securities are affected by the fair
valueof theunderlying portfoliosof investmentsused ascollateral and themake-wholeguaranteeprovided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors' failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. The increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls below the
collateral call threshold is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among a basket of reference credit namesisasignificant unobservableinput if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. Significant increase (decrease) in
the unobservable input will result in alower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. A change in assumption for
default correlation is often accompanied by adirectionally similar changein default probability and lossrates of other credit names
in the basket.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
implied volatility isnot observable. Significant increase (decrease) in theimplied volatility will resultin ahigher (lower) fair value
of along position in the derivative contract.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we
transferred $57 million and $198 million, respectively, of domestic deposits and $67 million and $213 million, respectively, of
long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3 to Level 2 as aresult of the embedded derivative no
longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer to maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility.
During the third quarter of 2016, we transferred $95 million of mortgage servicing rights from Level 3 to Level 2 upon execution
of the sale agreement with athird party. Additionally, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we transferred
$39 million and $54 million, respectively, of domestic deposits, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2to Level
3asaresult of achangein the observability of underlying instrumentsthat resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2015, wetransferred $54 million and $233 million, respectively, of domestic
deposits and $18 million and $50 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level
3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in maturity and
there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we
transferred $44 million and $66 million, respectively, of domestic deposits, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from
Level 2to Level 3 asaresult of achangein the observability of underlying instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative
being unobservable.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) mortgage and
commercial loans classified as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets
that are written down to fair value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not
measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment).
Thefollowing table presentsthe fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has
beenrecorded at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. The gains(losses) during thethree and nine months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015 are also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
at September 30, 2016 For the Three For the Nine
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total September 30, 2016 ~ September 30, 2016
(in millions)
Residential mortgage and home equity
mortgage loans held for salé®.................... $ — $ — $ 958 $ 958 $ @ s (61)
Consumer 108NS@ ........oomreeeeeieeeeressesnnes — 32 — 32 (10) (19)
Commercial loansheld for sale® ................ — 19 — 19 @) (37)
Impaired commercial loans™ ...................... — — 420 420 7 (295)
Real estate owned® ..........coocoovvevoviereene. — 27 — 27 2 6
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
07 O $ — $ 78 $ 1378 $ 145 $ (25) $ (406)
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
at December 31, 2015 For the Three For the Nine
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total September 30,2015  September 30, 2015
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loansheldforsaleé®.. $ — $ 2 $ 3 $ 5 $ — $ —
ConsuMer 108NS@ ..........oveeeeeeeeeeereeseeses — 133 — 133 (6) (24)
Commercial loans held for sale® ................ — 55 — 55 ) (16)
Impaired commercial loans™ ...........c.c........ — = 116 116 (16) (31)
Real estate owned® ...........cocooooveererreeennane. — 22 — 22 1 3
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
DBSIS......vvvorverereissiese e $ — $ 212 $ 119 $ 331 $ (23 $ (68)

@ At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost. Certain residential mortgage and home equity

mortgage |oans held for sale have been classified as Level 3 fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy, including certain residential mortgage
and home equity mortgage |oans which were transferred to held for sale during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 for which significant inputsin
estimating fair value were unobservable and, to alesser extent, certain residential mortgage loans held for sale for which the underlying real estate properties
used to determine fair value areilliquid assets as a result of market conditions. Additionally, the fair value of these properties is affected by, among other
things, the location, the payment history and the completeness of the loan documentation.

Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the
underlying collateral. Total gains (losses) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 include amounts recorded on loansthat were subsequently
transferred to held for sale.

©® At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

Certain commercial loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the
credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves rea estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As aresult, these loans are classified asaLevel 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

®  Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair
value unadjusted for transaction costs.
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Thefollowingtablespresent quantitativeinformation about non-recurring fair valuemeasurementsof assetsand liabilitiesclassified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

At September 30, 2016

Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Residential mortgage and home equity mortgage loans held for Third party appraisal valuation
[OOSR PSSRSO $ 958  based on estimated |oss severities, Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
including collateral values and Market discount
market discount rate rate 8% - 14%
Valuation of third party appraisal
Impaired commercial 10anS............cccoeviriveririninininieseseseens 420 onunderlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
At December 31, 2015
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal
Residential mortgage loans held for sale.........ccccoeovnvcvricnnne, $ 3 onunderlying collateral Lossseverity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal
Impaired commercial 10ans............cccoceeeeierieeieeeecee e 116 onunderlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 70%

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Residential mortgage and home equity mortgage loans held for sale represent residential mortgage and home equity mortgage
loans which were transferred to held for sale during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and, to alesser extent, subprime
residential mortgage loans which were previously acquired with the intent of securitizing or selling them to third parties. The
weighted average loss severity rate for residential mortgage and home equity mortgage |oans held for sale was approximately 52
percent at September 30, 2016. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the
loans.

Impaired loans represent commercial loans. The weighted average severity rate for these loans was approximately 34 percent at
September 30, 2016. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques Following isadescription of valuation methodol ogies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value
and for estimating fair value for those financial instruments not recorded at fair value for which fair value disclosureis required.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities - The carrying amount of certain financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost is
considered to approximate fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and
generally have negligible credit risk. These itemsinclude cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer
acceptance assets and liabilities, short-term borrowings and dividends payable.

Federal funds sold and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements - We record certain
securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements at fair value. The fair value of these resale and repurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities.

The remaining federal funds sold and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements are
recorded at cost. A majority of these transactions are short-term in nature and, as such, the recorded amounts approximate fair
value. For transactions with long-dated maturities, fair value is based on dealer quotes for instruments with similar terms and
collateral.

Loans - Except for certain commercial loans held for sale for which the fair value option has been elected, we do not record loans
at fair value on arecurring basis. From timeto time, we record impairmentsto loans. The write-downs can be based on observable
market price of the loan, the underlying collateral value or a discounted cash flow analysis. In addition, fair value estimates are
determined based on the product type, financial characteristics, pricing features and maturity.

e Loans held for sale — Consumer and commercial loans held for sale (that are not designated under FV O as discussed below)
arerecorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair value estimates of consumer and commercial loans held for
sale are determined primarily using the discounted cash flow method using assumptions consistent with those which would
be used by market participants in valuing such loans. Valuation inputs include estimates of prepayment rates, default rates,
loss severities, collateral values and market rates of return. Where available, such inputs are derived from or corroborated by
observable market data. Since some loan pools may have features which are unique, the fair value measurement processes use
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significant unobservable inputs which are specific to the performance characteristics of the various loan portfolios. Where
available, we measure residential mortgage whole loans held for sale based on transaction prices of loan portfolios of similar
characteristics observed in the whole loan market. Adjustments are made to reflect differencesin collateral location, |oan-to-
valueratio, FICO scores, vintage year, default rates, the compl eteness of the loan documentation and other risk characteristics.

Commercial loans held for sale designated under FV O —We record certain commercial loans held for sale at fair value. Where
available, fair value is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker
guotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not
available, fair valueisdetermined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default
rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We
also consider loan specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate.

Commercial loans —Commercia loans and commercial real estate loans are valued by discounting the contractual cash flows,
adjusted for prepayments and the borrower’ s credit risk, using adiscount rate that reflectsthe current rates offered to borrowers
of similar credit standing for the remaining term to maturity and, when applicable, our own estimate of liquidity premium.

Commercial impaired loans— Generally represents collateral dependent commercial loans with fair value determined based
on pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Consumer loans — The estimated fair value of our consumer loans were determined by developing an approximate range of
value from amix of various sources as appropriate for the respective pool of assets. These sources included estimates from an
HSBC affiliate which reflect over-the-counter trading activity; trading input from other market participants which includes
observed primary and secondary trades; where appropriate, the impact of current estimated rating agency credit tranching
level swith the associated benchmark credit spreads; general discussionsheld directly with potential investors; and, at December
31, 2015, forward looking discounted cash flow models using assumptions consistent with those which would be used by
market participantsin val uing such|oans. Since someloan poolsmay havefeatureswhichareunique, thefair valuemeasurement
processes usesignificant unobservabl ei nputswhich are specificto the performance characteristics of thevariousloan portfolios.
For revolving products, the estimated fair value excludes future draws on the available credit line as well as other items and,
therefore, does not include the fair value of the entire relationship.

We perform analytical reviews of fair value changes on aquarterly basisand periodically validate our val uation methodol ogies
and assumptions based on the results of actual sales of loans with similar characteristics. In addition, from time to time, we
may engage athird party valuation specialist to measure thefair value of apool of loans. Portfolio risk management personnel
provide further validation through discussions with third party brokers and other market participants.

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and financial guarantees
are not included in the table. The magjority of the lending related commitments are not carried at fair value on arecurring basis nor
are they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar
commitments, which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on commitments and standby letters
of credit totaled $49 million and $54 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If aquoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
securities, internally devel oped val uation model sare used to determinefair val ues or validate quotes obtained from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions—As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or
quoted pricesfor similar securitieswith adjustmentsas necessary made using observabl einputswhich are market corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an active
market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar securities
with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government sponsored
mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based on pricing
information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including collateralized debt obligations— Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing
information obtai ned from independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying
collateral.

Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, a credit
spread scaleiscreated for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to determine
current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes. For securities
with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread model is incorporated to adjust the spreads determined above.
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Additionally, we survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark quotes and updated
Spreads.

«  Equity securities— Except for certain legacy investments in hedge funds, fair value measurements are determined based on
quoted prices for the identical security. For hedge fund investments, we receive monthly statements from the investment
manager with the estimated fair value.

The following tables provide additional information relating to asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt
obligations held at September 30, 2016:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities:™ Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
AAA FA Residential mortgages- Alt A........cccoeeevenene $ 48 3 — $ 48
Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 40 — 40
Student [0aNS .......cerireereree e 84 — 84
Total AAA Ao 172 — 172
BBB -B ..o Collateralized debt obligations...................... — 191 191
CCC-Unrated.........coovrieriniiiicicicnns Residential mortgages - Subprime.................. 11 — 11
$ 183 $ 191 $ 374

Available-for-sale securities backed by collateral:

Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A Commercial MOrtgages........ccoevveveeeeveerereenn. $ 4 3 — $ 4
Home equity - Alt A....eeeeeee e 65 — 65
OthEr ..o 494 — 494
Total AAA Ao $ 563 $ — $ 563

@ Weutilize S& Pasthe primary source of credit ratingsin the tables above. If S& Pratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used in that order.

Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, areval ued using val uation techniques. Thefair valuefor themajority of our derivativeinstrumentsaredetermined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as inputs to measure the fair value of collateralized derivatives. Historically, we valued uncollateralized
derivatives by discounting expected future cash flows at a benchmark interest rate, typically LIBOR or its equivalent. In line with
evolving industry practice, we changed this approach during 2014. We now view the OIS curve as the base discounting curve for
all derivatives, both collateralized and uncollateralized, and have adopted a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the
future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the Ol Srate.
Thisisan areain which afull industry consensus has not yet emerged. We will continue to monitor industry evolution and refine
the calculation methodol ogy as necessary.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:;

» Credit Derivatives —Usecredit default curvesand recovery rateswhich aregenerally provided by broker quotesand various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputsin their model valuation. Correlation is derived
using market quotes from brokers and various pricing services.
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» Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

e Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives— FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
guoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we also use implied volatility of currency pairs asinputs.

*  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
e Precious Meta Derivatives— Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

Asdiscussed earlier, we make fair value adjustmentsto model valuationsin order to ensure that those val ues represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect pricesin arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assets and own credit standing for financial liabilities (the "credit risk
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calcul ate the credit risk adjustment by
applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We aso take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
agreementsin determining credit risk adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spread of the
specific counterparty observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the counterparty is not available,
we usethe credit default spread of aspecific proxy (e.g. the credit default swap spread of the counterparty’s parent). Where specific
proxy credit default swap isnot available, we apply ablended approach based on acombination of credit default swapsreferencing
to credit names of similar credit standing and the historical rating-based probability of default.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we take title to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 45 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Mortgage servicing rights - We elected to measure residential mortgage servicing rights at fair value and, prior to March 2016,
classified them as intangible assets. In March 2016, we initiated an active program to sell our remaining MSRs portfolio and
reclassified them to held for salewithin other assets. At September 30, 2016, fair value for the residential mortgage servicing rights
isdetermined based upon the sales priceformul aas defined in the executed sal esagreement. Previously, fair valuefor theresidential
mortgage servicing rights was determined based on an option adjusted approach which involves discounting servicing cash flows
under various interest rate projections at risk-adjusted rates. The valuation model also incorporated our best estimate of the
prepayment speed of the mortgage loans, cost to service and discount rates which are unobservable.

Structured notes and deposits — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded derivatives and are
electedtobemeasuredat fair valueintheir entirety under fair val ue option accounting principles. Theval uation of hybridinstruments
ispredominantly driven by the derivativefeaturesembedded within theinstrumentsand own credit risk. The val uation of embedded
derivatives may include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names or volatility of the
embedded option. Cash flows of the funded notes and depositsin their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at the relevant interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads so applied
are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets, internal funding rates,
and the structured note rates in recent executions.

Long-term debt — We elected to apply fair value option to certain own debt issuances for which fair value hedge accounting
otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary markets and, as such,
thefair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these instruments
reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived from the spreads at the
measurement date.

For long-term debt recorded at cost, fair value is determined based on quoted market prices where available. If quoted market
pricesare not available, fair valueisbased on dealer quotes, quoted prices of similar instruments, or internally devel oped valuation
models adjusted for own credit risks.

Deposits — For fair value disclosure purposes, the carrying amount of deposits with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings, and
certain money market deposits), which represents the amount payable upon demand, is considered to generally approximate fair
value. For deposits with stated maturities, fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows using market interest rates currently
offered on deposits with similar characteristics and maturities.
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20. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2015 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in our Form 10-Q for the three month period ended
March 31, 2016 (the "2016 First Quarter Form 10-Q") and the six month period ended June 30, 2016 (the "2016 Second Quarter
Form 10-Q"). Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our disclosure in our 2015 Form 10-K, our 2016
First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2016 Second Quarter Form 10-Q are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below, and in our 2015 Form 10-K, our 2016 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2016 Second
Quarter Form 10-Q, in the ordinary course of business, we are routinely named as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal
actions and proceedings relating to activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and proceedings may
include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course
of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations and
proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adversejudgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions
or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas
and orders seeking documents, testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our regulated activities.

In view of the inherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regulatory matters, particularly
where the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we
cannot determine with any degree of certainty thetiming or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties
or business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present |0ss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
fromtimetotime, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

For thelegal mattersdisclosed bel ow, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, aswell asfor thelegal matters
disclosed in Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2015 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory
Matters," in our 2016 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2016 Second Quarter Form 10-Q as to which aloss in excess of accrued
liahility is reasonably possible in future periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of
which management believes it can make areliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $330 million
for HUSI. The legal matters underlying this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and actual results may differ
significantly from this current estimate.

Based on the facts currently known, in respect of each of the below investigations as well as for the investigations disclosed in
Note 27, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2015 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our
2016 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2016 Second Quarter Form 10-Q, it is not practicable at this time for us to determine the
terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution. As matters progress, it is possible
that any fines and/or penalties could be significant.

Giventhesubstantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and theinherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statementsin
any particular quarterly or annual period.

Salveson v. JP Morgan Chase et al. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed the district court's dismissal of the
action in October 2016.

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation The court issued an order in October 2016 granting final approval of the settlement.

DeKalb County, et al. v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. This matter has been stayed pending U.S. Supreme Court
review of the U.S. Court of Appealsfor the Eleventh Circuit decision reversing motions to dismiss two similar cases filed against
other lenders in City of Miami v Bank of America Corp. & Wells Fargo & Co. Oral argument in City of Miami is scheduled for
November 2016.

County of Cook v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. This matter has been stayed pending U.S. Supreme Court review of
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit decision reversing motions to dismiss two similar cases filed against other
lendersin City of Miami v Bank of America Corp. & Wells Fargo & Co. Oral argument in City of Miami is scheduled for November
2016.

Lender-Placed Insurance Matters As discussed in our 2015 Form 10-K, in January 2014, HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA)
and various other HSBC entities agreed to a settlement with the Massachusetts Attorney General concerning allegations of conflict
of interest in placement of lender placed insurance and the HSBC entities paid approximately $4 million to be held in escrow until
the settlement was finalized. On February 17, 2016, the settlement was finalized by the filing of an Assurance of Discontinuance
in the Massachusetts Superior Court. The Massachusetts Attorney General distributed settlement payments to Massachusetts
borrowersin July 2016.
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Private Mortgage Insurance Matters Following aruling in a similar matter by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit,
the parties agreed to settle the matter on an individua basis. The case was discontinued with prejudice in September 2016.

Foreign Exchange (“‘FX”’) Matters

In September 2016, a new lawsuit alleging federal and state antitrust claims was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of New York by “indirect” FX purchasers who invested in funds that engaged in FX-related transactions. The action
purports to assert claims for New York and California sub-classes under state law and has been assigned to the judge overseeing
the pending FX class action settlement.

Precious Metals Fix Matters

In re Commodity Exchange Inc., Gold Futures and Options Trading Litigation (Gold Fix Litigation) Defendants' motion to dismiss
the second amended consolidated complaint was granted in part and denied in part in October 2016.

In re London Silver Fixing, Ltd. Antitrust Litigation (Silver Fix Litigation) Defendants’ motion to dismiss the second amended
consolidated complaint was granted in part and denied in part in October 2016.

Madoff Litigation

In September 2016, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York granted the HSBC defendants' motion to dismiss
in Stephen and Leyla Hill, et al. v. HSBC Bank plc, et al. (Case No. 14-CV-9745(LTYS)).

Anti-Money Laundering, Bank Secrecy Act and Office of Foreign Assets Control Matters

Charlotte Freeman, et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. Defendants moved to dismiss plaintiffs' second amended complaint in
September 2016.

Jeffrey Siegel, et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. HSBC defendants’ motion to dismiss is due in December 2016.

Ramiro Giron, et al. v. Hong Kong and Shanghai Bank Company Ltd., et al. In October 2016, the court granted the Hong Kong
and Shanghai Banking Company’s motion to dismiss, having previously granted in part and denied in part HSBC Bank USA's
motion.

21.  New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncement was adopted effective January 1, 2016:

¢ Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis In February 2015, the Financia Accounting StandardsBoard ("FASB") issued
an Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") which rescinds the deferral of VIE consolidation guidance for reporting entities
with interestsin certain investment funds and provides anew scope exception to registered money market funds and similar
unregistered money market funds. The ASU makes several other amendmentsincluding &) the elimination of certain criteria
previously used for determining whether fees paid to a decision maker represent a variable interest; b) revising the
consolidation model for limited partnerships and similar entities which could be variable interest entities or voting interest
entities; ¢) excluding certain fees paid to a decision maker from the risk and benefit test in the primary beneficiary
determinationif certain conditionsare met; and d) reducesthe application of therelated party guidancefor VIEs. We adopted
this guidance on January 1, 2016. The adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on our financial position or results
of operations; however, one of our unconsolidated limited partnership investments related to renewable energy became a
VIE under the new guidance. Disclosure of this unconsolidated VIE is included under the caption "Limited partnership
investments' in Note 17, "Variable Interest Entities."

The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

« Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers InMay 2014, the FA SB issued an A SU which providesaprinciples-
based framework for revenue recognition that supersedes virtually all previously issued revenue recognition guidance.
Additionally, the ASU requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. The core principle of the five-step revenue recognition
framework isthat an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customersin
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
While the ASU as originally issued was scheduled to be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1,
2017, in August 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date by one year, but provided entities the option to adopt it as of
the original effective date. The amendmentsin the ASU may be applied either retrospectively to each prior reporting period
presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of adoption recognized in equity at the date of initial application.
The adoption of this guidanceis not expected to have asignificant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement In January 2016, the FASB issued an ASU which changes
aspects of its guidance on classification and measurement of financial instruments. The ASU requires equity investments
(except those accounted for under the equity method or those that result in consolidation) to be measured at fair value with
changesin fair value recognized in net income. Under a practicability exception, entities may measure equity investments
that do not have readily determinable fair values at cost adjusted for changesin observabl e prices minusimpairment. Under
this exception, a qualitative assessment for impairment will be required and, if impairment exists, the carrying amount of
theinvestments must be adjusted to their fair value and an impairment loss recognized in net income. For financial liabilities
measured under the fair value option, the ASU requires recognizing the change in fair value attributable to our own credit
in other comprehensive income. Additionally, the ASU requires new disclosure related to equity investments and modifies
certain disclosure requirements related to the fair value of financial instruments. The ASU is effective for all annual and
interim periods beginning January 1, 2018 and the guidance should be applied by recording a cumulative effect adjustment
to the balance sheet or, as it relates to equity investments without readily determinable fair values, prospectively. Early
adoption of the amendment related to financial liabilities measured under the fair value option is permitted. The adoption
of this guidance will have a significant impact on our financial statements and will result in recognizing the changein fair
value attributable to our own credit risk in other comprehensive income where previously these amounts were recognized
in net income. The adoption of this guidance will also require a cumulative effect adjustment to the consolidated balance
sheet, which will result in a reclassification from retained earnings to accumulated other comprehensive loss as of the
beginning of the period of adoption. Weare currently eval uating theimpact of adopting the remaining guidanceinthisASU.

Leases InFebruary 2016, the FASB issued an ASU which requires alessee to recognize alease liability and aright-of-use
asset on its balance sheet for all leases, including operating leases, with aterm greater than 12 months. L ease classification
will determine whether alease is reported as a financing transaction in the income statement and statement of cash flows.
The ASU does not substantially change lessor accounting, but it does make certain changes related to leases for which
collectability of the lease payments is uncertain or there are significant variable payments. Additionally, the ASU makes
severa other targeted amendments including a) revising the definition of lease payments to include fixed payments by the
lesseeto cover lessor costsrelated to ownership of the underlying asset such asfor property taxes or insurance; b) narrowing
the definition of initial direct costs which an entity is permitted to capitalize to include only those incremental costs of a
lease that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained; ¢) requiring seller-lessees in a sale-leaseback
transaction to recognize the entire gain from the sale of the underlying asset at the time of salerather than over the leaseback
term; and d) expanding disclosures to provide quantitative and qualitative information about lease transactions. The ASU
iseffectivefor all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2019 and is required to be applied retrospectively to the
earliest period presented at the date of initial application, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the
impact of adopting thisASU.

Compensation - Stock Compensation In March 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that requires all excess tax benefits and
tax deficiencies for share-based payment awards to be recorded as income tax benefit or expense in the income statement
and for excess tax benefits to be classified as an operating activity in the statement of cash flows. Under the ASU, entities
elect whether to account for forfeitures of awardsby either recognizing forfeituresasthey occur or by estimating the number
of awardsexpected to beforfeited. Additionally, the ASU allows entitiesto withhold up to the maximum individual statutory
tax rate to cover income taxes on awards and classify the entire awards as equity. Cash paid to satisfy the statutory income
tax withholding obligation must be classified as a financing activity in the statement of cash flows. The ASU is effective
for al annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The amendmentsin the ASU
have various transition requirements with certain amendments required to be applied retrospectively. We do not anticipate
asignificant impact upon adoption of thisASU.

Financial Instruments - Credit Impairment InJune 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that significantly changes how entities
will measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instrumentsthat are not measured at fair value through
net income. The ASU requires entities to estimate and recognize an alowance for lifetime expected credit losses for loans
(including TDR L oans), hel d-to-maturity debt securities, off-bal ance sheet credit exposuresand certain other financial assets
measured at amortized cost. The ASU also requiresentitiesto recognize an allowancefor credit|osseson AFS debt securities
and revises the accounting model for purchased credit impaired loans and debt securities. Additionally, the ASU requires
new disclosures, the more significant of which include @) for financial assets measured at cost, information about how an
entity developed its allowance, including changes in the factors that influenced the estimate of expected credit losses and
the reasons for those changes; b) for financing receivables, further disaggregation of credit quality indicators by year of
origination; and c) for AFS debt securities, arollforward of the allowancefor credit |osses and an aging analysis of securities
that are past due. The ASU is effective for al annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020, with early adoption
permitted beginning January 1, 2019, and is required to be applied by recording a cumulative effect adjustment to retained
earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. We are currently evaluating the
impact of adopting thisASU.
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e Statement of Cash Flows - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments InAugust 2016, the FASB issued
anASU that clarifieshow certain cash receipts and cash payments should be classified in the statement of cash flows. Under
the ASU, the portions of the cash payments attributable to accreted interest for the settlement of zero-coupon bonds should
be classified as cash outflows for operating activities. The ASU is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning
January 1, 2018 and isrequired to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented, with early adoption permitted. We are
currently evaluating the impact of adopting thisASU.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued during the first nine months of 2016 that are expected to have
or could have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securitiesand Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in pressreleases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
forward-looking statements. Words such as“may”, “will”, “should”, “would”, “could”, “ appears’, “believe”, “intends”’, “ expects’,
“estimates’, “targeted”, “plans’, “anticipates’, “goal”, and similar expressions areintended to i dentify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

» uncertain market and economic conditions, adecline in housing prices, adecline in energy prices, unemployment levels,
tighter credit conditions, changes in interest rates or a prolonged period of low or negative interest rates, the availability
of liquidity, unexpected geopolitical events including the decision by the United Kingdom to exit the European Union
("EU™), changesin consumer confidenceand consumer spending, and consumer perception asto thecontinuing availability
of credit and price competition in the market segments we serve;

e changesinlaws and regulatory requirements;
» theability to deliver on our regulatory priorities,
e extraordinary government actions as aresult of market turmoil;

»  capital and liquidity requirements under Basel 111, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital Analysis
and Review ("CCAR"), and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank
Act”) stress testing ("DFAST"), including the U.S. FRB requirements, when finalized, for U.S. global systemicaly
important banks ("G-SIBs") and U.S. intermediate holding companies ("IHCS") owned by non-US G-SIBsto issue Total
Loss-Absorbing Capacity ("TLAC") instruments;

e regulatory requirementsintheU.S. andinnon-U.S. jurisdictionsto facilitatethefuture orderly resolution of largefinancial
institutions;

» changesin central banks' policies with respect to the provision of liquidity support to financial markets;

e theability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association ("HSBC Bank USA™") to fulfill the requirements imposed by the deferred prosecution agreements
withtheU.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Attorney's Officefor the Eastern District of New York, andthe U.S. Attorney's
Office for the Northern District of West Virginia, our agreement with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, our
other consent agreements as well as guidance from regulators generally;

» theuseof usasaconduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;
e theability to successfully manage our risks;
» thefinancial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

e concentrations of credit and market risk, including exposure to Latin American corporate clients and the oil and gas
markets;

» theability to implement our business strategies;

« theability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;
»  damage to our reputation;

« theability to attract and retain customers and to attract and retain key employees;

» theeffectsof competitioninthe marketswherewe operateincluding increased competition for non-bank financial services
companies, including securities firms;
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» disruptionin our operationsfrom the external environment arising from events such as natural disasters, terrorist attacks,
global pandemics, or essential utility outages;

« afailurein or abreach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as aresult of cyber attacks;

» third party suppliers and outsourcing vendors' ability to provide adequate services;

» losses suffered due to the negligence or misconduct of our employees or the negligence or misconduct on the part of
employees of third parties;

» afailureinour internal controls;

e our ability to meet our funding requirements;

e adverse changesto our credit ratings;

« financia difficulties or credit downgrades of mortgage bond insurers;

e our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

e increasesin our alowance for credit losses and changesin our assessment of our loan portfolios;

e changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

« heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial institutions;

»  continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to residential mortgage servicing practices, with particular focus
on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

e changesto our mortgage servicing and foreclosure practices,
» changesin the methodology for determining benchmark rates;

« heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on foreign
exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

e model limitations or failure;

» the possibility of incorrect interpretations or application of tax laws to which we are subject;

»  changesin bankruptcy lawsto allow for principal reductions or other modifications to mortgage |oan terms;

e additional financia contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan;

e unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines; and

» theother risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2015 (2015 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of aforward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
HSBC. HUSI may also bereferred to in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
("MD&A") as"we", "us" or "our".

Economic Environment The U.S. economy continued its trend of slow growth during the first nine months of 2016. U.S. Gross
Domestic Product ("GDP") is currently forecasted to grow at an annual rate of 1.8 percent in 2016, slightly slower than 2015's
GDP growth rate of 2.1 percent, although U.S. manufacturing growth in 2016 is expected to increase faster than GDP. Inflation
in 2016 continuesto run below the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") 2.0 percent target inflation rate. Although thereis speculation
that the FRB may increase short-term interest rates by 25 basis points in the fourth quarter, the prolonged period of low interest
rates continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base. The U.S. economy added approximately 1.6 million jobs
during the first nine months of 2016 although total unemployment remained unchanged at 5.0 percent at September 2016 as
compared with December 2015 asthe number of job seekers continued to grow. An elevated number of part-timeworkers continue
to seek full-time work and the number of discouraged people who have stopped |ooking for work remains elevated, as evidenced
by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics' U-6 unemployment rate of 9.7 percent at September 2016, as compared with arate of 9.9
percent at year-end.

Despite the continued improvement of the U.S. economy, economic uncertainty remains high in many economiesoutsidethe U.S.,
including Chinaaswell asLatin Americaand in particular Brazil, where economic activity continuesto be slow, with the decision
by the United Kingdom in late June to exit the EU further adding to this global uncertainty. In addition, although the price of ail
increased during the nine months of 20186, it declined significantly during 2015 and remains depressed compared with historical
levelsin part dueto the strong U.S. dollar, adding pressureto portfolioswhere the customer baseisheavily centered in commaodity-
based businesses. The sustainability of the economic recovery will be determined by numerous variables including consumer
sentiment, energy prices, credit market volatility, employment levels and housing market conditions which will impact corporate
earnings and the capital markets. These conditions in combination with global economic conditions, fiscal and monetary policy,
geopolitical concerns and the heightened regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutions will continue to impact our
resultsin 2016 and beyond.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights of HSBC USA for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 and at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(dollars are in millions)

NS AT o0 1T $ 33 $ 204 $ 166 $ 455
Rate of return on average: -

TOLA BSSEES ...ttt bbb et b et 1% A% 1% 3%

Total risk WEIGhTEH BSSELS........cuiieeiirieeeeeere e 1 .5 2 4

Total common shareholder'S EQUILY........c.coveieeeeieece e 7 3.8 9 29

Total Shareholders EQUILY........cccoueireirieerieese e 6 3.9 1.1 31
= A g == 0= o 1 TSR 1.22 131 1.30 1.35
EFffICIENCY FAHIO ...ttt 86.9 68.5 79.2 74.3
Commercial Net Charge-off TaiO™M) ..o 16 .05 31 10
Consumer net charge-0ff FAHO™ ..o ses s 81 18 41 34

@ Excludesloans held for sale.
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September 30, December 31,
2016 2015

(dollars are in millions)

Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as aPercent Of 10ANSY ... eses e es e 1.37% 1.10%
Commercial allowance as apercent 0f 10ANS™Y ............ooeveeieeeeseeeeeeee s seeeeee s esee s 1.67 1.25
Consumer allowance as apercent Of 10ANSY..............ovirveeereeeeeee e sene 45 65
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual delinQUENCY .........cccvevveveeenevesese e 4.09 4.56
L0BNS 0 0EPOSIES FAIOS ..o senes 77.23 93.07
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk WeIghted SSELS.........ccuevreeeerere e 13.5 12.0
Tier 1 capital t0 riSK WEIGNEEH BSSELS........ccevereeieieieeeieee ettt e e e sne e srenns 14.3 12.6
Total capital t0 risk WeIGhted GSSELS.......c.cceiereeccceccr e e re e 18.0 16.5
Total shareholders equity tO tOtal SSELS........cceieeerieeceeee e 10.1 10.9

Select Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and interest bearing deposits With DAnKS..............c.ceuieieieieicceicceeece et $ 18042 $ 8446
TEAOING BSSELS.......coeeceeieeeeeteec et ettt e et ete et ete st eaeste e s te e s te e ess s esesseseetessabessabenestenseteneasensesesseseaseneetens 19,586 17,085
Securities avallal E-fOr-SAl@........c.ociii e e 40,800 35,773
Loans:

(00T 0100 or - o 7= 1R 58,032 62,453

CONSUMES [OBNS......c.vieiiciecieeteete et sttt s e st e e st e et e s beeatesaeetesaeesbeeaeesaeeneesbeentesbeentesbeentenseanns 19,593 20,464
I =N T 77,625 82,917
DIEPDOSITS. ...vviiietcteie ittt sttt ettt ettt et b b et e bt e sttt e e e b b b e R e bt e be et bbb e A s bt eRe st bebe et bebeneanne 131,082 118,579

@ Excludes loans held for sale.
@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for |oan losses, as a percentage of domestic deposits equal to or less than $100,000.

Net income was $33 million and $166 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared
with $204 million and $455 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. Net income in the
prior year-to-date period reflects the impact of New York City tax reform which resulted in an increase in tax expense of $48
million during the second quarter of 2015.

Income before income tax was $59 million and $266 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 20186,
respectively, compared with $315 million and $740 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively. The decrease in income before income tax during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was due
primarily to lower other revenues and ahigher provision for credit 1osses which were partially offset in the year-to-date period by
lower operating expenses and higher net interest income.

Our reportedresultsinall periodswereimpacted by certainitemsmanagement believesto besignificant which distortscomparability
between periods. Significant items are excluded to arrive at adjusted performance because management would ordinarily identify
and consider them separately to better understand underlying business trends. The following table summarizes the impact of these
significant items for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Income before income tax, aS rePOrted...........cceeverirere e $ 50 $ 315 $ 266 $ 740
Fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread ...... (5) (96) (113) (214)
COSES O BENIEVEW ...ttt eee e 54 2 85 6
Adjusted PErformMaNCED ... s e e ene $ 108 $ 221 $ 238 $ 532

@ Reflects transformation costs to deliver the cost reduction and productivity outcomes outlined in the HSBC Investor Update in June 2015.
@ Represents anon-U.S. GAAPfinancial measure.
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Excluding the collective impact of the itemsin the table above, our adjusted performance during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016 declined $113 million and $294 million, respectively, compared with the prior year periods due primarily to
a higher provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio and lower other revenues which were partially offset in the
year-to-date period by lower operating expenses and higher net interest income. Lower other revenues in both the three and nine
month periods was driven by lower other income and lower fair value option revenue, partially offset by higher trading revenue.

See "Results of Operations” for more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources' for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

In addition to the residential mortgage sales program discussed below, during the third quarter of 2016, we decided we no longer
have the intent to hold for investment a portfolio of residential mortgage loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance
Corporation ("HSBC Finance"), along with any home equity mortgage bal ances associated with these loans. As a result of this
decision, during the third quarter of 2016, we transferred residential mortgage and home equity mortgage loans to held for sale
with atotal unpaid principal balance of approximately $648 million at the time of transfer. The carrying value of theseloans prior
totransfer, after considering thefair value of the property lesscoststo sell, asapplicable, wasapproximately $628 million, including
accrued interest. During the third quarter of 2016, we recorded an initial lower of cost or fair value adjustment of $11 million
associated with the newly transferred loans, all of which was attributed to credit factors and recorded as a component of the
provisionfor credit lossesin the consolidated statement of income. Aswe plan to sell theseloansto third party investors, fair value
represents the price we believe athird party investor would pay to acquire the loans.

During thefirst quarter of 2016 we decided we no longer have the intent to hold for investment certain residential mortgage loans
and adopted aformal program to initiate sale activities for these residential mortgage |oans when aloan meeting pre-determined
criteriais written down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell (generally 180 days past due)
in accordance with our existing charge-off policies. These loans were largely originated by us prior to the implementation of our
Premier strategy. Under this program, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we transferred residential
mortgage loansto held for sale with atotal unpaid principal balance of approximately $25 million and $549 million, respectively,
at the time of transfer. The carrying value of these loans prior to transfer, after considering the fair value of the property less costs
to sell, was approximately $23 million and $456 million, including related escrow advances, during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016, respectively. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, werecorded aninitial lower
of amortized cost or fair value adjustment of $4 million and $42 million, respectively, associated with newly transferred loans, all
of which was attributed to non-credit factors and recorded as a component of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of
income. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded $2 million and $8 million, respectively, of
additional lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment on these loans held for sale as a component of other income (loss) in
the consolidated statement of income as aresult of achange in the estimated pricing on specific pools of loans. Aswe plan to sell
these loans to third party investors, fair value represents the price we believe athird party investor would pay to acquire the loan
portfolios.

In March 2016, we initiated an active program to sell our remaining Mortgage Servicing Rights ("MSRs") portfolio which has
been in run-off for several years. As aresult, we now consider the M SRs portfolio and related servicing advances, which together
totaled $303 million, to be held for sale at September 30, 2016 and reported them in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
In August 2016, we entered into an agreement to sell our remaining M SRs portfolio to a third party and expect the sale to be
completed during the fourth quarter of 2016. Asthe M SRs continue to be carried at fair value and we expect to transfer the rel ated
servicing advances to the buyer at near cost, the resulting gain or loss on sale, including transaction costs, is not expected to be
significant.

In June 2016, votersin the United Kingdom approved a referendum to withdraw its membership from the EU. While we continue
to actively monitor our portfolio to ensure that we quickly identify and manage any areas of stress, our United Kingdom and
European capital markets exposure is limited, and we currently do not anticipate this decision will have a significant impact on
our operations.

As previoudly reported, as a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel 111
regulatory capital and liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee, together with the impact of similar implementation by United
Kingdom banking regulators, we continue to review the composition of our capital structure. During the second quarter of 2016,
HSBC USA redeemed al of its remaining externally issued preferred stock, including its Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series F
Preferred Stock, Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series G Preferred Stock and 6.50 percent Non-Cumulative Series H Preferred
Stock, at their stated values of $25 per share, $1,000 per share and $1,000 per share, respectively, resultingin atotal cash payment
of $1,265 million. In connection with these redemptions, HSBC USA issued 1,265 shares of 6.0 percent Non-Cumulative Series
| Preferred Stock to HSBC North Americain exchange for cash consideration of $1,265 million.

Our operations are focused on the core activities of our four global businesses and the positioning of our activities towards
international connectivity strategies, including what we believe are our unique capabilitiesto serve clientsin the North American
Free Trade Agreement trade corridor in order to improve profitability. We also continue to focus on cost optimization efforts to
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ensure realization of cost efficiencies. To date, we have identified and implemented various opportunities to reduce costs through
organizational structure redesign, vendor spending, discretionary spending and other general efficiency initiatives which have
resulted in workforce reductions. Additional cost reduction opportunities have been identified and are in the process of
implementation. These efforts continue and, as aresult, we may incur restructuring chargesin future periods, the amount of which
will depend upon the actions that ultimately are implemented. We also continue to evaluate our overall operations as we seek to
optimize our risk profile and cost efficienciesaswell asour liquidity, capital and funding requirements. This could result in further
strategic actions that may include changes to our lega structure, asset levels, cost structure or product offerings in support of
HSBC's strategic priorities.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP").

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies, which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the IASB and as endorsed by the EU
and, asaresult, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's
accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis are used in
managing our businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors net income under
this basis of reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis net income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Net income — U.S. GAAP DESIS......ccoooieieeiiieieeteeeee ettt $ 33 $ 204 $ 166 $ 455
Adjustments, net of tax:
LOBN IMPAITIMENT ...veveviieeeeiieisieesees et see e saese st ssessesesseessessesessesessesessesensenes 14 12 (1) 29
(071157 07 o N {0 0= = 13 — 44 8
Pension and other postretirement benefit COSES.........vvvirirninninreees 4 2 10 8
Reclassification of fair value measured financial assets.........ccococevrvenininicnenicniene — 1 5 2
[0z g Mo g To 147 1 o] [N ST — D 2 @)
(0] 011 TSRS (3) (3) 9) (7
Tax valuation @llOWEANCES.........couveireereee ettt — — — (5)
(@13 1= LTS (1) 6 (5) (11
Net income — Group REPOrtiNG BaSIS.......coevvieiriiririiinenieesiees et 60 221 202 472
Tax expense — Group RePOrting BaSIS........cccceerererinenene e 49 121 140 313
Profit before tax — Group REPOMING BaSIS .....cvvvvreeeererenenenenere s $ 109 $ 342 $ 342 $ 785

Loan impairment charges under the Group Reporting Basis during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 were greater than
under U.S. GAAP due to the default of certain credits where existing loan impairment allowances, prior to default, were lower
under the Group Reporting Basis than under U.S. GAAP due to the shorter loss emergence period utilized for computing loan
impairment allowances for commercial |oans collectively evaluated for impairment under the Group Reporting Basis.

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basisimpacting our results presented in the table above
are discussed in more detail within "Basis of Reporting" in our 2015 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since
December 31, 2015 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.
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Balance Sheet Review

We utilize deposits and borrowings from various sources to provide liquidity, fund balance sheet growth, meet cash and capital
needs, and fund investmentsin subsidiaries. Thefollowing table provides balance sheet totals at September 30, 2016 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2015:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2015

September 30,

2016 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Period end assets:
ShOrt-terM iINVESIMENES .....cuviveeeeeierre e seeenes $ 48,756 $ 20,463 72.3%
072 0 LS o 1 SRS 76,565 (5,440) (6.6)
LOBNS el fOr SAIE.......ciieieee e 1,791 (394) (18.0)
I o O I S5 £ 19,586 2,501 14.6
1SS U ] 1= SRS 54,231 4,434 89
(@11 =S (SO 7,381 (1,532) (17.2)
$ 208310 $ 20,032 10.6%
Funding sources:
TOtAl AEPOSITS....cueveeiiieiesieieteeete ettt sttt et e et e e beseetesaeresaese e $ 131,082 $ 12,503 10.5%
Trading liabiliti€S.....ccueceee e s ene s 7,537 82 11
Short-term DOITOWINGS ........oii e 6,062 1,067 214
LONG-tErM dEDt......c.ocvceiiecice s 39,500 5,991 179
All other HEDIITIES ..o s 3,152 (63) (2.0)
Shareholders’ EQUITY.........coeieiirie e e 20,977 452 2.2
$ 208310 $ 20,032 10.6%

Short-Term Investments Short-terminvestmentsinclude cash and duefrom banks, interest bearing depositswith banksand federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto resell. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Short-term investments increased since December 31, 2015
driven by our conservative liquidity management practices, where we raise funds in advance of their usage and opportunistically
deploy them to maximize returns.
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Loans, Net The following summarizes our loan balances at September 30, 2016 and increases (decreases) since December 31,
2015:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2015

September 30,
2016 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real EStAte........cceevevieiieceece e $ 10,958 $ 958 9.6 %
Business and corporate Danking............cccoereineineinieees e 17,665 (1,451) (7.6)
GIOBE DANKING™ ...t 26,414 (3,555) (11.9)
Other COMMEITIAL.......ciuiieiiiire e et 2,995 (373) (11.2)
TOtal COMMENTIAL......cviiirieieiee bbb e ebe e 58,032 (4,421) (7.0
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMgages.........ccoocriiiiiciniciie s 17,091 (667) (3.8)
HOME EUILY MOMQAgES .....ecveeverieieirieieseeeeee et sre sttt se e e e e eseenes 1,454 (146) (9.2)
Credit CaIUS ....cvieeve e sttt st 668 (3D (4.9
OLNEr CONSUMES ...ttt bttt st sttt b e nbne 380 (27) (6.6)
QLI o0 1S U4 1= SRR 19,593 (871) (4.3)
QL0 N 1 ST 77,625 (5,292) (6.4)
Allowance fOr Cradit I0SSES .........ccviiiiiiririeereer e 1,060 148 16.2
LLOBNS, NEL ...eeevveeeeeeetctee ettt e ettt te e st tete e se st ebeseesetetese s esssesesssessetessssssebesensesasenis $ 76,565 $ (5,440) (6.6)%

@ Represents large multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on aglobal basis. Also includes |oans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $4,463 million and $4,815 million at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Commercial loans decreased compared with December 31, 2015 largely due to paydowns and maturities exceeding new loan
originations as we focused efforts on improving returns through disciplined lending and expanding customer relationships into
other products. The decrease also reflects the transfer of certain global banking loans with a carrying value of $1,088 million to
held for sale during the first quarter of 2016, partially offset by the transfer of certain commercial real estate loans with a carrying
value of $612 million back to held for investment from held for sale during the second quarter of 2016. The declinein commercial
loans, including the impact of transfers, was primarily in the banking and health care industries.

Consumer loans decreased compared with December 31, 2015 due primarily to the transfers of certain residential mortgage loans
with a carrying value of $1,007 million to held for sale during the first nine months of 2016 ($638 million of which occurred in
the third quarter) as discussed below, partially offset by an increase in residential mortgage loans as we continue to target new
residential mortgage loan originations towards our Premier and Advance customer relationships and sell newly originated
conforming loans to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH Mortgage"). Home equity mortgages also decreased reflecting net
paydowns as our focus continues to shift towards residential mortgage loans. The declines in credit card receivables and other
consumer loans reflects paydowns.

We have seen a general improvement in the loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our mortgage loan portfolio. The following table
presents LTVs for our mortgage |oan portfolio, excluding mortgage loans held for sale:

LTVs at LTVs at

September 30, 2016®@ December 31, 20150
First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV K 80%0...uiiiiiiiieciee ettt sttt 96.4% 82.1% 94.9% 78.7%
80% S LTV K O0%0....ueeueeueeienienieeieetesie sttt 2.2 10.2 29 11.0
90% < LTV < 100%0.....cceceeeieeiieesiee e esieeseeesieeeaeessessnseesneesnneens 9 5.4 14 6.5
LTV 2 10090 ...ceiteeeseeieee et s 5 2.3 8 38
Average LTV for portfolio........ccooroennenenene e 53.3 57.4 54.9 59.1

@ LTVsfor first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTV's for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
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loan origination updated by the changein the Federal Housing Finance Agency's house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Stetistical Areaor state
level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing
price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. Asaresult, actual property val ues associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be
significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of this disclosure.

@ Current estimated property valuesare cal cul ated using themost current HPI s avail able and applied on anindividual 0an basis, which resultsin an approximate
three month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using
HPIs at June 30, 2016 and September 30, 2015, respectively.

Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at September 30, 2016 and increases (decreases) since

December 31, 2015:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2015

September 30,
2016 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other real ESLALE.........cvvrrrrerrrrrrrr s $ — $ (1,895) (100.0)%
Global bBanKiNG........ccviiiicece e e 741 541 *
TOtal COMMENCIA......civieiiieectiiete ettt st st saene e 741 (1,3%4) (64.6)
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMgagES......coveereieiirerieseerteee e s st ae e e eneenes 971 960 *
HOME EQUILY MOIMGAgES .....coveeveriereiieie ettt st 4 4 —
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt et e b e e st sbne 75 (4) (5.
TOLAl CONSUMET ...ttt sttt sttt sttt ettt et et seebeneene e 1,050 960 *
Total 10anNS held fOr SAl........cciiiee e $ 1,791 $ (394) (18.0)%

* Not meaningful.

Commercial loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2015. During the second quarter of 2016, we sold $1,161
million of commercial real estate loans to a third party and recognized a loss on sale of approximately $3 million, including
transaction costs. Upon completion of the sale, the remaining loans that were not sold, which had acarrying value of $612 million
at June 30, 2016, were transferred back to held for investment as we now intend to hold these loans for the foreseeable future.

Global banking loans held for sale includes commercial loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number
of syndicated credit facilitieswith theintent of selling themto unaffiliated third partiesaswell ascommercial |oansthat we purchase
from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain total return swaps. The fair value of these loans,
which we have elected to designate under the fair value option, totaled $649 million and $151 million at September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending on the volume and level of activity.

Global banking loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment and transferred to
held for sale which totaled $92 million and $49 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

We recorded lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments associated with the write-down of commercial loans held for sale
of $7 million and $37 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with $2 million
and $16 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, as acomponent of other income (loss)
in the consolidated statement of income (l0ss).

Consumer loans held for sale increased compared with December 31, 2015. As previously disclosed, we continue to eval uate our
overall operations as we seek to optimize our risk profile and cost efficiencies, as well as our liquidity, capital and funding
reguirements. As part of this on-going evaluation, as well as continued market demand for non-performing residential mortgage
loans, during the first quarter of 2016 we decided we no longer have the intent to hold for investment certain residential mortgage
loans and adopted a formal program to initiate sale activities for these residential mortgage loans when a loan meeting pre-
determined criteriaiswritten down to the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell (generally 180 days
past due) in accordance with our existing charge-off policies. Theseloanswerelargely originated by us prior to theimplementation
of our Premier strategy.

Under this program, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we transferred residential mortgage loans to
held for sale with atotal unpaid principal balance of approximately $25 million and $549 million, respectively, at the time of
transfer. The carrying value of these loans prior to transfer, after considering the fair value of the property less costs to sell, was
approximately $23 million and $456 million, respectively, including related escrow advances.
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In addition to the residential mortgage sales program discussed above, during the third quarter of 2016, we decided we no longer
have theintent to hold for investment a portfolio of residential mortgage loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance,
along with any home equity mortgage balances associated with these loans. As a result of this decision, during the third quarter
of 2016, we transferred residential mortgage and home equity mortgage loansto held for sale with atotal unpaid principal balance
of approximately $648 million at the time of transfer. The carrying value of these loans prior to transfer, after considering the fair
value of the property less costs to sell, as applicable, was approximately $628 million, including accrued interest.

Wealso continueto sell all our agency eligibleresidential mortgage loan originations servicing rel eased directly to PHH Mortgage.
Residential mortgage loans held for sale also includes subprime residential mortgage loans with afair value of $3 million at both
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 which were previously acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC
Finance with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance
on consumer loans held for sale was $60 million and $13 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
Thevaluationallowanceon commercia loansheldfor salewas$54 millionand $21 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, respectively.

Trading Assets and Liabilities The following table summarizes trading assets and liabilities at September 30, 2016 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2015;

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2015

SEptezrgfgr 3. Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Trading assets:
SECUMTESY ....oovoooeeee s $ 13243 $ 2,088 18.7%
PreCioUS MELAIS .......ooveiiieeiirierie bbb e 2,669 1,889 *
DENIVAIVES, NP ...t et se e se e 3,674 (1,476) (28.7)
$ 19,586 $ 2,501 14.6%
Trading liabilities:
Securities sold, NOt et PUrChased ..........cocevererreneere e $ 1,030 $ 631 *
Payables for precious metals...........coccvcvciiciciciciciccincccc e 49 (601) (92.5)
DENVAVES, NELY .........oooooseees et 6,458 52 8
$ 7537 % 82 1.1%

* Not meaningful.
@ SeeNote 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

@ At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 thefair val ue of derivativesincludedin trading assets has been reduced by $4,463 million and $4,652 million,
respectively, relating toamountsrecognizedfor theobligationto return cash collateral received under master netting agreementswith derivativecounterparties.

® At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities has been reduced by $1,305 million and $1,530
million, respectively, relating to amountsrecognizedfor theright toreclaim cash collateral paid under master netting agreementswith derivative counterparties.

Securities balancesincreased compared with December 31, 2015 due primarily to increasesin foreign sovereign and U.S. Treasury
positions, including the impact of favorable market valuations. Securities positions are held as economic hedges of interest rate
and credit derivative productsissued to customers of domestic and emerging markets. Balances of securities sold, not yet purchased
increased compared with December 31, 2015 due to an increase in short U.S. Treasury positions related to economic hedges of
derivativesin the interest rate trading portfolio.

Precious metalstrading assets increased compared with December 31, 2015 driven largely by increasesin our own silver and gold
inventory positions held as hedges for client activity as well as higher spot prices for these metals. Payables for precious metals
were lower reflecting a decrease in borrowing of gold and silver inventory. Precious metal positions may not represent our net
underlying exposure as we may use derivatives contracts to reduce our risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which
would appear in derivatives in the table above.
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Derivative asset balances decreased compared with December 31, 2015 asincreased netting associated with an increasein central
counterparty clearing was partially offset by market movements. Derivative liability balances were relatively flat compared with
December 31, 2015 as the impact of increased netting was offset by market movements. Market movements resulted in higher
valuations of interest rate derivatives and, to alesser extent, equity derivatives which were partially offset by lower valuations of
foreign exchange and credit derivatives. Market movements on commodity derivatives were mixed resulting in lower derivative
asset valuations, but higher derivative liability valuations.

Securities Securitiesinclude securities available-for-sale and securities hel d-to-maturity. Theincreasein balances compared with
December 31, 2015 largely reflects net purchases of longer term U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed
securitiesaswell asfavorablemarket val uations, partially offset by net salesof U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities
as part of acontinuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based
on the current interest rate environment and liquidity needs.

Other Assets Other assets includes intangibles and goodwill. Other assets decreased compared with December 31, 2015 largely
dueto lower outstanding settlement balances related to security sales, lower tax assets and lower cash collateral posted. In August
2016, we entered into an agreement to sell our remaining MSRs portfolio to a third party and expect the sale to be completed
during the fourth quarter of 2016. See Note 9, "Other AssetsHeld for Sale," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for additional details.

During the third quarter of 2016, we completed our annual impairment test of goodwill and determined that the fair value of all
of our reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts, with the fair value of each reporting unit being 125 percent or more of
book value, including allocated goodwill.

Deposits The following summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at September 30, 2016 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2015;

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2015

SEptezrgfgr 3. Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Individuals, partnerships and COrPOrations...........c.eereerierererereneseseesie e $ 113458 $ 10,605 10.3%
Domestic and foreign banks ... 16,161 1,995 141
U.S. government and states and political subdiviSions...........cccccvicinicinicininnnns 675 (48) (6.6)
Foreign governments and official institutions.............cccccccccciccccceccciie, 788 (49) (5.9
TOtEl HEPOSITS......ceeeereeiere s $ 131,082 $ 12,503 10.5%
TOLAl COME AEPOSIESY ...ttt se e es e ese s $ 101,452 $ 10,989 12.1%

@ Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (*FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic
demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $100,000.

Deposit balances increased since December 31, 2015 driven by higher deposits from affiliates and growth in commercial savings
and demand deposits reflecting afocus on deposit growth through a continuation of executing akey strategy to grow our Global
Liquidity and Cash Management business. The strategy for our coreretail banking businessincludes building relationship deposits
across multiple markets, channels and segments. This strategy involves various initiatives, such as:

«  HSBC Premier, acomprehensive banking and weal th management proposition for theinternationally minded massaffluent
client with adedicated premier rel ationship manager. Total Premier depositsincreased to $23,874 million at September 30,
2016 as compared with $23,498 million at December 31, 2015; and

e Expanding our existing customer relationships by needs-based sales of wealth, banking and mortgage products.
We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings increased compared with December 31, 2015 primarily due to a shift in mix
which resulted in lower netting associated with securities sold under repurchase agreements.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt increased compared with December 31, 2015 reflecting the impact of debt issuances, including
$4,000 million of senior debt issued to HSBC North America during the third quarter of 2016 and increased borrowings from the
Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB"), partialy offset by debt retirements. Debt issuances during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 totaled $5,116 million and $7,675 million, respectively, of which $4,000 million and $5,103
million, respectively, was issued by HSBC Bank USA.
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Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Global Bank Note Program totaled $3 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2016. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4,442 million and $4,476 million at September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively. We anticipate using the Global Bank Note Program more in the future as part of our efforts
designed to minimize overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding channels.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $2,572 million of senior structured notes during
the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Total long-term debt outstanding under this shelf was $21,967 million and $21,415
million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Borrowingsfrom the FHL B totaled $6,700 million and $5,600 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
All Other Liabilities All other liabilities was relatively flat compared with December 31, 2015.

Shareholders Equity During the second quarter of 2016, HSBC USA redeemed al of its remaining externally issued preferred
stock, including its Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series F Preferred Stock, Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series G Preferred
Stock and 6.50 percent Non-Cumulative Series H Preferred Stock, totaling $1,265 million. In connection with these redemptions,
HSBC USA issued $1,265 million of 6.0 percent Non-Cumulative Series | Preferred Stock to HSBC North America. See Note 16,
"Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” for additional details.

91



HSBC USA Inc.

Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income is the total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. In the discussion that follows, interest income and rates are presented and analyzed on a taxable equivalent
basisto permit comparisons of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest
rates on a taxable equivalent basis is presented in this MD& A under the caption "Consolidated Average Balances and Interest
Rates."

The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

2016 Compared to
2015
Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 Volume Rate 2015
(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

ShOT-LEIM INVESIMIENTS. ... .eeeieiii et tee s s e e et e s e s e e s st e e s ssatessesaeessabeessaseessarens $ 100 $ 8 $ 62 $ 30
TradiNg SECUMTIES. ....c.viveeeiee et 52 6 (29) 75
SBCUNTIES. ..ttt ettt bbb et b et s b bt b bt e bbb be s 234 18 (21 237
COMMENCIEl [OBNS.......coeeerrereerrr e 383 (25) 52 356
CONSUMES TOBNS ...ttt ettt sttt b e st b e e b b et s n e r e nene 185 4 @) 183
107 T 12 (3) — 15
TOtal INLEMESE INCOME.....cecviieeiereee ettt eb e e er e 966 8 62 896
Interest expense:

DEPOSITS ...ttt ettt e rne 122 7 38 77
ShOrE-LEM DOITOWINGS.......coieeierrssr e 22 3 12 13
LONG-LEIM AEDL ...t e 213 29 — 184
Tax 1abilities aNd OtNEN ... 5 1 2 2
TOtaAl INEMESE EXPENSE ...c.ecveeeeeeee ettt ettt r e eb e b 362 34 52 276
Net interest income — taxable equivalent basis............ccccccecccccccccccececce 604 $ (26) 10 620
Less: tax equivalent a0jUSIMENT............c.ovuerereereeeseeeeseeesss s ssss e sssesnsneeans - 3
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basis..........c.cocveererninncnseneeee S 604 $ 617
Yield on total iNterest  arning 8SSELS .......ouvrerrerreriee et seere e 1.96% 1.90%
Cost of total interest bearing liabilities..........ooieiieinee e .98 81
INEErESt Al SPIEAA........ceeeieeeieeieree bbb T 98 T 109
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds™ ...............covvuoereeeereeeeeeeeereseeeeeeeeeseeiesenees 24 22
Net interest margin on average €arning @SSELS........coeurueererereerenesesesesese s e seeeseene T 1.22% T 131%
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2016 Compared to
2015

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 Volume Rate 2015
(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

ShOrt-tErM INVESIMENES ..o s ne e enenns $ 268 $ 21 $ 169 $ 78
TradiNg SECUNTIES ......vcuiieeieeerees ettt 197 (21 (43) 261
S o1 =P 722 56 — 666
(000101101 (o= I Ko =10 1,148 2 136 1,010
CONSUMEY [OBNS.......coiiiiiririrr e 561 17 @ 545
OBNEN <.t bbb b et e bbb 31 @) (6) 44
TOtal INTErESE INCOME... .ottt e e e e e neenennes 2,927 68 255 2,604
Interest expense:

DIEPOSITS. ..ottt e 344 19 148 177
ShOrt-termM BOMTOWINGS .....ccveeeiereeteree e 61 9) 35 35
(o008 (=01 (= o 613 71 18 524
Tax [iabilitieS AN OtNEY ........coieieee e 12 1 1 10
TOtal INTErESE EXPENSE....uveeeeeeeerie et e et sttt aese e e e e e e e e enennes 1,030 82 202 746
Net interest income — taxable equivalent DasiS .........cccecrrrecicnseee s 1897 $ (14 53 1,858
Less: tax equivalent adjUSIMENT ..o e 1 9
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basis ... W $1,849
Yield on total iNterest  arning 8SSELS........c.uvrerereereereee et 2.01% 1.90%
Cost of total interest bearing liabilitiES .......cccovevriiiiicec e .95 74
INEErESt rale SPIEAA .....c.veeeeeeet et T 106 1.16
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds™............c.coooeeeeeeeeeieeeseeee s 24 19
Net interest margin on average €arning @SSELS ..........covvveerreerrerereresesesesese e T 1.30% 1.35%

@ Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess,
while decreased percentages reflect a reduction in this excess.

Net interest income decreased dlightly during the three months ended September 30, 2016 as the favorableimpact of higher short-
term market rates as discussed below was more than offset by higher interest expense from long-term debt, the impact of lower
commercial |oan average balancesand lower interest incomefrom trading securities. Inthe year-to-date period, net interest income
increased as the favorable impact of higher short-term market rates and higher interest income from securitieswas partially offset
by higher interest expensefromwhol esal etime depositsand long-term debt aswell aslower interest incomefromtrading securities.
Higher short-term market ratesresulted in higher short-term investment and variableloan interest income, partially offset by higher
wholesale time deposit and short-term borrowing interest expense in both the three and nine month periods while retail and
commercial deposit account pricing was largely unchanged.

Short-term investments Higher interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was dueto a shift in
mix towards higher yielding securities purchased under agreementsto resell, higher yields on interest bearing deposits with banks
driven by the impact of the Federal Reserve Bank rate increase in December 2015 and, to alesser extent, higher average balances.

Trading securities Interest income declined during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 driven primarily by
increased investments in lower yielding U.S. Treasury securities. The decline was partially offset in the three month period by
higher average balancesoverall duetoincreasesin U.S. Treasury and foreign sovereign positions. In the year-to-date period, lower
average balances overall contributed to the decline, asan increase in U.S. Treasury positions was more than offset by a decrease
in foreign sovereign positions. Securities in the trading portfolio are managed as economic hedges against the derivative activity
of our customers. As aresult, interest income associated with trading securities was partially offset within trading revenue by the
performance of the associated derivatives as discussed further below.

Securities Interest income wasrelatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2016 as higher average balances were
offset by lower yields. Inthe year-to-date period, interest incomewas higher dueto higher average balancesdriven by net purchases
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of U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed securities, partially offset by net sales of U.S. Government
agency mortgage-backed securities and the sale of certain foreign debt securities.

Commercial loans Interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due to higher yields
reflecting the impact of rate increases on variable rate products. The increase was partially offset in the three month period by
lower average balances largely due to paydowns, maturities and |oan sal es exceeding new loan originations as we focused efforts
on improving returns through disciplined lending and expanding customer relationships into other products.

Consumer loans Interest income was relatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2016, but was higher in the
year-to-date period due to higher average balances driven by growth in residential mortgages.

Other Lower interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 reflects lower average balances due to
declinesin cash collateral posted and alower dividend rate earned on Federal Reserve Bank stock.

Deposits Interest expense increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily to higher rates
paid on whol esale time deposits and foreign bank deposits reflecting theimpact of rateincreasesaswell ashigher averageinterest-
bearing deposit balances overall. Contributing to the increase in the year-to-date period, to alesser extent, was higher rates paid
on savings accounts driven by promotional offersto our retail customers.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was driven by higher
rates paid on these borrowings, partialy offset by lower average borrowings.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 largely due to higher
average borrowings and, in the year-to-date period, higher rates paid reflecting the impact of rate increases on variable rate
borrowings and new issuances since the third quarter of 2015.

Tax liabilities and other Interest expense was relatively flat during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.
Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real eState...........ccoervvreeeeeeeee e $ ® $ 3 % (5 *
Business and corporate Danking...........ocverrerennneenreee e 7 32 (25) (78.1)
GlObEl DANKING.....c.cierieecierireie e 44 16 28 *
Other COMMENCIEL ..........cooviiie e 1) 1) — —
TOtal COMMENCIAL......coviiiieieteee e b e seene $ 42 $ 4 3% 2 (4.5)
Consumer:
Residential MOrgages..........cccoiiiiiice e 11 (©) 14 *
HOME EqUILY MOMJAJES .....veueeiereiiriiiees ettt st 1 2 3 *
Credit Card reCaiVaADIES.........cocireereeeereee e 7 7 — —
OLNEr CONSUMES ...t 1 1 — —
TOLAl CONSUIMET ...ttt sttt r e b e e b seenennene s 20 3 17 *
Total provision for Credit I0SSES.......oviiiiriee s $ 62 $ 47 3% 15 31.9%
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annualized...........cco..coovvoervvererns 3% 2%
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Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real estate..............coovecciiccceee e $ @ 3 4 3 2 50.0%
Business and corporate DanKing ...........cocceereireeneineneeeseseesees (35) 54 (89) *
Global DANKING. .....coveiieeiiee s 377 39 338 *
Other COMMEICIEL ......cveuiiieiriirt e (5) 3) 2 (66.7)
TOtal COMMENCIE .....ovceire s 335 86 249 *
Consumer:
Residential MOrQages...........ccoccuiiciiciniciect e (5) 9 4 44.4
HOME EQUILY MOMGBGES. .....eeverveeereeeereeiirt ettt (2) (4) 2 50.0
Credit CANGS. ...t 21 14 7 50.0
OtNEr CONSUMEN .....c.eceiiciiteetees et bbb 4 7 ©)] (42.9)
TOEl CONSUMET.....c.civirieiireriereires e 18 8 10 *
Total provision for Credit I0SSES.......vii i $ 353 $ 94 $ 259 *
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annUalized...............coooovveerrvererennns T 6% 0 2%

* Not meaningful.

Our provision for credit losses increased $15 million and $259 million during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2016, respectively, due to a higher provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio and, in the year-to-date period, a
higher provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we
decreased our allowance for credit losses as the provision for credit losses was lower than net charge-offs by $3 million. During
the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we increased our allowance for credit losses as the provision for credit losses was
higher than net charge-offs by $148 million.

The provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio was relatively flat during the three months ended September 30,
2016 asahigher provision associated with the continued deterioration of asingle mining customer relationship was offset by lower
provisions associated with oil and gas industry loan exposures and risk factors associated with expansion market 1oan exposures.
In the year-to-date period, the provision for credit lossesin our commercial loan portfolio increased $249 million driven by higher
provisions associated with the downgrade of a single mining customer relationship and, to a lesser extent, other downgrades
reflecting weaknesses in the financial condition of certain customer relationships, including mining and other industry loan
exposures, partially offset by lower provisions associated with oil and gasindustry loan exposures and risk factors associated with
expansion market loan exposures. We will continue to monitor our exposure with regard to the mining customer relationship
discussed above and, as aresult, further adjustments to our credit 10ss reserves may be required in future periods.

Asprevioudly discussed, during thethird quarter of 2016 wetransferred certain mortgagesto held for saleand, asaresult, recorded
alower of cost or fair value adjustment of $11 million related to credit factors as a component of the provision for credit losses.
Excluding the impact of this item, the provision for credit losses on residential mortgages and home equity mortgages increased
$6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2016 and decreased $5 million in the year-to-date period. While the
positive impacts of continued improvements in economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality
Premier mortgages which are an increasingly larger portion of the portfolio were more pronounced in the year-ago quarter, they
remain favorable in the year-to-date period.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit cards was flat during the three months ended September 30, 2016. In the
year-to-date period, the provision for credit losses associated with credit cards increased $7 million as the positive impacts from
continued improvements in economic and credit conditions, including improvements in delinquency roll rates, were more
pronounced in the prior year period. While the provision for credit losses associated with other consumer loans was flat during
the three months ended September 30, 2016, it decreased $3 million in the year-to-date period as 2015 reflects a lower of cost or
fair value adjustment associated with the transfer of a small student loan portfolio to held for sale.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2015 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates' and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
Accounting Pronouncements.” See "Credit Quality" in this MD&A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.
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Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card TEES .....oviiir e $ 12 % 1 % 1 9.1%
Trust and investment management fEES..........covverereirerees s 40 46 (6) (13.0)
Other fees and COMMISSIONS .......ccovrereeirrrrrerrerre e 215 188 27 14.4
Trading revenuUe (EXPENSE)........ccuiierrererrererreseerese et essees 120 (34) 154 *
Other SeCUrtieS gaiNS, NEL......c.oveiieerieee e 16 11 5 45,5
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........cccovveerceneenccniciens 50 53 (3) (5.7)
Residential mortgage banking revenue (EXPENSE) ........occovveerererienesienenenn. (3) 16 (29) *
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives (88) 165 (253) *
Other income (l0ss):
Valuation of loans held for Sale..........ooeveineiniicee e (11) (6) (5) (83.3)
[INSUFAINCE......coiiiiiiiie s 5 2 3 *
Miscellaneous iNCOME (10SS) .....c.cvveerrererrereeiireeieree s (36) 79 (115) *
Total other iNCOME (10SS).......cvrururiiiircccerr e (42) 75 (117) *
TOtal Other FEVENUES.......ccouieeiiriicc et $ 320 $ 531 $ (2112) (39.7)%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card fEES ..o $ 39 % 32 % 7 219 %
Trust and investment management fEeS............cooiiiiiiiicciciens 118 127 9 (7.2)
Other feesand COMMISSIONS .........covererreireerreeree e 557 560 (3) (.5)
Trading revenue (EXPENSE)......cccurrerrerrrereeresrere et sesaerese s sesnenes 185 23 162 *
Other SeCUritieS QaINS, NEL........ccveeeireeerere e e 81 69 12 17.4
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates..........ccoovvevvvveienenecienene, 155 162 (7) (4.3)
Residential mortgage banking revenue (EXPENSE) ..........ccovvreerreenrenesrenennene 24 50 (26) (52.0)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives 90 306 (216) (70.6)
Other income (loss):
Valuation of loans held for Sale...........ooviriiiii (82) (15) (67) *
[NSUFBINCE ......eiviieiit it 15 14 1 71
Miscellaneous iNCOME (10SS) ........c.cururuemcmririreieeeeee s (107) 70 a7 *
Total Oother INCOME (I0SS)......cveiereeeeerererere et (174) 69 (243) *
TOtal OthEr FEVENUES.........oeieeceieerceete et $ 1075 $ 1398 $ (323 (23.1)%

* Not meaningful.

Credit card fees Credit card fees were higher during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily to lower
cost estimates associated with our credit card rewards program.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees decreased during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016 driven by lower investment management fees associated with our Private Banking businessreflecting adecline
in assets under management.
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Other fees and commissions The following table summarizes the components of other fees and commissions:

Three Months Ended September 30,

Increase (Decrease)

2015

Amount %

Nine Months Ended September 30,

(dollars are in millions)

69 $ 73 $ (%) (5.5)%
116 91 25 275
6 8 (2  (25.0)
24 16 8 50.0
215 % 188 $ 27 144 %
Increase (Decrease)
2015 Amount %

Account servi

S i

Credit fACHITIES.......vie ittt s e e s sbaee s
(O = (o0 1= =

Other feses.....

Total other fees and COMMISSIONS.........cccuiiieeecie it

(dollars are in millions)

210 $ 214 $ @) (1.9)%
273 264 9 34
16 16 — —
58 66 ®  (12.1)
557 $ 560 $ ®3) (5)%

Other fees and commissions were higher during the three months ended September 30, 2016 primarily due to increased loan
syndication and other credit facility related fees, partially offset by lower account service fees. In the year-to-date period, other
fees and commissions were relatively flat as higher credit facility fees were offset by lower account service fees and lower other
fee based income.

Trading revenue (expense) Trading revenue (expense) isgenerated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities
and precious metals markets. Thefollowing table presentstrading revenue (expense) by business activity. Not included in thetable
below is the impact of net interest income related to trading activities which is an integral part of trading activities overall
performance. Net interest income related to trading activitiesis recorded in net interest income in the consolidated statement of
income. Trading revenuesrel ated to the mortgage banking businessareincluded inresidential mortgage banking revenue (expense).

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Business Activities:
DENVAIVES™Y ..ottt 38 $ (8l) $ 119 *
Balance Sheet Management............ccocccrceeeeeeeee s 6 3 9 *
Foreign EXChange.........ccociiiiccc s 45 44 1 2.3
Precious MELalS..........coiiiiciecrce s 36 14 22 *
Capital FiNANCING.......cccourueiiiriirrs s (3) 8 5 62.5
Other trading.........ccovvereerrrrre e 2) — 2 *

Total trading revenue (EXPENSE) ........cc.eueerieereeieineeieiese e senes 120 $ (34) $ 154 *
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Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Business Activities:

DENVAIVESY ..ot $ (16) $ (142 $ 126 88.7%
Balance Sheet Management...........ccvvvevirninneneseesee s 7 (18) 25 *
FOreign EXChanNQe......cveeeeeeceeeece et 147 157 (20 (6.4)
PrecioUs Metals.........coooiiiiiiiiic s 56 43 13 30.2
Capital FINANCING........ccocvviiiieieiicce s @) (14) 7 50.0
Other tradiNng.......cvvveereeirieere e ) ©)] 1 33.3
Total trading FEVENUE............cverreeerer e $ 185 $ 23 $ 162 *

* Not meaningful.
@ Includes derivative contracts related to credit default and cross-currency swaps, equities, interest rates and structured credit products.

Trading revenue (expense) increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 largely driven by the improved
performance of Derivatives, Balance Sheet Management and Precious Metals, partially offset in the year-to-date period by lower
revenue from Foreign Exchange.

Trading revenue from Derivatives improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 from higher new deal
activity in interest rate swaps, an increase in the performance of emerging markets products and higher valuations of legacy
structured credit exposures. Theseimprovementswere partially offset in both periods by theimpact of debit val uation adjustments
associated with movementsin our own credit spreads. Derivatives trading revenue does not reflect associated net interest income
as certain derivatives, such astotal return swaps, were economically hedged by holding the underlying interest bearing referenced
assets.

Trading revenue related to Balance Sheet M anagement activitiesimproved during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2016 due to the performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign Exchange trading revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2016, while in the year-to-
date period, trading revenue declined from reduced client trade activity.

Precious Metals trading revenue increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due to increased client
trading, especially financing related trading activity.

Capital Financing revenue improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 reflecting lower losses related
to valuation adjustments on credit default swap hedge positions.

Other securities gains, net We maintain securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk management
strategies. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we sold $1,026 million and $13,697 million, respectively,
of primarily U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities compared with sales of $1,190 million and
$9,882 million during the prior year periods as part of a continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities
portfolio for risk management purposes based on the current interest rate environment and liquidity needs. Other securities gains,
net increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due to higher gains from the sale of certain U.S. Treasury
securities as we rebalanced the portfolio for risk management purposes and, in the year-to-date period, gains from the sale of
certain longer term state municipal bonds as we reduced these positions during the first quarter of 2016. The gross realized gains
and losses from sales of securities in both periods, which is included as a component of other securities gains, net above, are
summarized in Note 3, "Securities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Affiliateincome decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016
reflecting lower fees associated with residential mortgage servicing activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance and, to a
lesser extent, lower feesrelated to supporting growth initiativesin the Global Liquidity and Cash Management business, partially
offset by higher income from certain performance based trading activity booked on the balance sheets of other HSBC affiliates.
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Residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) The following table presents the components of residential mortgage banking
revenue (expense). Net interestincomerel ated to residential mortgage bankingisrecorded in net interest incomein the consolidated
statement of income.

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)
Servicing related income:

Servicing fEE INCOME. ... $ 1 $ 13 $ (20 (15.4)%
Changesin fair value of MSRSAUETO: .......cceecveviieiiiciceceee e,
Changes in valuation inputs or assUMpPLioNS............cceevvieceieienicieinnns 4) (21 17 810
CUSIOMEY PAYMENTS ..o (5) @ 2 28.6
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changes in value of
IMISRS ...ttt (3) 28 (31) *
Total servicing related inComMe (EXPENSE)..........ovuevereriereiicreisiieisee e, (1) 13 (14) *
Originations and sales related | oss:
Losses on sales of residential MOrgages ...........ooevevvrreneenenreneseecrereneens 4) 2 (2) (100.0)
Recovery for repurchase obligations...........cococenneinnnicee e — 2 (2) (100.0)
Total originations and sales related 10SS............ooccecrriiccnieeecceens 4) — 4 *
Other MOrtgage INCOME..........curveirieeriiiriees ettt 2 3 (1) (333
Total residential mortgage banking revenue (EXPense) ........cvvveveeveeerieenenne $ 3) $ 16 $ (29) *

Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Servicing related income:

SErViCing FEEINCOME.......c.ceeviereeieecee ettt $ 36 3$ 43 3 (7))  (16.3)%
Changesin fair value of MSRS AU TO: .......coueiviiierierieieie e
Changes in valuation inputs or assUMPLiONS............ecevnnireninens (28) (13) (15) *
CUSLOMES PAYIMENLS ...c.veveeeeeieeiesieeesteesteesteesteseeresestesessesesseseesessesessesessens a7 (16) (€] (6.3)
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changes in value of
VSRS ...tttk bbbt b s 40 34 6 17.6
Total servicing related inCOme (EXPENSE).......covierrererrereriereeeereereseeieseeeeseenes 31 48 17) (35.4)
Originations and sales related | oss:
Losses on sales of residential MOrgages .........ccceeveeveveeieveececeeeee e (13) (1D (2 (@182
Recovery for repurchase obligations..........c.ccoeevrennernensesee e 3 7 @ (57.0
Total originations and sales related [0SS.........cccvvvevevcrescsecceee e (10) 4 (6) *
Other MOrtgage iNCOME.........c.coveiiieeeeeese ettt aesre e 3 6 (3 (50.0)
Total residential mortgage banking revenue (EXPENSE) .......cccueererereeeereeennens $ 24 $ 50 $ (26) (52.00%

* Not meaningful.

Total residential mortgage banking revenue (expense) decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due to
lower net hedged M SRsresults, lower servicing feesresulting from the planned run-off of our average serviced portfolio and lower
recoveries for repurchase obligations associated with loans previously sold. As a result of our strategic relationship with PHH
Mortgage, we do not add new volumeto our serviced portfolio asall agency eligibleloansare sold to PHH Mortgage on aservicing
released basis. Net hedged M SRs results were lower in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 largely reflecting
theimpact of entering into an agreement to sell our remaining M SRs portfolio in August 2016. We expect the sale to be compl eted
during the fourth quarter of 2016.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, certain
own fixed-rate debt issuances and al of our hybrid instruments issued, including structured notes and deposits. We also use
derivatives to economically hedge the interest rate risk associated with certain financial instruments for which fair value option
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accounting has been elected. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives decreased during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 attributable primarily to movementsin credit spreads associated with our own debt
and structured notes and deposits. This decrease was partialy offset in the year-to-date period by the non-recurrence of anet loss
recorded in 2015 related to changes in estimates associated with the val uation techniques used to measure the fair value of certain
structured notes and deposits. See Note 11, "Fair Value Option,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for
additional information including a breakout of these amounts by individual component.

Other income (loss) Other income (loss) decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily to
lossesin the current year periods associated with credit default swap protection which largely reflectsthe hedging of asingleclient
exposure compared with gains in the prior year periods, higher losses from valuation write-downs on loans held for sale and, in
the year-to-date period, higher losses associated with fair value hedge ineffectiveness.
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Operating Expenses The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee DENEfits. ... $ 235 $ 254 $ (19) (7.5%
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") .....ccovvvinncccene 42 66 (29) (36.4)
Fees paid to HSBC Technology and Services (USA) ("HTSU")............ 252 250 2 .8
Fees paid to other HSBC affillaesS ........ccoeveverieeeiinernceseseeesese s 60 45 15 33.3
Total support services from HSBC affiliates...........coovviiiiiiiinens 354 361 ) 1.9
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL ...t e 57 57 — —
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWare...........covvveeriieriiesieseee s 10 12 (2 (16.7)
MEKELING. ....cocviiiiiic s 10 16 (6) (37.5)
OULSITE SEIVICES. .....cveeieiierie ettt b e bbb 35 23 12 52.2
Professional fEES..........cciiiiciii s 28 32 4 (12.5)
Off-balance sheet credit reServes...........ocvciiinciccce e 4) 2 2 (100.0)
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fee......... 63 29 34 *
MISCEIANEOUS ... e 15 4 11 *
Total Other EXPENSES......ciereeeeeeeeeeeee e enens 157 114 43 377
Total OPErating EXPENSES .......covevereeeereeierreerree st nneaes $ 803 $ 78 $ 17 22 %
Personnel - aVerage NUMDES ............ceeveveeeeieeeseesessessessesessssesesssessssssssesesans -~ 5706 6097
EffICIENCY FaHIO ...cecvereeeiceeereee e 86.9% 68.5%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Sdary and employee benefits $ 718 $ 767 $ (49) (6.4)%
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Feespald tO HMUS ... 150 199 (49) (24.6)
Feespaid to HTSU.......cciiiiiiccccc s 734 754 (20) 2.7
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates.......ccuovivieineineinerc e 145 145 — —
Total support services from HSBC affiliates...........coovviiiiiiicnnns 1,029 1,098 (69) (6.3
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL ...ttt re e e e 173 172 1 .6
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWEIE..........ccvrrreireresreeene s 32 37 (5) (13.5)
MAIKEIING. ....cveveueirieeeeeieieieeeecie e b bbbt bbbttt bbbt benes 38 48 (10) (20.8)
OULSIAE SENVICES....c.eevieeiirteerieesie ettt 80 66 14 21.2
Professional fEES.......cceuruiiiiririeieieicieieie ettt 79 84 (5) (6.0
Off-balance sheet Credit rESErVES........ovveireirieere e 26 1 25 *
FDIC aSSESSMENE FEB.......eiirieeerierererte et 137 88 49 55.7
MISCEITBNEOUS .....c.cvvreierie et 40 52 (12 (23.1)
Total Other EXPENSES ... .ooueeeeeeeeeeeeeer et e ene 432 376 56 14.9
Total OPErating EXPENSES......eivreererrerereereseereseeeeseseesssesssseeseseesesesssssssssssesssens $ 2352 $ 2413 $  (6)) (2.5)%
Personnel - aVerage NUMDET ............oc.iveeeeereeeseseeesseeesseesseesseesessesseesssesnens - 5706 6074
EffICIENCY FaIO ...iecvereeeeree e e 79.2% 74.3%

* Not meaningful.
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Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits were lower during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2016 primarily due to lower incentive compensation expense. Despite adecline in the average number of personnel driven by
continued cost management effortsincluding targeted staff reductionsacrossall of our businessesto optimize staffing and improve
efficiency as well as a reduction in staff performing residential mortgage servicing activities on behalf of HSBC Finance, the
impact of these decreases were largely offset by the addition of higher cost personnel associated with growth initiativesin certain
busi nesses, strengthening control sand theimplementation of the highest and most effective global standardsin combating financial
crime.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Support services from HSBC affiliates were relatively flat during the three months ended
September 30, 2016 as the favorable impact of cost management efforts were largely offset by higher expense associated with
certain performance based trading activity booked on our balance sheet by other HSBC &ffiliates. In theyear-to-date period, support
services from HSBC éaffiliates decreased due primarily to the favorable impact of cost management efforts including staff
optimizationin our technology and corporate support service functionsand lower costs associated with business systemsreflecting
the completion of certain projects. A summary of the activities charged to us from various HSBC affiliatesisincluded in Note 14,
"Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Occupancy expense, net Occupancy expense was flat during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Other expenses Other expenses increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 reflecting higher deposit
insurance assessment fees, the non-recurrence of abenefit recorded in the prior year periods associated with asettlement of certain
compensatory feeexposures, higher outside servicesexpenseand, intheyear-to-date period, higher off-bal ance sheet credit reserves
due to downgrades. These increases were partially offset by lower litigation expense, lower losses associated with card fraud and
lower marketing and travel expenses.

Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio was 86.9 percent and 79.2 percent during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2016, respectively, compared with 68.5 percent and 74.3 percent during the prior year periods. Our efficiency ratio wasimpacted
in each period by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected fair value
option accounting which is reported as a component of total other revenues in our consolidated statement of income. Excluding
the impact of this item, our efficiency ratio remained higher during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due
primarily tolower other revenues. Intheyear-to-date period, lower other revenueswere partially offset by lower operating expenses
and higher net interest income.

Income taxes The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the total income tax
provision attributable to pretax income and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense at the U.S. Federal statutory incometax rate...........ccoevveveerereeeenennns $ 21 350% $ 110 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit..........coevvveeieeeceee e 2 3.4 9 29
Other non-deductible / non-taxable itemS............oereeriere e 5 8.5 2 (.6)
Low income housing tax credit investments............ccocooeceiieccescccce e 4 (6.8) ® (19
L@ 1 0= OSSOSO 2 3.4 — —
Total INCOME tAX EXPENSE. .. .eveeereeieeeeeeeeeeee ettt see e e e e e e ene e e e sneseesneseenes $ 26 441% $ 111 35.2%
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense at the U.S. Federa statutory income tax rate........coeeveeveeevienenenenienens $ 93 35.0% $ 259 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit...........ooovvevieiinninneee 10 3.8 20 2.7
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes™ ...........cooeweeeeerereeeeresseensenn. — — 49 6.6
Other non-deductible / non-taxabl e itemS..........coveeerrreenrsee s 5 1.9 4 (.5
Low income housing tax credit investments.............ccocoviiiiiinic, (12) (45) a7 (2.3
(@151 RSO TTSS 4 15 (22 (3.0
Total INCOME TAX EXPENSE........ciieicieirii e $ 100 376% $ 285 38.5%
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@ For 2015, the amount mainly relates to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York City Tax Reform that was enacted on April 13, 2015
which resulted in a decrease to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $48 million in the second quarter of 2015.

InApril 2016, the U.S. Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service released proposed regul ations intended to discourage corporate
inversions by re-characterizing certain intercompany debt as equity, effectively eliminating the tax deduction for interest paid to
related parties under certain circumstances. Final and temporary regulations were released in October 2016 that exempt regul ated
financial groups such asHSBC and its affiliates from those re-characterization rules. Certain documentation rulesincluded in the
regulationswill apply to HSBC and its affiliates, and we will analyze the requirementsin order to implement on atimely basisin
accordance with the rules. We do not anticipate a significant financial accounting impact upon implementation of the regulations.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have four distinct business segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). The segments, which are generally based upon
customer groupings and global businesses, are described under Item 1, “Business,” in our 2015 Form 10-K.

We previously announced that with effect from January 1, 2016, a portion of our Business Banking client group, generally
representing those small business customerswith $3 million or lessin annual revenue (now referred to as Retail Business Banking),
would be better managed as part of RBWM rather than CMB given the similarities in their banking activities with the RBWM
customer base. Therefore, to coincide with the change in our management reporting effective beginning in thefirst quarter of 2016,
we have included the results of Retail Business Banking in the RBWM segment for all periods presented. As aresult, loss before
tax for the RBWM segment increased $9 million and $25 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively. There have been no other changes in the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared
with the presentation in our 2015 Form 10-K.

During thefirst half of 2016, we determined that a portion of our Large Corporate client group, generally representing those large
business customers with more complex banking activities which require the levels of support routinely provided by relationship
managersin GB& M, would be better managed as part of GB& M rather than CM B, effective October 1, 2016. Therefore, beginning
inthefourth quarter of 2016, wewill include theresults of thetransferred client relationshipsin the GB& M segment for all periods
presented. We currently expect thistransfer will resultinanincreaseto loansand depositsfor the GB& M segment of approximately
$3.4 billionand $2.4 billion, respectively. The profit before tax associated with these rel ationships was approximately $83 million
and $54 million during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS issued by the IASB and as endorsed by the EU, and, as aresult, our segment results are prepared and presented using
financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis') as
operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about allocating resources, such as employees,
are primarily made on this basis. However, we continue to monitor capital adequacy and report to regulatory agencies on a
U.S. GAAP basis. The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are
summarized in Note 22, "Business Segments,” and under the caption "Basis of Reporting” inthe MD& A section of our 2015 Form
10-K.

We continue to review the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and content of the financial
data, including the U.S. GAAPfinancia data, being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changes
to this reporting in the future, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management RBWM provides banking and wealth management servicesfor our personal customers,
focusing on internationally minded clients in large metropolitan centers on the West and East coasts.

During thefirst nine months of 2016, we continued to direct resources towards the devel opment and delivery of premium service.
Particular focushasbeen placed on HSBC Premier, HSBC'sglobal banking servicewhich offers customersaseaml essinternational
service, and HSBC Advance, aproposition directed towardstheemerging affluent clientintheinitial stagesof wealth accumulation.

Consistent with our strategy, the growth of our residential mortgage portfolio is driven primarily by lending to our Premier and
Advance customers. Following the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013,
we sell our agency eligible originations directly to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis, resulting in no new mortgage
servicing rights being recognized. In August 2016, we entered into an agreement to sell our remaining M SRs portfolio and expect
the sale to be completed during the fourth quarter of 2016.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INEErESt INCOME... vt e $ 204 $ 197 $ 7 3.6%
Other Operating INCOME.......c.eiirerirreriee sttt ere e 72 85 (13) (15.3)
Total operating iNCOME™ ...........ovveceeeeeeeeeee s 276 282 (6) (2.1)
L0oan impairment Charges..........ccuoeererenenenere e 27 15 12 80.0
Net OPErating INCOME ......c.coveuirieirieere e e 249 267 (18) (6.7)
OPEratiNg EXPENSES. ... eeueeueeueruereereeresiesrestesieseessesteseeseessessesseneesessessessessessesns 283 280 3 1.1
LOSS BEFOrE taX ...t s $ (34) $ (13) $ (21) *
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INEErESE INCOME......iiiiiecieeciee ettt e sree e e be s e beesree b s $ 609 $ 597 $ 12 2.0%
Other Operating iNCOME..........overeuirirerreeeseres e 229 260 (31) (11.9)
Total operating iNCOME™ ...........coourvvreeee s 838 857 (19) (2.2)
Loan impairment ChargesS.........covveeriereneese e 52 52 — —
Net OPErating INCOME ......coeeieirereeertere ettt sae s 786 805 (19) (2.4
OPErating EXPENSES. ......cvvrerererererereresesesesesesesese s s sesesesens 810 887 (77) (8.7)
LOSS BEFOr@ taXx .......ccvveiciciiiiicic s $ 24) $ 82 $ 58 70.7%

* Not meaningful.

@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of the RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Current account, Savings and dEPOSIES..........cvuverirerieireiieiseserese s $ 135  $ 125 $ 10 8.0 %

Mortgages, credit cards and other personal 1ending ..........occeveereeereereeenesseensenneenns 90 99 9) 9.1)

Wealth and asset management ProdUCES...........c.weereeeseeneeeeneeneie e 29 35 (6) (17.1)

ONEIP ..o s s ensssssaneses 22 23 ) (4.3)

Total Operating iINCOME........c.ccciiiiiiirireie s $ 276 $ 282 % (6) 2.)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Current account, savings and dEPOSIS..........covirrririrsrrrrs s $ 405 $ 389 $ 16 41%

Mortgages, credit cards and other personal [ending ............cccvcevvnicenneneenneeenns 289 306 17 (5.6)

Wealth and asset management ProduCtS..........occvcccee s 89 102 (13) (12.7)

OB oo 55 60 (5) (8.3)

Total OPErating iNCOME.....c.cucuiuiueieieieieieieieee ettt $ 838 $ 857 $ (19) (2.2)%

@ Other primarily includes fees associated with residential mortgage servicing activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance and revenue associated with

certain residential mortgage loans that we previously purchased from HSBC Finance.

Our RBWM segment reported a higher loss before tax during the three months ended September 30, 2016 driven primarily by
lower other operating income and higher loan impairment charges, partialy offset by higher net interest income. In the year-to-
date period, loss before tax improved reflecting higher net interest income and lower operating expenses, partialy offset by lower

other operating income.

Net interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 largely driven by higher net interest
income from deposits due to higher average balances and improved spreads, partially offset by lower net interest income from
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lending. Net interest income from lending declined as the favorable impact of growth in residential mortgage average balances
was more than offset by a declining home equity mortgage portfolio and lower spreads.

Other operating income decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due largely to lower servicing fees
resulting from the planned run-off of our average serviced portfolio, alower recovery for repurchase obligations associated with
loans previously sold, lower fees associated with residential mortgage servicing activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance
and reduced asset management fees driven by a decline in assets under management principally in our emerging market bond
funds. These decreases were partially offset by higher net hedged M SRs results.

L oanimpairment chargeswere higher during the three months ended September 30, 2016 and flat in the year-to-date period. While
the positiveimpacts of continued improvementsin economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality
Premier mortgages which are an increasingly larger portion of the portfolio were more pronounced in the year-ago quarter, they
wereflat in the year-to-date period as lower loss estimates for residential mortgages were offset by higher loss estimates for credit
cards.

Operating expenseswererelatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2016 and decreased in the year-to-date period
reflecting lower litigation expense and the impact of continued cost management efforts including targeted staff reductions to
optimize staffing and improve efficiency. These decreases were offset in the three month period and partialy offset in the year-
to-date period by the non-recurrence of a benefit recorded in the prior year periods associated with a settlement of certain
compensatory fee exposures.

Commercial Banking CMB offers a full range of commercial financial services and tailored solutions to enable customers to
grow their businesses, focusing on key markets with high concentrations of international connectivity.

Total quarter-to-date average |oans outstanding, including loans held for sale, decreased 9 percent across all CMB client groups
as compared with the third quarter of 2015 as we focused efforts on improving returns through disciplined lending and expanding
customer rel ationshipsinto other products. In addition, total quarter-to-date average depositsoutstanding increased 8 percent across
all CMB client groups as compared with the third quarter of 2015 which reflects executing a key strategy to grow the Global
Liquidity and Cash Management business through our international network.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEErESt INCOME. ... ceeeeiieereseeeeeereei e neseees $ 205 $ 209 $ 4 (1.9%

Other Operating INCOME.......c.eiiiririrrerierereete ettt ere e 66 82 (16) (19.5)

Total operating iNCOME™ ..o 271 291 (20) (6.9)

Loan impairment charges (FECOVENES) .......coevrerererenereseseee e (19) 23 (42 *

NEt OPErating INCOIME ......c.oiveuiriiiriee et 290 268 22 8.2

OPErating EXPENSES. .....eerererererererereseresesesesesesesesesesesesesesesesssssssessssssssssssssens 167 171 (4 (2.3

Profit DEFOrE taX .......vvereeirere s $ 123 $ 97 $ 26 26.8 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEErESE INCOME.......eieiitiie et sar e s s br e e s st e e s e aee s sanes $ 623 $ 613 $ 10 1.6 %
Other Operating iINCOME ... 206 228 (22 (9.6)
Total OPErating iNCOME™ ..........cvcuuuummmmrrerrrsssesssssssesessssessesssssssesssssnees 829 841 (12) (1.4)
L0oan impairment CRaIQES ..o 12 37 (25) (67.6)
NEt OPErating INCOIME ......c.oiveuirieiriee ettt 817 804 13 1.6
OPErating EXPENSES. ......vvrerererererereresesesesesesese s s st 495 499 4 (.8
Profit DEfOrE TaX .......o e $ 322 % 305 % 17 56 %

* Not meaningful.
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@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of the CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Lending and Transaction Management............cccceuecieeeieieniseeeeee e $ 141 $ 145 $ (4) (2.8)%

Global Liquidity and Cash Management, current accounts and savings deposits..... 101 106 (5) 4.7)

Global Trade and Receivables FiNanCe............ccocviciiiiiiiiccscse s 14 23 9) (39.1)

Global Banking & Markets products and Other ... 15 17 2 (118)

Total OPErating iNCOME......c.cuuiueiieieieieiei ettt $ 271 $ 291 $ (20) (6.9)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Lending and Transaction Management...........coveeerreerenieenesesieeseseenesessesesessssees $ 437 $ 24 % 13 31%

Global Liquidity and Cash Management, current accounts and savings deposits..... 306 313 7 (2.2

Global Trade and Recaivables FiNANCE...........ccevreieerniecieeeseceeseeee s 45 65 (20) (30.8)

Global Banking & Markets products and other ............cccovvrvniniininsce 41 39 2 51

Total Operating iINCOME........c.cciuiiriieieieieie s $ 829 $ 841 $ (12) (1.4)%

Our CMB segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 primarily due
tolower loanimpairment chargesand, intheyear-to-date period, higher net interestincome, partially offset by lower other operating
income.

Net interest income decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2016 due to lower loan balances in Lending and
Transaction Management and higher funding costs. This decrease was partially offset in the three month period and more than
offset in the year-to-date period by the favorableimpacts of growth in deposit balancesin Global Liquidity and Cash Management
aswell asinterest rate increases in December 2015 resulting in improved spreads on both deposits and loans.

Other operating income was lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily to lower fee based
income reflecting a slowdown in commercial lending activity compared with the prior year periods.

L oan impairment chargeswerelower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily tolower provisions
for oil and gas industry loan exposures and risk factors associated with expansion market |oan exposures. These decreases were
partially offset intheyear-to-date period by higher | oss estimates associ ated with downgradesreflecting weaknessesin thefinancial
condition of certain customer relationships.

Operating expenses were relatively flat during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 as the impact of cost
management efforts including targeted staff reductions to optimize staffing and improve efficiency were largely offset by higher
deposit insurance assessment fees.

Global Banking and Markets GB& M providestailored financial solutionsto major government, corporate and institutional clients
worldwide.

We continue to target U.S. companies with international banking requirements and foreign companies with banking needs in the
Americas. Consistent with our global strategy, we are also focused on identifying opportunitiesto cross-sell our productsto CMB
and RBWM customers.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEL INEErESt INCOME... vt e $ 156 $ 142 $ 14 9.9 %
Other Operating INCOME.......c.eiirerirreriee sttt ere e 188 287 (99) (34.5)
Total operating iNCOME™ ..........ovvecveeeeeeeee e 344 429 (85)  (19.8)
L0oan impairment Charges..........cccveerereneneneresese e 33 5 28 *
Net Operating iNCOME .......coveeeereee e et e e ere e 311 424 (113) (26.7)
OPErating EXPENSES.....cvivevieeririeterieseetesese e etess et te e st se e s s ssesenssessesesens 241 247 (6) (2.4)
Profit DEFOrE taX .......vvereeiriree s $ 70 $ 177 $ (107) (60.5)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEErESE INCOME.......eeeiitii et e e s s r e e s s e e s e aee s sares $ 522 % 392 % 130 33.2%

Other Operating iNCOME..........ovireirirrrrerere e 585 772 (187) (24.2)

Total OPErating iNCOME™ ..........cvcuuuummmmrrersrsssessssssssesessssessesssssesesssssnees 1,107 1,164 (57) (4.9)

Loan impairment ChargesS.........ocvveereieniereserese e 387 17 370 *

NEt OPErating INCOIME ......c.oiveuirieiriee et 720 1,147 (427) (37.2)

OPErating EXPENSES.....cvivereeererrerereresesresesese s rer e e sessereseseseenesens 714 770 (56) (7.3

Profit DEFOrE taX .......oueveerererieeeri e $ 6 $ 377 % (371) (98.4)%

* Not meaningful.
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@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of the GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CTEAID ..ot s s s $ 4 3 (32 $ 76 *
RBEES. ...ttt bbb bbbt 19 12 7 58.3
Foreign Exchange and Metals 71 50 21 42.0
Equities . (46) 53 (99) *
Total GlODAl MErKELS..........ccemeerreerereree e 88 83 5 6.0
CaPital FINANCING .. vuveeiaeeiieiceeeseeres i 103 166 (63) (38.0
Global Liquidity and Cash Management ..........ccveeerreieeeernieeeeseneeeseseseeesseseesennens 106 100 6 6.0
Securities Services 6 3 3 100.0
Global Trade and Receivables FiNanCe............ccocviciniiiniicccsse s 12 13 1) (7.7)
Balance Sheet ManagemMeNnt® ..........oo.oveeeeeeeeeeseseeseeeessseeeeseesssee s sesses e 60 58 2 34
(11) 11 (22) *
(20) (©) (15) *
$ 344 $ 429 $ (85) (19.8)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CTEAID ..ottt s st $ 7% $ (13) $ 89 *
REIES......covaeetrer ettt 87 10 77 *
Foreign Exchange and Metals... 194 178 16 9.0
EQUItIES .. s 8) 127 (135) *
Total Global MarKELS........c.cueueiciiieieieieieieiee et 349 302 47 15.6
Capital FINANCING .....ceevrererrereireieereeeeereseeeeereseses s sesess e eseesesesssessesssssesenssssnenes 227 293 (66) (22.5)
Global Liquidity and Cash Management..... 309 291 18 6.2
SECUMTIES SEIVICES ...ttt 16 10 6 60.0
Global Trade and Receivables FInance............cocovvernnninnicsssressse s 41 40 1 25
Balance Sheet Management®............coooocvvvvveeereesvvoseeeresssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssnns 212 228 (16) (7.0)
Debit Valuation AGJUSEMENE.......cvuriieeerererieireeeieseeeetsesese s sessessessesesssenne 1 27 (26) (96.3)
ONEI ..o s s sseneeen (48) 27 (21) (77.8)
Total OPErating INCOME........c.crrieeerreriere e $ 1,107 $ 1164 $ (57) (4.9)%

@ Credit includes gains of $22 million and $20 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with losses of $11

million and $9 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, of operating income related to structured credit products and
mortgage loans held for sale which we no longer offer.

®  Balance Sheet Management includes gains on the sale of securities of $16 million and $78 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016,
respectively, compared with gains of $11 million and $69 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively.

Other includes corporate funding charges, net interest income on capital held in the business and not assigned to products, and interest rate transfer pricing
differences.

@

Our GB&M segment reported lower profit beforetax during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 driven by lower
other operating income and higher loan impairment charges, partially offset by higher net interest income and lower operating
exXpenses.

Credit revenue improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due to higher revenue from collateralized
financing related activity and higher val uations of legacy structured credit exposures. Changesin thefair value of legacy structured
credit products resulted in gains of $22 million and $20 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 20186,
respectively, compared with losses of $11 million and $9 million during the prior year periods. Included in the changes in fair
value from structured credit products wereincreasesin fair value of $12 million and $25 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016, respectively, related to exposures to monoline insurance companies, compared with increases of $12
million and $7 million during the prior year periods.

Revenue from Rates improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 from higher new deal activity in
interest rate swaps and, in the year-to-date period, the non-recurrence of aloss recorded in 2015 related to changes in estimates
associated with the val uation techni ques used to measure thefair value of certain rate linked structured notes. Theseimprovements
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in both periods were partially offset by the impact of fair value adjustments on certain rate linked structured notes related to
movementsin our own credit spreads.

Foreign Exchange and Metals revenue increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 primarily due to
increased Precious Metals client trading activity, especially financing related trading activity.

The decrease in Equities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was due primarily to fair value adjustments
on certain equity linked structured liabilities, including the impact of movements in our own credit spreads and, in the year-to-
date period, the non-recurrence of again recorded in 2015 related to changes in estimates associated with the valuation techniques
used to measure the fair value of these liabilities.

Capital Financing revenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 dueto lossesin the current year
periods associated with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure compared
with gainsin the prior year periods, partialy offset by higher net interest income driven by improved loan spreads. While event
financing fees were higher and partially offset the decrease in the three month period, they were lower in the year-to-date period.

Global Liquidity and Cash Management revenue increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 driven
by higher net interest income from the benefit of higher deposit balances, partially offset by decreased fee income due to lower
volumes.

Balance Sheet Management revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2016. In the year-to-date
period, Balance Sheet Management revenue declined dueto higher losses related to the performance of economic hedge positions
used to manage interest rate risk, partially offset by higher interest income driven by higher yielding investments, higher gains
from asset sales and higher income related to bank owned life insurance.

Debit valuation adjustmentsresulted in lower revenue during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with
the prior year periods driven by movements of both our own credit spreads and our derivative liability balances.

Loan impairment charges were higher during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due largely to higher loss
estimates associated with a single mining customer relationship and, in the year-to-date period, higher loss estimates associated
with oil and gas industry loan exposures as well as other downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial condition of certain
customer relationships, including mining and other industry loan exposures. Higher loss estimates associated with oil and gas
industry loan exposures were driven primarily by the downgrade of alarge customer relationship and the establishment of specific
reserves related to two large loans which became impaired.

Operating expenses were lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due primarily to lower corporate
function cost allocations from affiliates.

Private Banking PB serves high net worth individuals and families with complex needs domestically and abroad.

Client deposit levelsincreased $72 million or 1 percent as compared with September 30, 2015. Total loans decreased $248 million
or 4 percent as compared with September 30, 2015, primarily in the commercial portfolio. Overall period end client assets were
$1,637 million lower than September 30, 2015 as increased client deposits levels were more than offset by lower discretionary
and fiduciary portfolios which were negatively impacted by client outflows.

Thefollowing table provides additional information regarding client assets during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning Of PEMOU.............ccuioieiiieicieee et $ 42,716 $ 44,102
Net NEW MONEY (OULFIOWS) ...ttt ettt e b et sre bbb e e e e e e e eneeneenas (2,186) 917
RV L0 T= o 7= o = 797 (2,055)

Client assets at €nd Of PEITOU ..........cieiirieieiietiececete ettt ettt sttt ae s aeae st e et e e se s eneaes $ 41327 $ 42964
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEErESt INCOME... vt e $ 53 $ 49 $ 4 8.2 %

Other operating iNCOME.........ccoiiirireriee et 22 26 4 (15.4)

Total OPErating INCOME. ....c.ccireeverieierieerieeriees e snenes 75 75 — —

Loan impairment charges (FECOVENES) ........ooevrerrerenerere e 1 1) 2 *

NEt OPErating INCOME .....cvvrereiereeieee s 74 76 2 (2.6)

OPErating EXPENSES. .....eerererererererereseresesesesesesesesesesesesesesesssssssssesesssssssssssssens 56 62 (6) 9.7)

Profit DEFOrE taX .....ccvveereeerieere e $ 18 $ 14 $ 4 28.6 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEErESE INCOME.......eieiitiie ettt e e s s a e e s abe e s e aee s sanns $ 153 $ 148 $ 5 34 %
Other Operating iNCOME..........ovireirrrrreeerere e 67 77 (10) (13.0)
Total OPErating INCOME. ......ccirieuireerereeeerreereee s nneaes 220 225 (5) (2.2
Loan impairment Charges (FECOVENES) .......covererrierenerere e — 2 2 100.0
NEt OPErating INCOIME ......c.oveuirieiiiree et 220 227 7 (31)
OPErating EXPENSES.....cvivereeererrerereesesreresese s rere e sr e seenesens 173 178 (5) (2.8)
Profit DEFOrE taX .......oueueirererieees e $ 47  $ 49 $ (2) (4.1)%

* Not meaningful.

Our PB segment profit before tax increased during the three months ended September 30, 2016 primarily dueto higher net interest
income and lower operating expenses, partially offset by lower other operating income. In the year-to-date period, profit before
tax was relatively flat as lower other operating income was largely offset by higher net interest income and lower operating
EXpenses.

Net interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 driven by improved spreads due to
market rates and the favorable impact of higher deposit balances.

Other operating income decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 due to lower fees and commissions
reflecting a decline in managed and investment product balances.

Loan impairment charges (recoveries) were relatively flat during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Operating expenses decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 reflecting lower litigation expense and
lower corporate function cost allocations from affiliates.

Other The other segment primarily includes changesin thefair value of certain debt issued for which fair value option accounting
was elected and related derivatives, income and expense associated with certain affiliate transactions, certain corporate function
costs including costs to achieve, adjustments to the fair value of HSBC shares held for stock plans, interest expense associated
with certain tax exposures and income associated with other tax related investments.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our Other segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt iNTErESt EXPENSE. ......c.cvviirercie et $ (10) $ 5) % (5) (100.0)%
Gain on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread................. 5 96 (91) (94.8)
Other Operating iNCOME.........overeirrrirerrereree e 4 13 (9) (69.2)
Total OPErating INCOME. .......cireeirierereeierr et nneaes 1) 104 (105) *
Loan impairment ChargesS.......cceeveeeererese et — — — —
NEt OPErating INCOIME ......c.civeuirieiiriee e 1) 104 (105) *
OPErating EXPENSES. ....cveuertererieerteresteseeteseeteseeseseeseseeseseesestesestenestesessesessesens 67 37 30 81.1
Profit (10SS) DEFOr@ taX ......couoveueiiiririceree s $ (68) $ 67 $ (135) *

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt iNTErESt EXPENSE.......c.vviiriereie s $ (20) $ (16) $ 4 (25.00%
Gain on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread................. 113 214 (101) (47.2)
Other Operating INCOME........cocoirirririee e seere e 54 52 2 3.8
Total OPErating INCOME. .......cireeririerereeierr ettt nnenes 147 250 (103) (41.2)
Loan impairment ChargesS.......coeveveerere e et — — — —
NEt OPErating INCOIME ......c.oiveuerieiiieee e 147 250 (103) (41.2)
OPErating EXPENSES. ....cveuerrererieesteresteseeteseeteseeseseeseseeseseesestesessesestesessesessesens 156 114 42 36.8
Profit (10SS) DEFOrE TaX ......cucurureeerieieieirieieieieieis sttt $ 9 % 136 $ (145) *

* Not meaningful.

Our Other segment reported loss before tax during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with profit
before tax during the prior year periods primarily due to lower operating income from changes in the fair value of our own debt
and related derivatives for which fair value option accounting was elected as well as higher operating expenses driven by higher
costs to achieve charges.

Reconciliation of Segment Results Aspreviously discussed, segment resultsarereported on aGroup Reporting Basis. For segment
reporting purposes, inter-segment transactions have not been eliminated, and we generally account for transactions between
segments as if they were with third parties. See Note 15, "Business Segments,” in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for a reconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis segment resultsto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.

Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on alimited basis, internationally.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercia loans are monitored on a continuous basis with aformal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, a function independent of the business, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that
includesindependently assessing credit grades and loss given default estimatesfor sampled credits acrossvarious portfolios. When
it is deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collectedin accordance with its contractual terms, theloan isconsidered impaired. Animpairment reserveisthen established based
onthe present val ue of expected future cash flows, discounted at theloan'soriginal effectiveinterest rate, or asapractical expedient,
the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. Updated appraisals for
collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are considered troubled and the frequency of such updates
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are generally based on management judgment under the specific circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, loss reserves
on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of portfolio risk factorswhich may not befully reflected in thereserve
calculations.

Our probability of default estimatesfor commercial loans are mapped to our credit grade master scale. These probability of default
estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and benchmarking of the internal ratings with
externa rating agency data like Standard and Poor's (" S& P") ratings and default rates. Substantially all appraisalsin connection
with commercial real estate |loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must
bereviewed and accepted by thisunit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal isgenerally ordered when theloanisclassified
as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the"OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four
weeksfrom thetimethe appraisal isordered until it iscompleted and the val ues accepted by HSBC'sindependent appraisal review
unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter, generally within the quarter in which the appraisal is
received.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such asrent rolls and operating statements of the subject property arereviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market datais gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Datais also collected
from similar propertieswithin the portfolio. Actual saleslevelsof properties, operating income and expensefiguresand rental data
on asquarefoot basisare derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparablesfor the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
cash flow model to bediscounted at appropriateratesto present value. Thesevaluationsarethen used to determineif any impai rment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loansidentified astroubled debt restructurings ("TDR loans"), an allowancefor credit |ossesis maintained based on the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans' original effectiveinterest rate or in the case of certain loanswhich are
solely dependent on the collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the collateral less coststo sell. The circumstancesin
which we perform aloan modification involving a TDR Loan at a then current market interest rate for a borrower with similar
credit risk would include other changesto the terms of the original |oan made as part of the restructuring (e.g. principal reductions,
collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified asa TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer receivables and certain small businessloanswhich do not qualify as TDR Loans, we estimate
probablelossesusing aroll rate migration analysis that estimatesthe likelihood that aloan will progress through the various stages
of delinquency, or buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our
portfolio. This migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between aloss occurring and the confirming event
of itscharge-off. Thisanalysis considers delinquency status, |oss experience and severity and takesinto account whether borrowers
have filed for bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age or modification of accounts.
We also take into consideration the loss severity expected based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of
default based on historical and recent trends which are updated monthly based on arolling average of several months' data using
the most recently available information.

Theroll rate methodology isamigration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical loss experience
which capturesthe increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off asthe past due status of such account increases. The
roll rate model sused were devel oped by tracking the movement of delinquenciesby age of delinquency by "bucket" over aspecified
time period. Each bucket representsaperiod of delinquency in 30-day increments. Theroll from thelast delinquency bucket results
in charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of payments
under theloan. Averageroll ratesaredevel opedto avoid temporary aberrationscaused by seasonal trendsin delinguency experienced
by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary aberrations,
while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. Theroll rate cal culations are performed monthly and are done consistently
from period to period. We regularly monitor our portfolio to evaluate the period of time utilized in our roll rate migration analysis
and perform aformal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer receivables are maintained to reflect our
judgment of portfalio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our alowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
infurther detail under the caption " Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates' andinNote 2, " Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,”" in our 2015 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2015 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisionsto our policies
or methodol ogies during the first nine months of 2016.

112



HSBC USA Inc.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

September 30, June 30, December 31,

2016 2016 2015
(dollars are in millions)
AHOWANCE TOF CrEAIt I0SSES. ... ..cviiueieieieeeeeeeeee ettt e be et ere s $ 1060 $ 1,063 $ 912
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to: -
Loans.®
Commercial:
NON-BFfHHTBEES. ....cve ettt et et e st e et et e 1.81% 1.75% 1.35%
F N £ LT =TSR PPR — — —
Total COMMIEICIAL.......ccviiiecieeie et st e e st e e e s re e e e sreennesaeas 1.67 1.60 1.25
Consumer:
Residential MOMGAgES .......covovrriereirieierieesee e .18 .28 .38
HOME EQUILY MOMGAOES. .. cveuereirertiieterieesee sttt 1.17 1.26 150
CIedit CaIUS.... ..ottt et ettt et e et se et se et et e 5.09 4.94 458
OthEr CONSUMIET ....eeeeeeeeeeeieeeee et see ettt et s e e e e e e es e se e e eseesessesnesrenreneeseeneas 211 1.90 221
TOtAl CONSUMEY ..ottt ettt e ettt ee st etesbe et e sae et e eae e teeasesreeneesreesesaeas 45 54 .65
10, = TSRS SRRRRP 1.37% 1.33% 1.10%
Net charge-offs:®
COMMEICIA® ..ottt e et ee s e e st st ee s ee s eseeneeeenerennens 508% 399% 1,217%
(O] 15U 0= SRR 107 262 205
10,z OSSR PT 387% 378% 707%
Nonperforming loans.
(@0 011010 - 114% 102% 293%
(O] 15U 0= SRR 19 21 15

TOUBl .. 80% 73% 78%

@ Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these |oans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

@ Ratios at September 30, 2016 and June 30, 2016 reflect year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratio at December 31, 2015 reflects full year net charge-
offs.

@ Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the year-to-date periods ended September 30, 2016, June 30, 2016 and the year ended December 31, 2015
was 61 months, 48 months and 146 months, respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the commercial allowance for credit losses at period
end divided by average monthly commercial net charge-offs during the period.

@ Representsour commercial and consumer allowancefor credit | osses, asappropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balanceof total nonperforming
loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.

See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit
losses by general 1oan categories for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

Thealowance for credit losses at September 30, 2016 was relatively flat as compared with June 30, 2016 as higher |oss estimates
inour commercial loan portfoliowereoffset by lower lossestimatesin our consumer loan portfolio. Ascompared with December 31,
2015, the alowance for credit losses increased $148 million or 16 percent due to higher loss estimates in our commercia loan
portfolio, partially offset by lower loss estimates in our consumer |oan portfolio.

Our commercial allowance for credit losses increased $18 million or 2 percent as compared with June 30, 2016 and increased
$192 million or 25 percent ascompared with December 31, 2015 primarily dueto higher | ossestimates associ ated with the continued
deterioration of a single mining customer relationship and, as compared with December 31, 2016, other downgrades reflecting
weaknessesin thefinancial condition of certain customer relationships, including mining and other industry |oan exposures. These
increasesin both periodswere partially offset by charge-offs associated with oil and gasindustry loan exposures, including alarge
impaired oil and gasindustry loan that was sold during the second quarter of 2016, aswell aslower |oss estimates for risk factors
associated with expansion market loan exposures.

Our consumer allowance for credit losses decreased $21 million or 19 percent as compared with June 30, 2016 and decreased $44
million or 33 percent as compared with December 31, 2015 primarily due to charge-offs associated with the transfers of certain
mortgagesto held for sale and, as compared with December 31, 2016, continued improvements in economic and credit conditions
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and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages which are an increasingly larger portion of the portfolio. The
year-to-date period also reflectsrel eases of reservesrelated to certain residential mortgages serviced by othersasaresult of updated
information regarding the underlying loan characteristics being reported by the servicers and improved loss estimates associated
with certain home equity mortgages.

Our residential mortgage loan allowance for credit losses in al periods reflects consideration of certain risk factors relating to
trends such as recent portfolio performance as compared with average roll rates and economic uncertainty, including housing
market trends as well as second lien exposure.

The allowance for credit 10sses as a percentage of total loans at September 30, 2016 increased as compared with both June 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015 dueto an increase in the commercial loan percentage, partialy offset by a decrease in the consumer
loan percentage for the reasons discussed above.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs was relatively flat as compared with June 30, 2016 as higher
dollars of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio driven by the transfer of certain mortgages to held for sale were offset
by lower dollars of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio. Lower dollars of net charge-offsin our commercial loan
portfolioreflectsthe non-recurrence of acharge-off recorded during the second quarter of 2016 rel ated to the sale of alargeimpaired
oil and gas industry loan, partially offset by higher charge-offs associated with other oil and gas industry loan exposures. As
compared with December 31, 2015, the allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs decreased due to higher
dollars of net charge-offs in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios, partially offset by an increase in our overall
allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale;

% of % of % of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Total Total Total
Amount Loans Amount  Loans®  Amount  Loans®
September 30, 2016 June 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
(dollars are in millions)
COMMENGIAY ... $ 971  748% $ 953  746% $ 779  753%
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages..........voveereerereeerieereeeseeeseeeseeeseeseeeees 30 22.0 50 222 68 215
Home equity MOMQAgES.......coveiveeeeeerere e e e e see e seenens 17 1.9 19 1.9 24 1.9
(1= o [ A= (0 TS 34 8 33 8 32 8
Other CONSUMES .....ccuvirieiicreeete ettt st re bbb sre e 8 5 8 5 9 5
TOtAl CONSUMEES .....cvievei ettt et sre et et e e e beesbeenaeesareens 89 25.2 110 25.4 133 24.7
10 = $ 1,060 100.0% $ 1,063 100.0% $ 912 100.0%

@ SeeNote5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit
losses.

Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk Wealso maintain aseparatereservefor credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The

following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2016 2016 2015

(in millions)

Off-balance sheet credit Sk FESEIVE. ..ot $ 116 $ 120 $ 99

The increase in off-balance sheet reserves at September 30, 2016 as compared with December 31, 2015 reflects the impact of
downgrades during the first nine months of 2016. Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized under the caption "Off-Balance
Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations' in thisMD&A.
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Delinquency Thefollowing table summarizesdollarsof two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2016 2016 2015

(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

(0] 110411 (o =!I $ 124 $ 42 3 91
Consumer:
Residential Mortgages™@.............cocirveeeeeieeeeeeees e 774 801 858
Home equity MOrtgages™@ ... 47 49 56
L= o ] 7= o 13 12 13
OtNEE CONSUIMET ... ittt st e bt e ettt e s st e e s et e e s sbaesssbaeesaabesssnsnessabenesanbensans 10 9 11
QL0171 U 2T 844 871 938
B o = PRI $ 968 $ 913 $ 1,029
Delinquency ratio:
(000101101 (o =) IR 21% .07% .14%
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgagesV@.............ooocvreeeceeeeeeeeeeeeseeee s ssseeessses s sssesssassseees 4.28 4.44 4.83
Home equity MOMGAgESY@ . ... ... 3.22 3.24 350
L= o [ A or= o TSR 1.95 1.80 1.86
OtNEE CONSUMIET .....evee et ettt e e et e e ettt e st e e et et e seaaeessaeesaabeeesasseesssseesanbesssasaeesareeesanrensans 2.20 1.81 2.26
o) = I 00 1 U1 R 4.09 4.20 4.56
TOL ettt e et e e e et e et e et e et e e e et e a— e et e et e eareeareerane e et e rere e e e eanneaees 1.22% 1.12% 1.21%

@ At September 30, 2016, June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consumer mortgage |oan delinguency includes $699 million, $735 million and $793 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less coststo sell, including $391 million, $361 million and
$3 million, respectively, relating to loans held for sale.

@ Thefollowing table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:
September 30, June 30, December 31,
2016 2016 2015
(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEErESE-ONIY [OBNS.......cuviiiiiiicitieieieici ittt bbb bbbt b bbbttt b e $ 54 % 58 % 63
N T OO 246 241 253
Delinquency ratio:

INEErESE-ONIY [OBNS.......cuviiiiiiicitieieieici ittt bbb bbbt b bbbttt b e 1.49% 1.58% 1.73%
N T OO 2.00 1.96 2.08

Compared with June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio increased 10 basis
pointsand 1 basispoint, respectively, ashigher dollarsof delinquency inour commercial loan portfoliowaspartially offset compared
with June 30, 2016, and largely offset compared with December 31, 2015, by lower dollars of delinquency in our consumer loan
portfolio and lower outstanding loan balances primarily in our commercial loan portfolio.

Compared with June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our commercia two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio
increased 14 basis points and 7 basis points, respectively, largely due to a single mining industry exposure which became greater
than 60 days delinquent during the third quarter and lower outstanding loan balances, partially offset by the sale of an impaired
real estate exposure and, in the year-to-date period, the charge-off of certain business and corporate banking loans and improved
collections.

Our consumer loan two-month-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 11 basis points and 47 basis points from June
30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, due to lower levels of residential mortgage |oan delinquency driven by continued
improvementsin economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages which are an
increasingly larger portion of the portfolio. Home equity mortgage loan delinquency was also lower due to improved collections.
Residential mortgage loan delinquency levels however continue to be impacted by an elongated foreclosure process which has
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resulted in loans which would otherwise have been forecl osed and transferred to Real Estate Owned remaining in the loan account
and, consequently, in delinquency.

Residential mortgage delinquency is higher than home equity mortgage delinquency in al periods largely due to the inventory of
loanswhich are held at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and arein the foreclosure process.
Given the extended foreclosure time lines, particularly in those states where HUSI has a large footprint, the residential mortgage
portfolio has asubstantial inventory of loanswhich are greater than 180 days past due and have been written down to thefair value
of the collateral lesscost to sell. Thereisasubstantially lower volume of home equity mortgage loanswhere we pursue foreclosure
less frequently given the generally subordinate position of the lien. In addition, our legacy business, originated through broker
channelsand|oan transfersfrom HSBC Finance, isof alower credit quality and, therefore, contributesto an overall higher weighted
average delinquency rate for our residential mortgages. Both of these factors are expected to continue to diminish in future periods
asthe foreclosure backlog resulting from extended forecl osure time linesis managed down and the portfolio mix continuesto shift
to higher quality loans as the legacy broker originated business and prior loan transfers run off or sell.

Net Charge-offs of Loans Thefollowing tablesummarizesnet charge-off (recovery) dollarsaswell asthe net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

September 30, June 30, September 30,
2016 2016 2015

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Construction and Other real BSEALE............ccviiiir $ 6 % — % 6]
Business and corporate Banking............ccoiii 23 8 9
GlODAI DANKING......ooieiiii s 7 78 —
OtNEr COMMEICIBL ...ttt — — —
TOEl COMIMETCIE ......viuiieiiieieieie ettt b ettt enenen 24 86 8
Consumer:
RESIAENtIAl MOIMBGES. ... ..ottt bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt 31 2 1
HOME EUILY MOMGAgES. ......viiiiiiii bbb s 3 — —
(0= o o LSRR 7 7
OLNET COMSUMIEN ...ttt ettt ettt 3 1
QLI = el ST g T OSSN 41 8 9
TIOLAL .ttt bbb AR £ R R R £ AR R SRR £ AR R R e AR e R e R e R e R e nE R e R e e e b et e b bt s $ 65 $ [eY) $ 17
Net Charge-off Ratio: -
Commercial:
Construction and Other real ESEALE.............ccivuevriiriicic s (.22)% —% (.03)%
Business and Corporate BaNKING. ..o s .50 a7 .18
GlOBAI DBNKING ... .10 112 —
ONEr COMMEITIEL......e ettt ettt b e e bt e b et e b et eb bt e b e s e et et ne bt ne s — — —
TOLAl COMIMEICIAL ...ttt sttt b ae e b b se b e e s b e b ettt ebe st et e be et et et sesbeben .16 .57 .05
Consumer:
ReSIdential MOMGAgES........c.cueviieiiiceic s .70 (.05) .02
HOME EQUILY MOMAGES.......cvvveieteeeieteeet ettt bbbt bbb bbbt b bbb bbb bbb bbbt bbb s 81 — —
CIOUIT CAIOS ...ttt ettt £ttt ettt ettt 3.59 4.23 411
OLNET COMSUMIEN ...ttt ettt £ £ £ £ £ £ e bt ettt e ettt ettt en e e 111 2.87 .73
TOLAl CONSUMIEN ..ottt sttt ettt et e b e b e b e b e e b e b e R e eE e b e he e b e b e e se b e be e e b e b et b e b e bt st et e be e e s ebe e sesbebens .81 .16 .18
TOUAL .ttt ettt ettt a e a e b h et ebe et et At a et e A e eheehe s eReeRe b easeaeeeeneeReebe s eneetebenseaeereseneebenreneas 33 % A7% .08 %

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 decreased 14 basis points
compared with the quarter ended June 30, 2016 due primarily to lower levels of net charge-offsin our commercial loan portfolio
driven by the non-recurrence of acharge-off recorded during the second quarter of 2016 related to the sale of alarge impaired oil
and gas industry loan which was partially offset by higher charge-offs associated with other il and gas industry loan exposures
and higher levels of net charge-offsin our consumer loan portfolio driven by the transfer of certain mortgages to held for sale.

Compared with the quarter ended September 30, 2015, our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loansincreased 25 basis
points reflecting higher dollars of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio driven by the transfer of certain mortgages to
held for sale and in our commercial loan portfolio due to higher charge-offs associated with oil and gas industry loan exposures.
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Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2016 2016 2015

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and Other real EStALE. .......ccovvvverrirerieeerer e seseeeas $ 24 $ 47 % 53
Business and corporate banking..........cceeveeeeeeeieisiese e sre e e sae e 202 238 167
GlODbEl DANKING ...t et 621 643 44
Other COMMENCIA .......ceiieei e e st st s re e e eaae s 1 1 1
Commercial nonaccrua loansheld for Sale ... — 57 26
TOtAl COMMEICIAL.....ceeeeeeeeeeeeeese ettt re et e e see e enaeneeneenens 848 986 291
Consumer:
Residential mortgagesP @M@ et 389 437 814
Home equity MOMGAgES ™ ..........oeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeesees s ss s snens 73 73 71
Consumer nonaccrual 10ans held for SAE™.........oo.ovveereeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, 416 376 3
TOLBI CONSUIMES ...ttt sttt se et eaeetesaesbesbeseeseessabeseeneeneeneeneeneas 878 886 888
Total NONACCIUING J0ANS.........c.ooueieeeeceececeeeee ettt sttt se e ee e seeaeas 1,726 1,872 1,179
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate Danking ............coeoereereeerierienesese s 1 1 1
Total COMMEICIAL........oieeiece e ettt ere e b e eaee s 1 1 1
Consumer:
(O o ] o o RS 9 9 9
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt ettt ettt bbb 7 7 7
TOLA CONSUMEN ...ttt ettt st st st s a et sttt st 16 16 16
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more............cccceeevevieveeeenens 17 17 17
Total NONPErfOrMING I0ANS.......c.ciuieeeceeeeee e ereas 1,743 1,889 1,196
Other real @tate OWNEA® ... 34 31 29
Total NONPEIrfOrMING ASSELS........civieiceceeie sttt st st seseens $ 1,777 $ 1920 $ 1,225

@ At September 30, 2016, June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, nonaccrual consumer mortgage |oans held for investment include $318 million, $428 million
and $768 million, respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans
discharged under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days
contractually delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.
Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our customer loan portfolio.

@ Thetrend in nonaccrual loans reflects the impact of transfers of certain residential mortgage loans to held for sale during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016.

®

Includes less than $1 million of commercial other real estate owned at September 30, 2016, June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Nonaccrual loansat September 30, 2016 decreased ascompared with June 30, 2016 driven by lower |evel sof commercia nonaccrual
loans largely due to the upgrade of a single oil and gas industry relationship, the sale of an impaired real estate exposure, the
paydown of abusiness banking loan and theimpact of charge-offs of certain oil and gasindustry loan exposures. These decreases
werepartially offset by downgradesreflecting weaknessesin thefinancial condition of certain customer relationships. Ascompared
with December 31, 2015, nonaccrua loans increased due to higher levels of commercial nonaccrual loans due to the downgrade
of a single mining customer relationship as well as other downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial condition of certain
customer rel ationships, predominantly oil and gas, and mining industry related. Our consumer nonaccrual 1oans decreased slightly
compared with both June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 reflecting the impact of continued improvements in economic and
credit conditions. Residential mortgage nonaccrual loan levels continue to be impacted by an elongated foreclosure process as
previously discussed. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more remained flat compared with both June 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrua status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2015 Form 10-K.
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Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regardingimpairedloans, including TDR Loans, aswell ascertain other commercial credit quality indicators. Commercial impaired
loansincreased as compared with December 31, 2015 largely due to higher nonaccrual loans for the reasons discussed above and,
to alesser extent, higher TDR Loans reflecting the restructuring of certain customer relationships.

Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as a significant credit exposure with anindividual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We participate in lending activity throughout the United States
and internationally. In general, we manage the varying degrees of credit risk associated with on and off-balance sheet transactions
through specific credit policies. These policies and procedures provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It
isour policy to require collateral when it is deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending
upon management’s credit evaluation. As with any nonconforming and non-prime loan products, we utilize high underwriting
standards and price these loansin amanner that is appropriate to compensate for higher risk. We do not offer teaser rate mortgage
loans.

Our loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:
* Interest-only loans—A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which results in lower payments during the initial 1oan period.
» Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans— A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfolios, including certain loans held
for sale, at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in more
than one category below.

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015

(in millions)
Interest-only residential MOrtgage |0ANS. ......c.vocveereeeeeee e $ 3623 $ 3,645
ARM L0BNSY ... ses s es s es s es s ssnssssnnees 12,299 12,180

@ During the remainder of 2016 and during 2017, approximately $138 million and $817 million, respectively, of the ARM loans will experience their first
interest rate reset.

Thefollowing table summarizes the concentrations of first and second lienswithin the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amountsin the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $971 million and $11 million
at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, and home equity mortgage loans held for sale of $4 million at
September 30, 2016.

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015
(in millions)
Closed end:
[T AL = O $ 17091 $ 17,758
SECONA LIBN ...ttt et et e eae e beeaseebeeasesaeesesaeesbesaeesbesseestessnantenas 75 89
REVOIVING™ ..ottt ee e se e s ee e e et e s es e es e s eeeeeeeseseeen e 1,379 1,511
TOBL. ..ottt ettt b ettt et b et s et bbb e A e bt eae et bebeb e e bbb eae s et et et e e s bt eneanaas $ 18545 $ 19,358

@ A majority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations The following table reflects regional exposure at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 for
our real estate secured loan portfalios:

Commercial Residential

Construction and Mortgages and
Other Real Home Equity
Estate Loans Mortgages

September 30, 2016:

LS T 05 QS = = TS 30.2% 32.2%
L@ 1o 1= U 21.4 38.6
North Central UNited SLALES.........ccviieiieeeee ettt 3.2 3.7
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccooevvveireieneicnenesenenee 7.7 8.8
SOULhern UNItEd SEALES..........coiiiie ettt st et ne s 27.2 12.2
Western United States, excluding California..........cccoeevevnenenninsensesees e 6.2 45
=t TS 4.1 —
1 - SRS 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2015:

INEW Y OTK SEBLE.......cccviiieeciececcte ettt ettt et st te s e s be s e e s besaaesbeeaeesbeenreebeenresneennes 27.6% 32.8%
L0211 1)1 o= W 20.0 36.9
North Central UNited SEALES........cceccvieiiecie sttt ettt s 3.1 4.2
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccoeovveeineineicnecneennee 8.9 8.9
SOULhern UNItEd SEALES..........coiiiiee ettt ettt et et st st bt enee s 25.8 12.8
Western United States, excluding California..........coceoeeeeerieneneniene e 5.7 4.4
IMLEXICO ettt ettt ettt e et e e e e e be et e sae e besaeesbesaeesbesasesbeesseabeenseabeenresneennas 8.9 —
1= 100.0% 100.0%

Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Credit risk associated with derivativesis measured asthe net replacement cost
of derivative contractsin areceivable position in the event the counterparties of such contractsfail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterpartiesto our derivative activitiesinclude financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrenceof certain events. In addition, wereduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty.

Thetotal risk in aderivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

e volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract
payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

e credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

¢ theexistence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

e existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.

The table below presents total credit risk exposure calculated using the Basel 111 Standardized Approach regulatory capital rules
published by U.S. banking regul atory agencieswhich includesthe net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any
adjusted potential future exposure as measured in reference to the notional amount. The regulatory capital rules recognize that
bilateral netting agreementsreducecredit risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk wei ghted assetswhen netting requirements
have been met. As aresult, risk weighted amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures.
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Thetotal credit risk exposure presented in the table bel ow potentially overstates actual credit exposure becauseit ignores collateral
that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures; and the regulatory capital rules compute exposures over the
lifeof derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain provisionsthat allow usto close out thetransactioniif the counterparty
failsto post required collateral. In addition, many contracts give ustheright to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity
date. As aresult, these contracts have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived
from the regulatory capital rules.

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015
(in millions)
Risk associated with derivative contracts:
Total Credit FiSK EXPOSUIE. .......eiieeiriieeeie ettt sttt eeae bt aesbesbesbesbesbesbeseeseenseeeneeneeneens $ 30661 $ 33,890
Less: collateral held agaiNSt EXPOSUNE........coveviieirieeseeee ettt sttt sttt et 6,797 6,564
INEL CrEdit FISK EXPOSUIE .....eeiieie ettt ettt sttt st te e st et e se e e e seebesaesaesbesbeseese e beneeneeneeneens $ 23864 $ 27,326

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effectiveliquidity management i sdefined asensuring we can meet customer |oan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawal s
and other cash commitments efficiently under both normal operating conditionsand under unpredictabl e circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achievethisaobjective, wehaveguidelinesthat requiresufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensurethat it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well asto address the
more limited sources of liquidity availableto it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for HSBC Bank USA to ensure
that it can meet itsliquidity needsin various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stresstesting scenarios, formsthebasis
for liquidity management and contingency funding plans.

During the ninemonthsended September 30, 2016, marketpl aceliquidity continued to remain avail ablefor most sourcesof funding.
The prolonged period of low interest rates continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

In December 2015, HSBC submitted its full resolution plan to the FRB and the FDIC as required under the Dodd-Frank Act (the
Systemically Important Financia Institution Plan or " SIFI Plan™) and HSBC Bank USA submitteditsfull resol ution plan asrequired
under the Federal Deposit InsuranceAct (the Insured Depository Institution Plan or "1DI Plan"). As of the date of thisreport, HSBC
had not received formal feedback on the 2015 plansfrom the agencies. During thethird quarter of 2016, the next annual submission
date for both the HSBC SIFI Plan and the HSBC Bank USA IDI Plan were extended to December 31, 2017.

As previously reported, as a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel 111
regulatory capital and liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("Basel Committee™), together with
theimpact of similar implementation by United Kingdom banking regulators, we continueto review the composition of our capital
structure. As discussed below, during the second quarter of 2016, we replaced certain preferred equity instruments that receive
less favorable treatment under the rules with new Basel 111 compliant instruments.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $17,139 million and $7,478 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively, of which $16,514 million and $6,708 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balances may
fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Surplus
interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to resell
depending on market conditions and the opportunity to maximize returns.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $30,714 million and $19,847 million at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity.

Trading Assets includes securities totaling $13,243 million and $11,155 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $54,231 million and $49,797 million at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and
discussion on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $6,062 million and $4,995 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.
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Deposits totaled $131,082 million and $118,579 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, which
included $101,452 million and $90,463 million, respectively, of core deposits as cal culated in accordance with FFIEC guidelines.
See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt increased to $39,500 million at September 30, 2016 from $33,509 million at December 31, 2015. The following
table presents the maturities of long-term debt at September 30, 2016:

(in millions)

2016 ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt te e ebe e te e ebe s ebe et ebe st ebesteheetekeeteAeebeAeebeneebentebesebe s ete s etesteteatebeeteteeteseebeneebeneabeneetens $ 1,338
2007 et e et et e et ettt eateateteeteiaeebeateateeteatetetetenteateteateteeteeteeteeteeteeteetesteesetentesensenteneeneareas 5,814
L0 TSSO 9,227
2009 ...ttt ettt et be e ebe e ebe s ebe et ete et ebestebeetekeeteAeebeAeebentebentetesebe s etetebe st ete st ebeeteteeteseebeneebeneabeneetens 4,406
2020 ...ttt et et et et et et et et eaeeateateteeteiaeebeeteateatesetetesententeteaeeteeaeeteeteeteateeteetesteetetentesensenteneeneateas 6,517
LIS 1= 1= (SR 12,198
TOEAl .ttt ettt ettt ettt et et et et e et e st ebe st ebe st ebestebeebeheebeseebeaeebentebe s ebeseebestebesheteebebesbeReebensebeneebesebeseteseebeseebeseeteatas $ 39,500

The following table summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the nine months ended September 30, 2016
and 2015:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015

(in millions)
LONG-TEMN AEDE ISSUEH.........eovieieeietceee ettt sttt ettt e ettt se st et eaeesseebese e ssetesess s ssesesensnatas $ 7675 $ 15798
o g0 (=g 0= o A (= o - Lo (OSSR SS (2,122) (9,383)
NEt 1ONG-tEIM AEDE ISSUEH ...ttt ettt sttt b et b e ss s bebe s st $ 5553 $ 6415

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securitiesincluding debt securities and preferred
stock. The shelf hasno dollar limit, but the amount of debt outstanding islimited by the authority granted by the Board of Directors.
At September 30, 2016, we were authorized to issue up to $36,000 million, of which $14,033 million was available. HSBC Bank
USA has a $40,000 million Global Bank Note Program of which $15,736 million was available at September 30, 2016.

Asamember of the FHL B and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, wehave secured borrowing facilitieswhicharecollateralized
by loans and investment securities. At September 30, 2016, long-term debt included $6,700 million of borrowings from the FHLB
facility. Based upon theamountspledged ascollateral under thesefacilities, wewereallowed accessto further overnight borrowings
of up to $8,922 million.

Preferred Equity During the second quarter of 2016, HSBC USA redeemed all of itsremaining externally issued preferred stock,
including its Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series F Preferred Stock, Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Series G Preferred Stock
and 6.50 percent Non-Cumulative Series H Preferred Stock, totaling $1,265 million. In connection with these redemptions, HSBC
USAiissued $1,265 million of 6.0 percent Non-Cumul ative Series| Preferred Stock toHSBC North America. SeeNote 16, " Retained
Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” for additional details.

Common Equity During the nine monthsended September 30, 2016, we did not receive any cash capital contributionsfrom HSBC
North Americalnc. and we did not make any capital contributions to our subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA.

Selected Capital Ratios Capital amountsand ratiosare cal cul ated in accordancewith banking regul ationsin effect at September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015. In managing capital, we devel op targets for common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets,
Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets, total capital to risk weighted assets and Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (this
latter ratio, also known as the "Tier 1 leverage ratio"). Capital targets are reviewed at least semi-annually to ensure they reflect
our business mix and risk profile, as well as real-time conditions and circumstances. The following table summarizes selected
capital ratiosfor HSBC USA:

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk Weighted 8SSELS.........ccooereririire e e 13.5% 12.0%
Tier 1 capital t0 riSk WEIGhEE SSELS ......c.eivieirieirieiri e 14.3 12.6
Total capital t0 risk WEIGhLEA @SSELS.......ccveeeeeerecere e sr e sre e sresnens 18.0 16.5
Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (Tier 1 leverage ratio) .........cooeeveeereereneneneseseneneens 9.1 9.5
TOtal €QUILY 1O TOLBI BSSELS.......eivieeeereeeereet ettt bbb nn s 10.1 109
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HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North America Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ("I CAAP") worksin conjunction with the HSBC Group's ICAAP. The HSBC North Americal CAAP applies
to HSBC Bank USA and evaluates regulatory capital adequacy, economic capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various
stress scenarios. Our initial approach isto meet our capital needs for these stress scenarios locally through activities which reduce
risk. Totheextent that local aternativesareinsufficient or unavailable, wewill rely on capital support fromour parent in accordance
with HSBC'scapital management policy. HSBC hasindicated that they arefully committed and have the capacity to provide capital
as needed to run operations and maintain sufficient regulatory capital ratios.

Regulatory capital requirements are based on the amount of capital required to be held, as defined by regulations, and the amount
of risk weighted assets, also calculated based on regulatory definitions. Economic Capital is a proprietary measure to estimate
unexpected loss at the 99.95 percent confidence level over a 1-year time horizon. Economic Capital is compared to a calculation
of available capital resources to assess capital adequacy as part of the ICAAP.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulators issued afinal rule implementing the Basel 111 capital framework in the United States which, for
banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, became effective in 2014 with certain provisions
being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. The Basel 111 final rule established an integrated regulatory capital
framework to improve the quality and quantity of regulatory capital. As aresult, the capital ratios in the table above are reported
in accordance with the Basel 111 transition rules within the final rule. The Basel 111 final rule also introduced a supplementary
leverage ratio ("SLR") with full implementation and compliance required by January 1, 2018. For additional discussion of the
Basdl 11 final rule requirements, including fully phased in required minimum risk-based capita ratios and the SLR, see Part I,
"Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity Requirements,” in our 2015 Form 10-K.

In 2014, the FRB adopted a final rule requiring enhanced supervision of the U.S. operations of non-U.S. banks such as HSBC.
Therulerequires certain large non-U.S. bankswith significant operationsin the United States, such asHSBC, to establish asingle
IHC to hold all of their U.S. bank and non-bank subsidiaries. The HSBC Group currently operates in the United States through
such an IHC structure (i.e., HSBC North America), and therefore, the implementation of thisrequirement did not have asignificant
impact on our U.S. operations. As previously disclosed, in accordance with the final rule HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank
USA received regulatory approval in 2015 to opt out of the "Advanced Approaches' (which include an advanced internal ratings
based approach for credit risk and an advanced measurement approach for operational risk) and are calculating their risk-based
and leverage capital requirements solely under the general risk-based capital rules of the Standardized Approach. In March 2016,
HSBC Bank USA submitted a request to the OCC to renew the opt out. HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, however,
remain subject to the other capital requirements applicable to Advanced A pproaches banking organizations such as: the SLR, the
countercyclical capital buffer, stress testing requirements, enhanced risk management standards, enhanced governance and stress
testing requirements for liquidity management, and other applicable prudential standards. Under the final rule, most of these
reguirements became effective July 1, 2016.

In November 2015, the Financial Stability Board issued its final standards for TLAC requirements for G-SIBs. In October 2015,
the FRB issued its proposal to impose TLAC requirementson U.S. G-SIBsand the U.S. IHCsowned by non-U.S. G-SIBs (“TLAC
Proposal”). The TLAC Proposal represents an extension of the current regulatory capital framework, which isaimed at ensuring
that a banking organization can absorb losses without falling into resolution. The TLAC Proposal would requirethe U.S. IHCs of
G-SIBs(“Covered IHCS"), including HSBC North America, to maintain minimumamountsof internal TLAC, whichwouldinclude
minimum levelsof TLAC and long-term debt satisfying certain eligibility criteria, and arelated TLAC buffer commencing January
1, 2019. Additionally, the TLAC Proposal would include “ clean holding company" requirements that impose stringent limitations
ontheability of Covered IHCstoincur commontypesof non-TLAC-related liabilities. The FRB requested commentson all aspects
of the proposal by February 19, 2016. We provided a comment letter to the FRB in February and a supplementary letter in June.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing U.S. bank holding companieswith $50 billion or morein total consolidated assets, including
HSBC North America, are required to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review
("CCAR") program, aswell asthe annual supervisory stress tests conducted by the FRB, and the semi-annual company-run stress
tests as required under DFAST. Under the rules, the FRB evaluates bank holding companies annually on their capital adequacy,
internal capital adequacy assessment process and plans for capital distributions, and will provide a non-objection in relation to
capital distributions only for companies that can demonstrate sufficient capital strength after making the capital distributions.
HSBC North America participatesin the CCAR and DFAST programs of the FRB and submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and
annua company-run DFAST resultsin April 2016. HSBC Bank USA is subject to the OCC's DFAST requirements, which require
certain banks to conduct annual company-run stress tests, and submitted its latest annual DFAST results in April 2016, and its
latest semi-annual DFAST resultsin October 2016. The company-run stresstestsare forward |ooking exercisesto assesstheimpact
of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline, adverse and severely adverse scenarios provided by the FRB and the OCC for the annual
exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual and mid-cycle exercises, on the financial condition and capital
adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter planning horizon.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA are required to disclose the results of their annual DFAST under the FRB and OCC's
severely adverse stress scenario and HSBC North Americais required to disclose the results of its mid-cycle DFAST under its
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internally devel oped severely adverse stress scenario. In July 2016, HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA publicly disclosed
their most recent annual DFAST results and the FRB also publicly disclosed its own DFAST and CCAR results. In October 2016,
HSBC North America publicly disclosed the results of its mid-cycle DFAST results.

In June 2016, the FRB informed HSBC North America, our indirect parent company, that it did not object to HSBC North America's
capital plan or the planned capital distributionsincluded in its 2016 CCAR submission. Stress testing results are based solely on
hypothetical adverse scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted as forecasts of expected outcomes or capital adequacy or
of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America. Capital planning and stresstesting for HSBC North Americamay impact
our future capital and liquidity.

HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are required to meet minimum capita requirements by our principal regulators. Risk-based
capital amounts and ratios are presented in Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

2016 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2016 are summarized in the following table:

Actual Estimated
January 1 October 1 .
through through Estimated
September 30, December 31, Full Year
2016 2016 2016
(in billions)
Funding needs:
NS T =g I 11, 1 T $ ® $ — 3 (6)
Net change in short term investments and SECUNtIES..........cccceveeeeeeieriececiene s 25 (5 20
Trading and OthEr @SSELS........coviieieee e 1 1 2
Total fuNAiNG NEEMS........cci i et sre e $ 200 $ @ $ 16
Funding sources:
Net Change iN AEPOSIES .....c.eeeeeeeeiriceee et $ 13 3 4 $ 9
Trading and other short term liabilities. ..o 1 — 1
Net change in [oNg-term debt.........cccvcvieiiresie e 6 — 6
Total FUNAING SOUICES .....c.eiieiiiieeeeeeee ettt e sb e b e e e $ 20 $ 4 $ 16

Theabovetablereflectsalong-term funding strategy. Daily balancesfluctuate aswe accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. Our prospects for
growth continue to be dependent upon our ability to attract and retain deposits and, to alesser extent, accessto the global capital
markets. Weremain confident in our ability to accessthemarket for long-term debt funding needsin the current market environment.
We continueto seek well-priced and stable customer deposits. We will continueto sell aportion of new mortgage loan originations
to PHH Mortgage.

HSBC Financereliesonitsaffiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy its funding needs which are not met by cash generated from
itsloan sales and operations.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictionsimposed by federal law on extensions of credit to, and certain other "covered
transactions' with HSBC USA and other affiliates. Covered transactions include |oans and other extensions of credit, investments
and asset purchases, and certain other transactions involving the transfer of value from a subsidiary bank to an affiliate or for the
benefit of an affiliate. A bank's credit exposure to an affiliate as aresult of aderivative, securitieslending/borrowing or repurchase
transaction is also subject to these restrictions. A bank's transactions with its non-bank affiliates are also required to be on arm's
length terms. Certain Edge Act subsidiaries of HSBC Bank USA are limited in the amount of funds they can provide to other
affiliatesincluding their parent. Amounts above their level of invested capital have to be secured with U.S. government securities.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management" in
thisMD&A.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

Asafinancia services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at September 30, 2016

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or Less Five Years Years Total 2015
(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations™............c........... $ 6481 $ 1912 $ 33 $ 8426 $ 8,850
Commercial letters of credit ... 263 — — 263 413
Credit deriVativeS?..........co.urvveeeiieeiieesises s 25,080 40,511 2,657 68,248 91,435
Other commitments to extend credit:

COMMENGIA® ..o 16,528 55,721 2,638 74,887 85,551

CONSUIMES ...ttt ettt ae e sne e e sne e 7,390 — — 7,390 7,625
TOAl oottt $ 55,742 $ 98,144 $ 5328 $159,214 $ 193,874

@ Includes $1,204 million and $910 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
@ Includes $38,642 million and $44,130 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
®  Includes $500 million and $4,999 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in theform of loans, participationsinloans, leasefinancing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
theright to changeterms or conditions, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and certain asset purchase commitments.

In connection with our commercial lending activities, prior to the third quarter of 2016, we provided liquidity support to Regency
Assets Limited ("Regency™), amulti-seller asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate.
Theliquidity support we provided to Regency wasin the form of lines of credit or asset purchase agreements. Under the terms of
these liquidity agreements, Regency could have called upon us to lend money or to purchase certain assets in the event Regency
was unable or unwilling to issue or rollover maturing commercia paper. At December 31, 2015, we had issued $3,362 million of
liquidity facilities to provide liquidity support to Regency. We received fees for providing these liquidity facilities. Credit risk on
these obligations was managed by subjecting them to our normal underwriting and risk management processes. During the third
quarter of 2016, Regency was restructured and these liquidity facilities were terminated. See Note 17, "Variable Interest Entities,
for additional discussion.

We also previously provided credit facilities to certain Canadian multi-seller ABCP conduits that had been subject to restructuring
agreements as part of the Montreal Accord. As part of the enhanced collateral pool established for the restructuring, we provided
aMargin Funding Facility to a Master Asset Vehicle which was undrawn. The undrawn facility totaled CAD $77 million at both
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015. In October 2016, this facility was terminated.

In addition to the above, we have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market funds
that invest in shorter-dated highly-rated money market securitiesto provide investors with a highly liquid and secure investment.
These funds price the assets in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a
constant price. The funds, however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than
50 basis points from the portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to priceits portfolio at market value and
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consequently would no longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds
because we do not absorb the majority of the expected future risk associated with thefund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity,
credit and other relevant risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.

Fair Value

Fair value measurement accounting principlesrequire areporting entity to takeinto considerationitsown credit risk in determining
thefair valueof financial liabilities. Theincorporation of our own credit risk accounted for anincrease of $60 million and adecrease
of $94 million in the fair value of financial liabilities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively,
compared with a decrease of $157 million and a decrease of $232 million during the prior year periods.

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated
at fair value and related derivatives affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, the gain (loss) on
debt designated at fair value and related derivatives during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 should not be considered
indicative of the results for any future period.

Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair
values are either determined or validated by afunction independent of the risk-taker. See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in
the accompanying consolidated financia statements for further details on our valuation control framework.

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish afair value hierarchy structure that prioritizesthe
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodol ogies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The mgjority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniquesthat feature one or more significant unobservableinputs (Level 3). The determination of thelevel of fair valuehierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or aliability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in devel oping the fair value hierarchy:

. whether the asset or liability istransacted in an active market with a quoted market price;
. the level of bid-ask spreads;

. alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;

. whether only afew transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

. whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services,

. whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

. whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair
value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted pricesin active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liahilities. A financial instrument is classified asalLevel 1 measurement if it islisted on an exchange or isan instrument actively
traded in the over-the-counter ("OTC") market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. Weregard financial
instruments such as equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded.
Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or by other foreign
governments, to-be-announced securities and non-callable securitiesissued by U.S. government sponsored entities.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify asLevel 1 inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, corporate debt, foreign government-backed debt, preferred securities, securities purchased and sold under resale
and repurchase agreements, precious metals, certain commercial loans held for sale, residential mortgage loans whose carrying
amount was reduced based on the fair value of the underlying collateral and real estate owned as Level 2 measurements. Where
possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are obtained based on transactions involving comparable assets and
liahilitiesto validate thefair value of these instruments. We have established a process to understand the methodol ogies and inputs
used by thethird party pricing servicesto ensurethat pricing information met thefair val ue objective. Where significant differences
arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined fair value, we investigate and reconcile the differences.
If the investigation resultsin a significant adjustment to the fair value, the instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair
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value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a correlation between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a
non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain structured derivative productsis determined using valuation
techniques based on inputs derived from observable benchmark index tranches traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control
processes and procedures have been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instrumentsthat share
similar risks to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors. In addition, a
validation process has been established, which includes participation in peer group consensus pricing surveys, to ensure that
valuation inputs incorporate market participants risk expectations and risk premium.

Level 3inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputsincorporate market participants assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our Level 3 instruments included the following: collateralized
debt obligations ("CDOs") for which there is alack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits
and structured notes for which the embedded credit, foreign exchange or equity derivatives have significant unobservable inputs
(e.g., volatility or default correlations), credit default swaps ("CDS'") with certain monoline insurers where the deterioration in the
creditworthiness of the counterparty, which isunobservable, hasresulted in significant adjustmentsto fair value, credit derivatives
executed against certain insurers where there is uncertainty in determining fair value, certain residential mortgage and subprime
mortgage loans held for sale, certain corporate debt securities, impaired commercial loans, derivativesreferenced toilliquid assets
of less desirable credit quality and, at December 31, 2015, mortgage servicing rights.

See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information on
Level 3 inputs as well as adiscussion of transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

Level 3 Measurements Thefollowingtableprovidesinformationabout Level 3assets/liabilitiesinrelationtototal assetgliabilities
measured at fair value at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, December 31,

2016 2015

(dollars are in millions)
LEVEl BASSEISVD ..ottt $ 478 $ 3,69
Total assets measured at fair VAIUED ... ceeeeeees e es s es e senssas 131,492 114,396
LEVE BLIADITTIES. ...cueecviecte ettt sttt sttt e et e se et e seebesaebesaetesaenesreneas 2,039 2,862
Total liabilities measured at fair VAIUE™ ............co.coovveieveeieceeceeceeeeeesseses s sesssessssss e senssas 91,838 83,148
Level 3 assets as apercent of total assets measured at fair Value.........ccceeveeeeecececnceccc e 3.6% 3.2%
Level 3liabilities as apercent of total liahilities measured at fair value.........ccccecvevivcivevevenienne 2.2% 3.4%

@ Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $3,410 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $1,378 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at September 30, 2016. Includes $3,577 million of
recurring Level 3 assets and $119 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2015.

®  Includes $130,036 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $1,456 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at September 30, 2016.
Includes $114,065 million of assets measured on arecurring basis and $331 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2015.

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities We have entered into credit default swaps with monoline
insurersto hedge our credit exposurein certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. We made $12 million and $25 million
positive credit risk adjustments to the fair value of our credit default swap contracts during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016, respectively, compared with positive adjustments of $12 million and $7 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. These adjustments to fair value are recorded in trading revenue (expense) in the
consolidated statement of income. We have recorded acumulative credit adjustment reserve of $25 million and $50 million against
our monoline exposure at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. The fair value of our monoline exposure net
of cumulative credit adjustment reserves equaled $200 million and $173 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively.

See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 as well
as for further details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.
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Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs Thefair value of certain financial instrumentsis measured using val uation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservabl einput parameterswhich can be selected from arange of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assetsor ligbilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform atest of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $26 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $13 million at September 30, 2016. The effect of changes in significant unobservable input parameters are
primarily driven by the uncertainty in determining the fair value of credit derivatives executed against certain insurers as well as
credit default swaps with certain monoline insurers and certain asset-backed securitiesincluding CDOs.

Assets Underlying Asset-backed Securities The following tables summarize the types of assets underlying our asset-backed
securities aswell as certain collateralized debt obligations held at September 30, 2016:

Total
(in millions)
Rating of securities:” Collateral type:
AAA COMMEXCial MOMGAGES. ....ceeererererererere sttt re ettt $ 4
Residential mortgages - AL A ..o 48
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME........c.cooiiirereneneree e 1
TOA AAA.......oooooeeeeeeeeeessssssssssssesssssseeeseeseeeeesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss - 53
AA oo 011 - a4
A Residential mortgages - AL A ..o - 5
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME........c.cooiiirereneneree e 39
HOME EQUILY - ATL An.eeei e e e 65
SIUAENE TOBNS ...t 84
L 111 SRR 453
TOB A oo seseeeee e ssesseees e T
BBB ... Residential mortgages - AL A ..o - 2
Collateralized debt ObligationS..........ccoevererierieiee e 191
TOA BBB......ooooooooeeeeeeesssssmsmsmssssssssssssssesesseeseesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnsssssss T 193
CCC . Residential mortgages - SUDPIIME........c.cooirire et T
s om

@ We utilize S& P as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S& P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used, in that
order. Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Risk Management

Overview Managingrisk effectivelyisfundamental tothedelivery of our strategic priorities. Todo so, weempl oy arisk management
framework at all levels and across all risk types. It fosters the continuous monitoring of the risk environment and an integrated
evaluation of risksand their interactions. It is designed to ensure that we have arobust and consistent approach to risk management
acrossall of our activities. Whilewe are subject to anumber of legal and regulatory actionsand investigations, our risk management
framework has been designed to provide robust controls and ongoing monitoring of our principal risks. We strive to continuously
improve our risk management processes through ongoing employee training and devel opment.

The principal risks associated with our operations include the following:

e Creditrisk isthe potential that aborrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, aswell astheimpact on the
value of credit instruments due to changesin the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk associated with
cross-border exposures;
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* Liquidity risk is the potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its
customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtain funding itself;

e Interest rate risk isthepotential impairment of net interest income dueto mismatched pricing between assetsand liabilities
aswell aslossesin value due to interest rate movements;

»  Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit spreads,
equity prices and commodity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;

e Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, or systems, or from
external events (including legal risk);

»  Compliance risk istherisk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of al relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations and
standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

e Fiduciary risk istherisk of breaching fiduciary dutieswherewe act in afiduciary capacity astrustee, investment manager
or as mandated by law or regulation;

* Reputational risk istherisk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectations asaresult of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those with whom it isassociated, that may cause stakeholders
to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences,

e Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute, and react appropriately to opportunities and/or
threats arising from changesin the market, some of which may emerge over anumber of years such as changing economic
and political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory devel opments or competitor action;

»  Security and Fraud risk istherisk to the business from terrorism, crime, fraud, information security, incidents/disasters,
cyber-attacks and groups hostile to HSBC interests;

e Model risk is the potential for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly;

»  Pension risk istherisk that the cash flows associated with pension assets will not be enough to cover the pension benefit
obligations required to be paid and includes the risk that assumptions used by our actuaries may differ from actual
experience; and

e Sustainability risk is the risk that financial services provided to customers indirectly result in unacceptable impacts on
people or on the environment.

See"Risk Management” in MD&A inour 2015 Form 10-K for amore compl ete discussion of the objectivesof our risk management
system aswell asour risk management policies and practices. Our risk management processinvolvesthe use of various simulation
models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what
isassumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonabl e estimates, with the understanding that actual
results may differ significantly from model projections.

Credit Risk Management Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well
as the impact on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures. There have been no material changes to our approach towards credit risk management
since December 31, 2015. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2015 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our
approach to credit risk.

Credit risk isinherent in various on- and off-balance sheet instruments and arrangements, such as:
e loan portfolios;
e investment portfolios;
» unfunded commitments such as letters of credit, lines of credit, and unutilized credit card lines that customers can draw
upon; and
» derivativefinancial instruments, such asinterest rate swapswhich, if morevaluabletoday than when originally contracted,
may represent an exposure to the counterparty to the contract.

While credit risk exists widely in our operations, diversification among various commercial and consumer portfolios helps to
lessen risk exposure. Day-to-day management of credit and market risk isperformed by the Chief Credit Officer/Head of Wholesale
Credit and Market Risk North Americaand the HSBC North America Chief Retail Credit Officer, who report directly to the HSBC
North America Chief Risk Officer and maintain independent risk functions. The credit risk associated with commercia portfolios
is managed by the Chief Credit Officer, while credit risk associated with retail consumer loan portfolios, such as credit cards,
installment loansand residential mortgages, ismanaged by theHSBC North AmericaChief Retail Credit Officer. Further discussion
of credit risk can be found under the "Credit Quality" caption in thisMD&A.
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Liquidity Risk Management Prior to 2016, we employed two key measures to define, monitor and control our liquidity and
funding risk in accordance with HSBC policy. The advances to core funding ratio was used to monitor our structural long-term
funding position. In addition, stressed coverage ratios, incorporating HSBC-specific stress scenarios, were used to monitor the
resilienceto severeliquidity stresses. Beginning in 2016, HSBC replaced these measures with the Basel Committee based Liquidity
Coverage Ratio ("LCR") and Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR") as discussed further below. As aresult, we now employ these
ratios as part of our approach to liquidity risk management. There have been no other material changes to our approach towards
liquidity risk management since December 31, 2015. See “Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2015 Form 10-K for a more
complete discussion of our approach to liquidity risk. Although certain measures used in our overal approach to liquidity
management have changed, we continuously monitor the impact of market events on our liquidity positions and continue to adapt
our liquidity framework to reflect market events and the evolving regulatory landscape and view as to best practices. Current
regulatory initiatives encourage banks to retain a portfolio of extremely high quality liquid assets. As such, we are maintaining a
large portfolio of high quality sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our liquidity management approach includes increased deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our business
growth, and using security sal esor secured borrowingsfor liquidity stresssituationsinour liquidity contingency plans. Aspreviously
discussed, HSBC Financereliesonitsaffiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy itsfunding needs outside of cash generated from
its loan sales and operations.

In addition, the Asset and Liability Management Committee monitors the overall mix of deposit and funding concentrations to
avoid undue reliance on individual funding sources and large deposit relationships.

The Basel Committee based LCR is designed to be a short-term liquidity measure to ensure banks have sufficient High Quality
Liquid Assets ("HQLA") to cover net stressed cash outflows over the next 30 days. Under European Commission Delegated
Regulation 2015/61, the Basel Committee based LCR became a minimum regulatory standard beginning in 2015. At September
30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, HSBC USA's LCR under the EU LCR rule was 135 percent and 121 percent, respectively. A
LCR of 100 percent or higher reflects an unencumbered HQL A balancethat is equal to or exceedsliquidity needsfor a30 calendar
day liquidity stress scenario. HQLA consists of cash or assetsthat can be converted into cash at little or no loss of valuein private
markets.

The European calibration of the Basel Committee based NSFR, which is alonger term liquidity measure with a 12-month time
horizon to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities, is still pending. Therefore, our calculation of NSFR is
based on our current interpretation and understanding of the Basel Committee final NSFR rule, which may differ in future periods
depending on completion of the European calibration and further implementation guidance from regulators. At September 30,
2016, HSBC USA's NSFR was 122 percent. A NSFR of 100 percent or more reflects an available stable funding balance from
liahilitiesand capital over the next 12 monthsthat is equal to or exceeds the required amount of funding for assets and off-balance
sheet exposures.

In 2014, the FRB, the OCC and the FDIC issued final regulations to implement the LCR in the United States, applicableto certain
large banking institutions, including HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA. The LCR final ruleisgenerally consistent with
the Basel Committee guidelines, but is more stringent in several areasincluding the range of assets that will qualify asHQLA and
the assumed rate of outflows of certain kinds of funding. Under the final rule, U.S. institutions began the LCR transition period
on January 1, 2015 and are required to maintain aminimum LCR of 100 percent by January 1, 2017, two years ahead of the Basel
Committee'stimeframe for compliance by January 1, 2019. Asaresult, HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA, arerequired
to maintain an LCR of 80 percent, starting on January 1, 2015 increasing annually by 10 percent increments and reaching 100
percent on January 1, 2017. The current requirement to report LCR to U.S. regulators on a monthly basis moved to a daily
requirement beginning July 1, 2016. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, HSBC Bank USA's LCR under the U.S.
LCR final rule was 127 percent and 114 percent, respectively. The LCR final rule does not address the NSFR requirement, which
iscurrently in an international observation period. Based on the results of the observation period, the Basel Committee and U.S.
banking regulators may make further changes to the NSFR. In April 2016, U.S. regulators issued for public comment a proposal
to implement the NSFR in the United States, applicable to certain large banking organizations, including HSBC North America
and HSBC Bank USA. The NSFR proposal is generally consistent with the Basel Committee guidelines, but similar to the U.S.
LCR fina rule, is more stringent in several areas including the required stable funding factors applied to certain assets such as
mortgage-backed securities. Under the proposal, U.S. institutions would be required to comply with the NSFR rule by January 1,
2018, consistent with the scheduled global implementation of the Basel Committee based NSFR.

Enhanced prudential standard rulesissued pursuant to Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act complement the LCR, capital planning,
resolution planning, and stress testing requirementsfor U.S. bank holding companies and foreign banking organi zations with total
global consolidated assets of $50 billion or more (" Covered Companies"). The rules require Covered Companies, such as HSBC
North America, to comply with various liquidity risk management standards and to maintain aliquidity buffer of unencumbered
highly liquid assets based on the results of internal liquidity stresstesting. Covered companies are also required to meet heightened
liquidity requirements, which include qualitative liquidity standards, cash flow projections, internal liquidity stress tests, and
liquidity buffer requirements. HSBC North America has implemented the standard and it does not have asignificant impact to our
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business model. Beginning July 1, 2016, HSBC North Americais treated as an IHC owned by a foreign banking organization.
Thistransition did not have a significant impact on our U.S. operations or change our liquidity management policies.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA have adjusted their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC
North Americaand HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changesto their liquidity profilesto support compliance with any
future final rules.

Our ability to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. The following table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at September
30, 2016:

Moody’s S&P Fitch
HSBC USA:
Short-term DOrTOWINGS.......c.coiiiiiiee e P-1 A-1 Fl+
Long-term/senior debt ..o A2 A AA-
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term DOITOWINGS.........cooviiiiiiiicr e P-1 A-1+ Fl+
LONG-TEMYSENION AEOL ...ttt Aa3® AA- AA-

@ Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA was Aa2 at September 30, 2016.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopoalitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and litigation matters, all of which could lead to adverse ratings actions.

In March 2016, Moody's changed the rating outlook for HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA to negative from stable following a
similar change in outlook to negative from stable for HSBC. The outlook change for HSBC signifies Moody's concerns about a
weakeninginitsintrinsic financial strength dueto deteriorating operating conditionsin Hong Kong, one of theHSBC'skey markets.
In spite of their concerns, Moody's stated that HSBC's willingness to provide support to its U.S. subsidiaries remains very high.
While the outlook changed, Moody's affirmed its long- and short-term supported debt and deposit ratings for HSBC USA and
HSBC Bank USA.

In July 2016, S& P took various rating agency actions on U.K. banks, including HSBC, to reflect rising economic risks for the
U.K. domestic banking industry, including potential pressuresarising fromthe U.K. voteto leavethe EU. Asaresult, S& Pchanged
the rating outlook for HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA to negative from stable. While the outlook changed, S& P affirmed its
long- and short-term counterparty credit ratings for HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

Although we closely monitor and strive to manage factorsinfluencing our credit ratings, thereisno assurancethat our credit ratings
will not change in the future. At September 30, 2016, there were no pending actionsin terms of changes to ratings on the debt of
HSBC USA or HSBC Bank USA from any of the rating agencies.

Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. Our approach to managing interest rate risk is summarized in
MD&A in our 2015 Form 10-K under the caption “Risk Management”. There have been no material changes to our approach
towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2015.

Present value of a basis point ("PVBP") is the change in value of the balance sheet for a one basis point upward movement in all
interest rates. The following table reflects the PVBP position at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, December 31,
2016

2015
(in millions)
Institutional PVBP MovemMent liMit ..ottt $ 80 $ 8.0
PVBP position af PEMOC ©N0.......ccoiiieieriereereeeceee st se e ese e sne st sresreneeneenes 1.0 18
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Net interest income simulation modeling techniques are utilized to monitor a number of interest rate scenarios for their impact on
projected net interest income. These techniques simulate the impact on projected net interest income under various scenarios, such
as rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as 200 basis points, as well as scenariosin
which rates rise by as much as 200 basis point or fall by as much as 100 basis points over a twelve month period. The following
table reflects the impact on projected net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015
Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Estimated increase (decrease) in projected net interest income (reflects projected rate
movements on October 1, 2016 and January 1, 2016, respectively):

Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the yield curve............cccoceeeeeene. $ 255 10% $ 179 7%
Resulting from agradual 100 basis point decrease in theyield curve............cocceeunee. (341) (14) (180) 7
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increasein theyield curve.............c.ccceeennee. 458 19 349 13

Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on October 1,
2016 and January 1, 2016, respectively):

Resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve...................... (285) (12) (187) (7)
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 405 16 274 10
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve.................... (493)  (20) (346) (13)
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 739 30 525 19

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonabl e estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital Risk/Sensitivity of Other Comprehensive Loss Large movementsof interest ratescould directly affect somereported capital
balancesand ratios. The mark-to-market val uation of available-for-sale securitiesisrecorded on atax eff ected basisto accumul ated
other comprehensive loss. This valuation mark isincluded in two important accounting based capital ratios. common equity Tier
1 capital to risk weighted assets and total shareholders' equity to total assets. Under the final rule adopting the Basel 111 regulatory
capital reforms, the valuation mark is being phased into common equity Tier 1 capital over five years beginning in 2014. At
September 30, 2016, we had an available-for-sale securities portfolio of approximately $40,800 million with a positive mark-to-
market adjustment of $381 million. Anincrease of 25 basispointsin interest rates of al maturitieswould lower the mark-to-market
by approximately $353 million to a net gain of $28 million with the following results on our capital ratios:

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Actual Proforma” Actual Proforma®
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets.........cccceveeeeeenene 13.5% 13.4% 12.0% 11.9%
Total shareholders equity to total @SSats........ocooevereriinenereeeee s 10.1 10.0 10.9 10.8

@ Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.

Market Risk Management Market risk istherisk that movementsin market factors, such asforeign exchangerates, interest rates,
credit spreads, equity prices and commodity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios. Exposure to market risk
is separated into two portfolios:

e Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of customer-derived positions.

* Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercia banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and hel d-to-maturity.

There have been no material changes to our approach towards market risk management since December 31, 2015. See “Risk
Management” in MD&A in our 2015 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.

Vaueat Risk ("VaR") VaR isatechnique that estimates the potential losses on risk positions as aresult of movements in market
rates and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. VaR is calculated for al trading positions and
non-trading positions which are equally sensitive to market moves regardless of how we capitalize those exposures. VAR is
calculated at a 99 percent confidence level for a one-day holding period.

131



HSBC USA Inc.

Trading Portfolios Trading VaR generates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps, credit derivatives, precious metals(i.e. gold, silver, platinum) in both
North America and emerging markets.

Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99 percent 1 day (in millions) :

The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)
At September 30, 2016........cccoveerererneerenenn $ 13 6 $ 1% 2 $ 6
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016
AVENagE.....ciii s 2 5 2 (3)
MAXITUM.....oeviieieiienee e 10 11
MINIMUM e 1 2 1
At December 31, 2015........cccooieeiieeeeeee e $ 1 $ 3 $ 1 3% — 3% 5

@ portfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic
market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individua risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number representsthe
benefit of portfolio diversification. Asthe maximum and minimum occur on different daysfor different risk types, it is not meaningful to calculate aportfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ Thetotal VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading
portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Backtesting In the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we experienced one backtesting exception. The profit exception
occurred in March due to a gain from independent price verification on Venezuel a single-name CDS positions. Independent price
verification is not captured in the single day VaR model.

We daily validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that excludes non-
model ed items such as fees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactionsfrom the actual reported profit and loss. We would
expect on average to see two to three profits, and two to three losses, in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confident level over aone-
year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to gauge how well the
models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it isimportant to note that profitsin
excess of VaR are only considered when backtesting the accuracy of models and are not used to cal culate the VaR numbers used
for risk management or capital purposes.
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Backtesting of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions) :

Non-trading Portfolios Non-trading VaR predominantly relates to Balance Sheet Management ("BSM™) and represents the
potential negative changesin the investment portfolio market value (which includes available for sale and held to maturity assets)
and associated hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasuries and U.S. agency mortgage
backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates, mortgage spreads, and asset swap spreads.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

Portfolio
Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)

At September 30, 2016 .......cccvirereeriiee e $ 52 $ 24 $ 1) s 77
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

58 25 @) 77

66 29 88

35 21 46

3B 3 26 $ (a6) $ 47

@ Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR a so includestheinterest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transferred priced into BSM which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For a broader discussion on how interest
rate risk is managed, please refer to the “ Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2015 Form 10-K.

Trading Portfolio MSRs Trading occursin mortgage banking operations as aresult of an economic hedging program intended to
offset changes in the value of mortgage servicing rights. Economic hedging may include, for example, forward contracts to sell
residential mortgages and derivative instruments used to protect the value of MSRs.

MSRs are assets that represent the present value of net servicing income (servicing fees, ancillary income, escrow and deposit
float, net of servicing costs). MSRs are separately recognized upon the sale of the underlying loans or at the time that servicing
rights are purchased. MSRs are subject to interest rate risk, in that their value will decline as a result of actual and expected
acceleration of prepayment of the underlying loansin afalling interest rate environment.

Interest rate risk is mitigated through an active hedging program that uses trading securities and derivative instruments to offset
changes in value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number
of risk assessment techniques.
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Thefollowing table reflects the modeling techniques, primarily rate shock analyses, used to monitor certain interest rate scenarios
for their impact on the economic value of net hedged M SRs:

September 30, December 31,
2016

2015
(in millions)
Projected change in net market value of hedged M SRs portfolio (reflects projected rate
movements on October 1, 2016 and January 1, 2016, respectively):
Value of hedged M SRS POIFOlI0.......ciuiireiriirii e $ 95 $ 140
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve:
Change limit (N0 WOrSE than).............cuoeueiiueiiiciieie s (10) (10)
Calculated change in net market VAU ... 1 2
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point increase in the yield curve:
Change limit (N0 WOrSE than)..........ccceiuiiiiininii e 4) 4
Calculated change in net Market VAU ............covueiiciiciic s 1 (1
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve:
Change limit (N0 WOrSE than).............couueiiueiiiciii s (6) (6)
Calculated change in net market VAU ..o 1 (@]

The economic value of the net hedged M SRs portfolio is monitored on adaily basis for interest rate sensitivity. If the economic
value declines by more than established limits for one day or one month, various levels of management review, intervention and/
or corrective actions are required.

Thefollowing table summarizes the frequency distribution of the weekly economic value of the M SR asset during the nine months
ended September 30, 2016. Thisincludes the change in the market value of the MSR asset net of changes in the market value of
the underlying hedging positions used to hedgethe asset. The changesin economic value are adjusted for changesin M SR valuation
inputs or assumptions that were made during the course of the year.

Below $(2) $0 $2 Over
Ranges of mortgage economic value from market risk-related activities $(2) to $0 to $2 to $4 $4

(dollars are in millions)

Number of trading weeks market risk-related revenue was within
the StAted FraNQE........ocveee e — 16 23 — —

Operational Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach toward operational risk since December
31, 2015.

Compliance Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach toward compliance risk since December
31, 2015.

Fiduciary Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach toward fiduciary risk since December 31,
2015.

Reputational Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach toward reputational risk since December
31, 2015.

Strategic Risk Management There have been no material changesto our approach toward strategic risk since December 31, 2015.

Security and Fraud Risk Management There have been no material changesto our approach toward security and fraud risk since
December 31, 2015.

Model Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach to model risk since December 31, 2015.
Pension Risk Management There have been no material changes to our approach toward pension risk since December 31, 2015.

Sustainability Risk Management There have been no material changesto our approach toward sustainability risk since December
31, 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

Thefollowing table summarizes the quarter-to-date and year-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets,
liahilities and shareholders equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on ataxable
equivalent basis, which resulted in increases to interest income on securities of less than amillion and $1 million during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, and increasesto interest income on securities of $3 million and $9 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. Net interest marginiscalculated by dividing net interest
income by the average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2016 included fees of $24 million and $57 million, respectively, compared with fees of $18 million and $51

million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With Banks ...........cccoveernreesecenereenes . $ 35633 $ 46 51% $ 35035 23 .26%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements............. 13,829 54 1.55 5,781 7 45
Trading SECUNTIES ....c.eveiiieicerie ettt 11,276 52 1.83 10,340 75 2.87
Securities 52,627 234 177 48,743 237 1.94
Loans:
COMMENCIEL ...ttt 60,063 383 2.54 64,318 356 2.20
Consumer:
Residential MOMQAgES .......covueuirerieierireeieenireee st 18,080 148 3.26 17,382 143 3.28
HOme equity MOMQAGgES........ccirerueieereeieeniriee st 1,484 13 3.49 1,660 14 3.22
Credit CArOS......c.cvieieeieereieeirireeie e 669 17 10.11 681 18 10.73
OtNEr CONSUMES ...ttt 467 7 5.96 496 8 5.83
TOtEl CONSUIMIET ...ttt bbb 20,700 185 3.56 20,219 183 3.59
TOLAl JOANS ...ttt 80,763 568 2.80 84,537 539 253
OLNEY ...t 2,072 12 2.30 2,563 15 2.33
Total iNterest arNING aSSELS.......cvvcverriieeieiieeesssse sttt seeas $ 196,200 $ 966 1.96% $ 186,999 896 1.90%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ... (1,062) (644)
Cash and due from Danks ...........cerveirnnnrers s 922 843
OLNEN @SSELS........euieteiatietreseieie sttt bbbt 15,201 13,719
TOLAI @SSELS.....vueueteenceetreeser e '$ 211,261 "$ 200,917
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
SAVINGS AEPOSIES .....ovvieceereiicte ettt nsee $ 50976 $ 32 25% $ 49,079 31 .25%
TiME AEPOSIES. ...cecviieiieie sttt 26,338 72 1.09 28,619 43 .61
Other interest bearing dePOSIES. .........ccirrreieririre e 9,468 2 .08 4,263 — —
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks dEPOSIES .......o.cueiirireireree e 8,846 12 .54 7,056 .09
Other interest bearing dePOSIES..........ceirrireieririee e 4,367 4 .36 3,218 14
Total interest bearing dEPOSIES........coviueeririreierree s 99,995 122 49 92,235 7 33
ShOrt-term BOMTOWINGS .......cuvierieiirieiei ettt 8,793 22 1.00 10,750 13 43
LONG-EIM AEDE ...ttt 37,359 213 2.27 32,332 184 2.26
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ............ocoevrriinreiireeeee 146,147 357 97 135,317 274 .80
Tax liahilities and Other.........ccviuiriic s 843 5 2.36 631 2 2.06
Total interest bearing liabilities. ........oeevrieecrcce e $ 146,990 $ 362 .98% $ 135,948 276 .81%
Net interest income/INterest rate SPread..........oveeeevevceeeersieeersesseeessesse s $ 604 .98% 620 1.09%
NONINLErest BEANNG GEPOSILS ........vveeeeeeeeeeeeeeesseees e eseseeesesssesesessseeeeseseseenn 32052 — 33,485 -
Other [1DIHITIES. .....cvveeeeirerecee s 11,166 10,709
Total Shareh0olders’ EQUILY........coueeirireerieeer e 21,053 20,775
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity..........ccccoeeerrerscssceeeee s '$ 211,261 "$ 200,917
Net interest margin on average earming aSSEtS ...............eveeeereeeeerseessseseons - 1.22% — 1.31%
Net interest income to average total 8SSELS........covvvererieererisieerere e T 113% T 122%
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 2015
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(dollars are in millions)
Assets
Interest bearing deposits With DaNKS .........cceuriceririiceisisesssse e $ 339% $ 128 50% $ 33689 $ 65 .26%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 11,613 140 1.61 3,626 13 46
Trading SECUMTIES ......ueuieeteeieiet ettt 11,313 197 2.33 12,390 261 281
SECUMTIES ...ttt 52,314 722 1.84 48,318 666 184
Loans:
COMMENCIBl ..ttt 62,650 1,148 2.45 62,507 1,010 2.16
Consumer:
Residential MOMQagES ........cervreeueeririeereriee et 17,983 447 3.32 17,137 426 3.33
HOME EQUILY MOMQAGES......c.cuiuirerieirereicreeieieeiereee e 1,530 40 3.49 1,703 42 3.29
CrEAIL CAITS........ceceeveceeteereeee bbb 667 53 10.61 678 55 10.88
OthEr CONSUMES ......oviiiiieiiei ettt 482 21 5.82 512 22 5.69
Total consumer . 20,662 561 3.63 20,030 545 3.64
TOA TOBNS... ettt 83,312 1,709 2.74 82,537 1,555 252
OENEY ... 2,329 31 1.78 2,840 44 2.05
Total interest earning assets..... . $194876 $ 2927 2.01% $ 183400 $ 2,604 1.90%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ... (1,001) (674)
973 864
. 13,091 15,290
$ 207,939 $ 198,880
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
SAVINGS HEPOSIES ......oveereieiiiie ettt nnenes $ 50,622 $ 93 25% $ 45567 $ 66 .19%
TIME AEPOSITS. ..ottt 26,528 201 1.01 27,506 101 49
Other interest bearing deposits 6,314 6 13 4,421 3 .10
Foreign deposits:
FOreign banks dEPOSITS. ......c.coireruriririeererieiee ettt 8,871 32 .48 6,894 3 .05
Other interest bearing deposits . 4,500 12 .36 3,890 4 A3
Total interest DEAriNG dEPOSITS. .....coveureririrererieee et 96,835 344 47 88,278 177 27
ShOrt-term DOMTOWINGS .......ceirieirerieeirie e 11,517 61 71 14,861 35 .30
Long-term debt .........cooveeeneniecrnirenieenns . 35,103 613 2.33 31,036 524 2.26
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ..o 143,455 1,018 .95 134,175 736 .73
Tax liabilities and OthEr .......c.ciucureecierc e 814 12 1.97 718 10 1.88
Total interest bearing liabilities............. . $ 144269 $ 1,030 95% $ 134,893 $ 746 74%
Net interest income/INterest rate SPread ..........vceeveeeeeveeeeesisseesessee s $ 1,897 1.06% $ 1,858 1.16%
NONINtErest DEAING QEPOSILS.........c.oreveerseeeeeeseeereesesee e ssessee e sesseeesenes 742 — - 31907 —
Other lighilities.........cccccunne. . 10,897 12,371
Total sharehOlders’ EUILY.........cerirerueerriee et 21,031 19,709
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity..........cocceeeevcereeeeeeececeeeeeee e m m
Net interest margin on average earning assets. . 1.30% 1.35%
Net interest income to average total aSSELS.........coveerereeririrenesereeseseee e T 122% T 125%
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item isincluded within Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk Management” and "Market Risk
Management".

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
ExchangeAct of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported on atimely basis. Our
Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors,
provides oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by thisreport. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by thisreport so asto alert themin atimely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There hasbeen no changein our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2016 that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

SeeNote 20, “Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in theaccompanying consolidated financial statementsfor our legal proceedings
disclosure, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
i ssuer registered with the SEC to discloseinitsannual or quarterly reportswhether it or any of itsaffiliateshave knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entitiestargeted by U.S. sanctions programsrelating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliatesin compliance with local laws and regulations.

To comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered
by this Form 10-Q, HSBC USA Inc. did not engage in any activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r)
other than those activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described
under “Frozen Accounts and Transactions’ below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response
to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Financedivision of the HSBC Group arranged or participated
in aportfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these |oans were guaranteed by European and Asian export
credit agencies and have varied maturity dates with final maturity in 2018. For those loans that remain outstanding, the HSBC
Group continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies. Details of these
loans follow.

At September 30, 2016, the HSBC Group had 5 loans outstanding to an Iranian petrochemical company. Theseloans are supported
by the official export credit agencies of the following countries: the United Kingdom, South Korea and Japan. The HSBC Group
continues to seek repayments from the Iranian company under the outstanding loans in accordance with their original maturity
profiles.

Two loans to the same company which were supported by the German and South Korean Export Credit Agencies matured during
the third quarter of 2016 following receipt of the final repayments.
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Estimated gross revenue to the HSBC Group generated by the loans in repayment for the third quarter of 2016, which includes
interest and fees, was approximately $112,000, and net estimated profit was approximately $111,000. While the HSBC Group
intends to continue to seek repayment under the existing loans, all of which were entered into before the petrochemical sector of
Iran became atarget of U.S. sanctions, it does not currently intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guaranteesto anumber
of its non-lranian customersin Europe and the Middle East for various business activitiesin Iran. In anumber of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Melli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

There was no measurable gross revenue in the third quarter of 2016 under those guarantees and counter indemnities. The HSBC
Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The
HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and counter indemnities and does not currently intend to provide any
new guarantees or counter indemnities involving Iran. None were canceled in the third quarter of 2016 and approximately 20
remain outstanding.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S.-sanctioned I ranian banks not covered el sewherein thisdisclosure
includes the following:

* TheHSBC Groupmaintainssevera frozenaccountsintheUnited Kingdomfor anIranian-owned, U.K.-regulated financial
institution. Transactions relating to these accounts have been carried out under U.K. government license (or, particularly
following Implementation Day under the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action relating to the Iranian nuclear program,
aregenerally permissibleunder applicablelaw). Estimated grossrevenueinthethird quarter of 2016 for thesetransactions,
which includes fees and/or commissions, was approximately $32,700.

*  TheHSBC Group actsasthetrusteeand administrator for apension schemeinvolving fiveemployeesof aU.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong, one of whom joined the scheme during the third quarter of 2016. Under the rules of this
scheme, the HSBC Group accepts contributionsfrom the I ranian bank each month and all ocatesthe fundsinto the pension
accounts of the Iranian bank’s employees. The HSBC Group runs and operates this pension scheme in accordance with
Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue, which includes fees and/or commissions, generated by this
pension scheme in the third quarter of 2016 was approximately $2,340.

For thelranian bank rel ated-activity discussed inthissection, the HSBC Group doesnot all ocatedirect coststo feesand commissions
and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The HSBC Group currently intends to continue to wind down this
activity, to the extent legally permissible, and not enter into any new such activity.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 The HSBC Group maintained a credit card account for an individual sanctioned
under U.S. Executive Order 13224 during the third quarter of 2016. The credit card hasnow been canceled. During the third quarter
of 2016, the credit card was used for one minor debit transaction, and the HSBC Group received a payment relative to the credit
card.

For activity related to U. S. Executive Order 13224, there was no measurable gross revenue or net profit generated to the HSBC
Group in the third quarter of 2016.

Other activity The HSBC Group held alease of branch premises in London which it entered into in 2005 and was due to expire
in 2010. The landlord of the premises is owned by the Iranian government. The HSBC Group exercised the break clause in the
lease and exited the property during 2015. During the third quarter of 2016, the HSBC Group paid all outstanding rent and service
charges to the landlord, and also made a payment to athird party company that dealt with refurbishment to the property.

For the activity in this section, there was no measurable gross revenue or net profit to HSBC in the third quarter of 2016.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA (a subsidiary of HUSI) maintain several accounts
that are frozen under relevant sanctions programs and on which no activity, except aslicensed or otherwise authorized, took place
during the third quarter of 2016. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA
in the third quarter of 2016 relating to these frozen accounts.
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Item 6. Exhibits
3(i)  Articlesof Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3
(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3 to
HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits 3.2
and 3.3to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 31, 2016).
3(ii) Bylawsof HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 2, 2016).
12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred
Stock Dividends.
31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101LINS XBRL Instance Document™®
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document”
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document™
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document®
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document®
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document™®

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2016, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, (iv) the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

139



HSBC USA Inc.

Index
Assets: Executive overview 82
by business segment 47 Fair value measurements:
consolidated average balances 135 assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis 71
fair value measurements 60 assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on arecurring basis 62
nonperforming 18, 23, 25, 117 control over valuation process 125
trading 10, 89 financial instruments 60
Asset-backed commercia paper conduits 51 hierarchy 58, 125
Asset-backed securities 11, 62, 74, 127 transfersinto/out of level oneand two 64
Balance sheet: transfersinto/out of level two and three 64
consolidated 5 valuation techniques 68
consolidated average balances 135 Fiduciary risk 128, 134
review 86 Financial assets:
Basel 111 49, 120, 122, 131 designated at fair value 39
Basis of reporting 85 reclassification under IFRSs 47, 85
Business: Financial highlights metrics 82
consolidated performance review 82 Financial liabilities:
Capital: designated at fair value 39
2016 funding strategy 123 fair value of financial liabilities 60
common equity movements 121 Forward looking statements 80
consolidated statement of changes 7 Funding 123
regulatory capital 48 Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives 40
selected capital ratios 49, 82, 121, 131 Gains (losses) from securities 3, 15
Cash flow (consolidated) 8 Geographic concentration of loans 119
Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements 80 Global Banking and Markets 47, 106
Collateral — pledged assets 56 Goodwill 5, 30
Collateralized debt obligations 74, 127 Guarantee arrangements 52
Commercial banking segment results (IFRSs) 47, 105 Impairment:
Compliancerisk 128, 134 available-for-sale securities 14
Controls and procedures 137 credit losses 26, 94
Credit card fees 96 impaired loans 19, 22
Credit quality 111 nonperforming loans 18, 23, 25, 117
Credit risk: Income (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value, net 40
adjustment 58 Income tax expenses 3, 102
component of fair value option 39 Intangible assets 5, 29
concentration 25, 118 Interest rate risk 128, 130
exposure 128 Interna control 137
management 127, 128 Key performance indicators 82
related arrangements 52 Legal proceedings 137
related contingent features 36 Liabilities:
Deposits 90, 121 commitments, lines of credit 53, 124
Derivatives: deposits 90, 121
cash flow hedges 34 financial liabilities designated at fair value 39
fair value hedges 33 liquidity and capital resources 120
notional value 37 long-term debt 43, 60, 90, 121
trading and other 35 short-term borrowings 43, 60, 90, 120
Economic environment 82 trading 10, 89
Equity: Liquidity risk 128, 129
consolidated statement of changes 7 Litigation and regulatory matters 76
ratios 49, 82, 121, 131 Loans:
Equity securities available-for-sale 11 by category 16, 87
Estimates and assumptions 9 by charge-off (net) 26, 116
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by delinquency 24, 115
criticized assets 23
geographic concentration 119
held for sale 28, 88
impaired 19
nonperforming 18, 23, 25, 117
overal review 87
risk concentration 25, 118
troubled debt restructures 19
Loan impairment charges — see Provision for credit losses
Loan-to-depositsratio 83
Loantovaue (LTV) 87
Market risk 128, 131
Market turmoil:
exposures 131
impact on liquidity risk 129
Monolineinsurers 14, 126
Mortgage lending products 16, 87
Mortgage servicing rights 29, 30
Net interest income 92
New accounting pronouncements 77
Off balance sheet arrangements 124
Operating expenses 101
Operationa risk 128, 134
Other assets held for sale 30
Other revenue 96
Other segment results (IFRSs) 47, 110
Pension and other postretirement benefits 42
Performance, developments and trends 82
Pledged assets 56
Private banking segment results (IFRSs) 47, 109
Profit (loss) before tax:
by segment — IFRSs 47
consolidated 3
Provision for credit losses 26, 94
Ratios:
capital 49, 82,121, 131
charge-off (net) 82,113, 116
credit lossreserve related 113
delinquency 24, 83, 115
earnings to fixed charges — Exhibit 12
efficiency 82, 101
Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP resultsto IFRSs 85
Refreshed loan-to-value 87
Regulation 120, 137
Related party transactions 43
Reputational risk 128, 134
Residential Mortgage Revenue 96, 99
Results of Operations 92

Retail banking and wealth management segment results (IFRSs) 47, 103
Risk elementsin the loan portfolio 118
Risk management:
compliance 128, 134
credit 127,128
fiduciary 128, 134
interest rate 128, 130
liquidity 128, 129
market 128, 131
model 128, 134
operational 128, 134
pension 128, 134
reputational 128, 134
security and fraud risk 128, 134
strategic 128, 134
Securities:
amortized cost 11
fair value 11
impairment 14
maturity analysis 15
Segment results - IFRSs basis:
commercial banking 47, 105
global banking and markets 47, 106
other 47,110
overal summary 47, 103
private banking 47, 109
retail banking and wealth management 47, 103
Selected financial data 82
Sensitivity:
projected net interest income 130
Statement of changes in comprehensiveincome 4
Statement of changes in shareholders' equity 7
Statement of income 3
Strategic risk 128, 134
Stresstesting 122
Table of contents 2
Tax expense 3, 102
Trading:
assets 10, 89
derivatives 10, 89
liabilities 10, 89
portfolios 10, 89
Trading revenue (net) 97
Troubled debt restructures 19
Valueat risk 131
Variableinterest entities 50
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 7, 2016

HSBC USA INC.

By: /s MARK A.ZAESKE
Mark A. Zaeske
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financia Officer
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Exhibit Index

3(i) Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3
to HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits
3.2 and 3.3to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC
USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005, Exhibit 3.2to HSBC USA Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed May 31, 2016).

3(ii) Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 28, 2016 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 2, 2016).

12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and
Preferred Stock Dividends.

31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document™®

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document”
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document™®
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document™®

@ pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2016, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, (iv) the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HSBC USA INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2016 2015

(dollars are in millions)
Ratios excluding interest on deposits:

Income from CONtiNUING OPEraLiONS........c.ceiiieirieiriee sttt $ 166 $ 455
[NCOME LTBX EXPEINSE. ... e ceeireeueisreere e sre e e sre s e e s s s e s s e e e s s e e ere e e e smeesnesmnesreeneesreenesreenenre e nenneenes 100 285
Fixed charges:
Interest on:
ShOrt-termM DOMTOWINGS .....ccveieeee et e e ene 61 35
LONG-EIMN AEDL. .....ceeeceecece bbb e 613 524
(@11 £ TSSO ST RSO PE U OTR PR 12 10
Onethird of rents, net of income from SUDIEASES ..........cceererercir e 19 22
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dePOSIES.........coveerreirieirieiererererese e 705 591
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges.........cccooevvvinneveiencenene $ 971 $ 1,331
Ratio of earnings to fiXed ChargES........coeiiiiiieieree et 1.38 2.25
Preferred StOCK GiVIENAS™...........rrvveererreeessseessesss s $ 45 $ 81
Fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends............ccoveereeiiineineineseseeseee e $ 750 $ 672
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends..........ccccooevvivnennienne 1.29 1.98

Ratios including interest on deposits:

Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0N dePOSItS.........covereirieirierinerreres e $ 705 $ 591
Add: INLErESt ON AEPOSITS .....cveverieetieet ettt 344 177
Total fixed charges, including interest 0N dePOSItS.........cuoveireireirere e $ 1,049 $ 768
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges...........coovevnenniencennne $ 971 $ 1,331
Add: INLErESt ON AEPOSITS .....cviveiiiriiieterete et seenes 344 177
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, including interest on
01 o0 1S ) =SOSR $ 1315 $ 1,508
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest on deposits..........cccvvvevenerennereercieneae 1.25 1.96
Fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends...........coveereinineneseeeee e $ 750 $ 672
Add: INtEreSt ON AEPOSITS ....cveieeieiieiee ettt se e e e eneenes 344 177
Fixed charges, including interest on deposits and the preferred stock dividend factor .............. $ 1,094 $ 849
Ratio of earningsto fixed charges, including interest on deposits and preferred stock
IVIGENAS. ...ttt b bbb bt e bbbt se bbbt e s 1.20 1.78

@ preferred stock dividends are grossed up to their pretax equivalents.



EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financia statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure control s and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2016

/9 PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Mark A. Zaeske, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financia reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financia reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the eff ectiveness of the disclosure controlsand procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materialy affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financia reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financia reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknessesin the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2016

/s MARK A.ZAESKE

Mark A. Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2016 asfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: November 7, 2016

/s PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2016 asfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Mark A. Zaeske, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: November 7, 2016

/9 MARK A. ZAESKE

Mark A. Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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